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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

BDO Limited
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Financial Summary

B 15 1 2

(Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (AUDITED)

Year ended December 31

BOHREWER (

KREZ)

BE+_H=1—HIFE

(FFESBEHNARB T TAEN)

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
“E-ERF ZE--F ZE--F ZE-=-% ZB-NF
Revenue B 572471 1017835 1,431,294 1,035,983 897,537
Finance costs, net HRER  FE (810,611)  (785,114)  (596,488)  (383,500)  (394,782)
(Loss)profit before tax REERE (BE)/FE (1308722  (238425) 2506503  (73,708)  (270,828)
Income tax expense FiEHER (42,591) (99,936)  (127,713) (83822)  (58,132)
(Loss}/profit for the year AE(BR)/FE (1,351,313)  (338,361) 2378790  (157,530)  (328,960)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL OB R (BEZX)
POSITION (AUDITED)
As at December 31 R+=—A=+—H
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
TE-FE —FE--F —E--F —E--FE ZFE-_QNE
Current assets THEE 167,199 245,293 296,365 209,434 213,415
Assets of disposal group classified RERENRESR
as held for sale MEE - 350356 415,889 - -
Property,plant and equipment THE  THRRE 1079358 1573534 1575516 1338914 951,943
Right-of-use assets FREEE 12,504 6,215 5,599 7,654 4,521
Intangible assets B AE 58,582 54,121 42,459 33,057 22,257
Deferred income tax assets Liﬁﬂﬂ% BE 816 - - - =
Financial assets at fair value through URAREBEFEAHE
other comprehensive income SAHMES R
PREE 7,841 15,498 8,183 13,539 13,782
Prepayments, deposits and BfH RESR
other receivables Hip U 361,030 1,847 982 322 126
Restricted cash REHEE 4,002 17,831 87,171 123,406 176,149
Total assets BEBH 1,691,332 2,264,695 2432164 1,726,326 1,382,193
Current liabilities mEEE 5058590 5720451 17230233 631220 435,612
Liabilities of disposal group classified RERENREEANAE
as held for sale - 1,854 17,7112 - -
Non-current liabilities FRBHERE 404,873 515095 2,904,443 2,997,605 3,216,406
Total liabilities BELE 5463463 6,237,400 4,152,388 3,628,825 3,652,018
Equity i (3,772,131)  (3,972,705) (1,720,224)  (1,902,499) (2,269,825)
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Operating Summary
= IERME

Year ended December 31

BE+t-R=t-HLEE

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
TR T ZT--F T ZBCMNE
Properties Held by Subsidiaries WEARMGER
Sales volume HE
Crude oil (millions of barrels) R (BEH) 213 245 o 186 1.58
China oilfields el 2.13 2.45 2.27 186 158
Gas (MMscf) AAR (BBEEYFER) 1.88 217 308 6.75 _
China oilfields HEH A 188 217 308 6.75 _
Net annual production volume REEE
Crude oil (millions of barrels) Rl (BER) 218 248 229 1.92 158
China oilfields e B 218 248 229 1.92 1.58
Gas (MMscf) AAR (BEEEYFRR) 1.88 217 3.08 6.75 -
China oilfields i e 1.88 2.17 3.08 6.75 -
Average daily net crude oil BYYRFRAERE
production
Crude oil (barrels) Rk (1) 5,944 6,799 6,279 5,259 4,323
China oiffields RELH A 5,944 6,799 6,279 5,259 4,323
Gas (MMscf) AAR (BBEEYFHR) 0.01 001 001 0.02 -
China oilfields e B 0.01 001 001 002 _
Average realized price FHERER
Crude oil (US$ per barrel of crude oil) Bl (Ex,/SH®EH) 38.60 64.06 93.97 78.89 79.75
China oilfields B e A 38.60 64.06 93.97 78.89 79.75
Gas (US$ per Mscf) AR (En/TEE
YHFER) 6.20 6.63 6.32 5.79 -
China oilfields B e A 6.20 6.63 6.32 .79 -
Lifting costs (US$ per barrel of crude ~ HARA (27,51
oil) (Note) ) (frit) 9.88 1227 13.16 13.28 1656
China oilfields B e A 9.88 12.27 13.16 13.28 16.56
Cash net-hack (US$ per barrel of BEFEE (Ex/
crude oil) SREH)
China oilfields B e A 27.28 49.59 70.40 60.70 58.38
Wells drilled during the year (Gross) FREHY (EE) 29 154 85 22 =
China oilfields I E 29 154 85 22 =
Successful KINER 29 154 85 22 =
Dry Es - - - - -
Note:  Lifting cost includes directly controllable costs to produce a barrel of Hiet - BOBRAKARBIEEE —RAR2 B EGIK

oil. Other production costs such as safety fee, environment expenses,
technical & research expenses and overhead have not been included
above since they are not directly attributable to the production of a

barrel of oil.

Ko HMAERANMZ2E  RIBEM - Bl
EMRASAREREMELTNBEENA -
REARZERALIFE—HOHNBEERA o
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Operating Summary (Continued)
ZIBEME (&

As at December 31

R+=A=1+-8H
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
“E-%F —T--% ZE-C"F —Z-=F ZB-NF

Crude Oil Reserves Fh#E (TH#)
(thousands of barrels)

Subsidiaries WEBAAFBEE

Total proved FRNBLE 8911 8,980 6,297 5,033 3,563
China oilfields B 8,911 8,980 6,297 5,033 3,563
Total proved+probable RAEMEREAR 15,951 14,917 11,005 9,024 5,417
China oilfields B e 15,951 14,917 11,005 9,024 5,417
Total proved+probable+possible K HERTHFHEASR 19,864 17,374 14,251 11,749 8,016
China oilfields B e 19,864 17,374 14,251 11,749 8,016

Equity-accounted entities (VIE share) ~ BEHZAKHERFEEE

(FEFELST)
Total proved RYRERE 5,700 5,590 6,310 - =
Kazakhstan oilfields Mo 7 AE A A 5,700 5,590 6,310 - =
Total proved+probable RY HERELE 19,960 17,670 17,410 - =
Kazakhstan oilfields Mo 7 AE A A 19,960 17,670 17,410 - =
Total proved+probable+possible R HERTHFHEASR 33,360 29,150 27,150 - =
Kazakhstan oilfields W 7 AE A A 33,360 29,150 27,150 - =
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Operating Summary (Continued)

=EME (B

As at December 31
RT=A=1+-8H
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
“Z-%F —T-—% ZE-C"F —Z-=F ZZ_NF
I
Gas Reserves (MMscf) ARRHE
(ABEEYAHR)
Equity-accounted entities (MIE share) ~ ZR#ZAKNERHEE
(FEBELST)
Total proved FRRELE 8,010 9,230 11,780 - =
Kazakhstan oilfields PRTE 2 HTIE R A 8,010 9,230 11,780 - =
Total proved+probable R BEREAR 30,490 28,040 31,740 - =
Kazakhstan oilfields PRTE 2 HTIE R A 30,490 28,040 31,740 - =
Total proved+probable+possible - BERTHEFREASE 47,840 43,700 47,700 - =
Kazakhstan oilfields PRTE 2 HTIE R A 47,840 43,700 47,700 - =
NGL Reserves (thousands of barrels) ~ NGL#E (T18)
Equity-accounted entities (MIE share) ~ BEZAKHERFHEE
(FEFELST)
Total proved FRRELH 310 320 480 - -
Kazakhstan oilfields RiE R AR h A 310 320 480 - =
Total proved+probable R BERELHE 1,460 1,280 1510 - -
Kazakhstan oilfields R HATE A A 1,460 1,280 1,510 - =
Total proved+probable+possible R HERTHFHEAR 2,540 2,200 2,490 - =
Kazakhstan oilfields RiE R AR h A 2,540 2,200 2,490 - =

MIEERIERER AT / 2024 F 3k
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Chairman’s Statement
TEREE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board of Directors”) of
MIE Holdings Corporation (“MIE" or the “Company”, together
with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), | hereby present the annual
report of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2024.

The Group signed a modification and supplemental agreement
of the petroleum development and production contract for Daan
Oilfield ("Supplemental PSC”) on June 4, 2020, conditionally
extending the production period to February 29, 2028. As at
December 31, 2022, the Group has completed the drilling of
the 268 new wells and satisfied the conditions several months
ahead of the deadline contemplated in the Supplemental PSC.
On February 24, 2023, the Group obtained approval from China
National Petroleum Corporation extending the expiry date of
Daan PSC from December 31, 2024 to February 29, 2028.

In 2024, the Group focused on the low decline Daan Oilfield
and prioritized the work plan for oil well optimization, old well
production stabilization and lower production decline to create
more operating cash flow for the Group. In 2024, the lifting
cost of the Daan Qilfield was US$16.56 per barrel, and the
overall production decline was maintained at a relatively low
rate of 10.6%, which was at a leading level compared with the
same low-permeability oilfields in China, reflecting the Group's
top operation and management capability for oilfield projects
in China. As at December 31, 2024, Daan Qilfield achieved
a total output value of RMB42.0 billion, which is a milestone
achievement that demonstrated the resilience and vitality of
the Group, while creating social and economic benefits for the
government and partners.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

FEREE(E)

Regarding the operating performance of the Group in 2024, the
Group ceased consolidating results relating to Moliging Qilfield
in 2024 as it had been disposed in 2023. The Group’s gross oil
production of Daan Oilfield decreased by 10.5% to about 3.34
million barrels compared to that of 3.73 million barrels in 2023.
The net oil production of Daan Oilfield decreased by 13.7%
to about 1.58 million barrels compared to that of 1.83 million
barrels in 2023. In 2024, the revenue from the PRC segment
decreased by 13.4% to RMB897.5 million compared to 2023,
which was mainly due to the decrease of net sales of crude
oil of Daan Qilfield, which was mainly due to the decrease of
net sales of crude oil from Daan Oilfield and disposition of the
Moliging Oilfield. The Group’s EBITDA from the PRC segment
decreased by RMB200.5 million to RMB531.1 million from
RMB731.6 million in 2023 and the adjusted EBITDA decreased
by RMB138.0 million to RMB611.5 million.

On October 28, 2021, the Group entered into a restructuring
support agreement (“RSA”) with certain holders of 2022
Senior Notes and creditors of existing loans to support the
Debt Restructuring Plans of the Group. The Debt Restructuring
Plans comprise restructuring of then existing Notes and loans,
inter- conditional upon the effectiveness of each individual
restructuring. On March 30, 2022, the Group announced that
the Debt Restructuring Plans successfully completed. The
senior notes with a contractual due date of April 12, 2022 (the
“2022 Senior Notes”) had been cancelled and the new notes
with a contractual due date of December 31, 2024 had been
issued (the "2024 Senior Notes") and subsequently extended
to February 29, 2028. The then existing loan agreements had
also been amended and restated in the form of new loan
agreements on March 30, 2022.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

TEHRESE(8)

Through the implementation of the above-mentioned Debt
Restructuring Plans and the disposals, the financial position
of the Group had been significantly improved. From the
restructuring effective date of March 30, 2022 to December 31,
2024, the Group has repaid and reduced the principal amount by
US$154.5 million, making a positive impact to the restructured
debt.

Entering 2025, with the challenging environment of volatile oil
prices, the Group will continue to focus on its core business,
promote safety and environmental protection, stable production
and efficiency improvement, and maximize the Group's
strategic value and returns.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my most sincere
gratitude to all of the Company's shareholders, management
team, dedicated staff, creditors, advisors and business partners
for your continued support and understanding as always.

Mr. Zhang Ruilin
Chairman
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Directors and Senior Management

EEZhEREEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Zhao Jiangwei, aged 53, has been an Executive Director and
the senior vice president of the Company since December
19, 2008. He is one of the controlling shareholders of the
Company. Mr. Zhao has over 32 years of experience in the oil
and gas industry. Following the takeover of the Company by
Far East Energy Limited (“FEEL") in August 2003, Mr. Zhao
joined the Company in September 2003 and has since been a
Director of the Company. He is and will continue to be primarily
responsible for overseeing the operations at oilfields in the
PRC. Mr. Zhao obtained a bachelor of arts degree from Daging
Petroleum College in 1999.

Lam Wai Tong, aged 44, has been an Executive Director
of the Company since April 4, 2022. Mr. Lam has extensive
experience in corporate finance, business management and
internal control. From February 2013 to May 2014, Mr. Lam was
the chief operating officer of Haohai Industry (Group) Limited,
a property developer in the PRC, where he was responsible
for overseeing its business operations in Hong Kong such
as mergers and acquisitions as well as human resources
management and internal control. From December 2014 to
August 2016, Mr. Lam joined True Eminent Development
(Holdings) Limited, a property developer in the PRC, as an
executive director and subsequently the chief executive officer
where he was responsible for providing oversight of the group’s
investment decision, internal control, corporate development,
direct investment and finance. From January 2017 to October
2021, Mr. Lam ran his own business to provide consultancy
services to both private and listed companies. Mr. Lam was
an executive director of CT Environmental Group Limited (a
company previously listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1363)) (“CTEG") from October 29,
2020 to April 18, 2021. Mr. Lam was also an executive director
and chief executive officer of Shunten International (Holdings)
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 932)) from May 6, 2022 to January 20,
2024. Mr. Lam graduated from the City University of Hong Kong
with a bachelor’'s degree in business administration (human
resources management) in August 2004. He also obtained a
master’s degree in finance from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in August 2009. He was admitted as a member of
the Institute of Public Accountants and Institute of Certified
Management Accountants (Australia) in March 2014 and July
2014, respectively.

HITES
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EEkERERE (&

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Zhang Ruilin, aged 54, has been a Non-executive Director
since February 25, 2023. Mr. Zhang was an Executive Director
of the Company from March 20, 2008 until his redesignation as
a Non-executive Director on February 25, 2023. Mr. Zhang has
been the Chairman of the Board and is primarily responsible
for overseeing the overall strategies and planning of the
Company. Mr. Zhang is one of the controlling shareholders of
the Company. Mr. Zhang has over 34 years of experience in the
oil and gas business. Following the takeover of the Company
by FEEL in August 2003, Mr. Zhang joined the Company in
September 2003 and has been a Director of the Company since
then.

Guan Hongjun, aged 42, has been a Non-executive Director of
the Company since October 28, 2021 and resigned with effect
from August 14, 2024. He has worked in the financial industry
for years and possesses extensive experience in the fields of
audit and assets preservation. Mr. Guan is currently a managing
director of the asset management department three of a Hong
Kong subsidiary of China CITIC Financial Asset Management
Co., Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 2799)). Mr. Guan graduated from the
People’s Public Security University of China with a bachelor’s
degree in law in 2007.

Han Ye, aged 41, has been a Non-executive Director of the
Company since August 14, 2024. Mr. Han possesses extensive
experience in the field of investment and asset preservation.
He is currently a managing director of the asset management
department of China CITIC Financial Asset International
Holdings Limited, a subsidiary of China CITIC Financial Asset
Management Co., Ltd (a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (Stock code: 2799)). Mr. Han graduated
from Southeast University in China with a Bachelor's degree
in Software Engineering. He also holds a Master’s degree in
Operations Research and Business Statistics from the School
of Science of Hong Kong Baptist University, and an MBA in
Finance from the Chinese University of Hong Kong.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EEhESREEE(B)

Gao Yan, aged 38, has been a Non-executive Director of the
Company since May 26, 2022 and resigned with effect from
October 23, 2024. Ms. Gao, has extensive experience in the
financial industry and is familiar with, among others, the fields
of financial management, credit and investment. She joined the
China Huarong in 2013 and has worked in different positions
within the group since then. She is currently the executive
director of the assets management department four of a Hong
Kong subsidiary of China CITIC Financial Asset Management
Co., Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 2799)).

Yan Ruibing, aged 36, has been a Non-executive Director
of the Company since October 23, 2024. Mr. Yan possesses
extensive experience in the field of investment and asset
preservation. He is currently an associate director of the asset
management department of China CITIC Financial Assets
International Holdings Limited, a subsidiary of China CITIC
Financial Asset Management Co., Ltd (a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock code: 2799)). Mr. Yan
graduated from Lancaster University in United Kingdom with a
Bachelor's degree in Accounting and Finance. He also holds a
Master's degree in Banking and International Finance from the
Bayes Business School, City, University of London.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mei Jianping, aged 64, has been our Independent Non-
executive Director since November 27, 2010. Mr. Mei has been
a professor of finance at Cheung Kong Graduate School of
Business in Beijing, China since 2006 and a fellow at Financial
Institutions Center, the Wharton School of University of
Pennsylvania since 2004. He was a tenured associate professor
of finance from 1996 to 2005 and an assistant professor of
finance from 1990 to 1995 at New York University. From 2003
to 2008, he also taught at Tsinghua University as a special term
professor of finance. Mr. Mei has been a director of Cratings.
com Inc., USA since 1999. Since June 2008, Mr. Mei has
served on the board of Powerlong Real Estate Holdings Limited
(a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1238)). From July 2014 to May 2022, Mr. Mei
has served as an independent non-executive director of China
Rundong Auto Group Limited (a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1365)). Mr. Mei
has served as an independent director of Cultural Investment
Holdings Co., Ltd. (stock code: 600715) from December 2015 to
December 2020, Dishu Fashion Co., Ltd. (stock code: 603587)
from December 2018 to December 2021 and Shentong Subway
Ltd. (stock code: 600834) since October 2020 (all listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange). Mr. Mei worked as a consultant
for various financial institutions, such as Deutsche Bank, UBS,
Prudential Insurance of America and Asia Development Bank.
Mr. Mei has published a number of books and articles on
topics related to finance. Mr. Mei received a bachelor’'s degree
in Mathematics from Fudan University in 1982, a master’s
degree in Economics and a Ph.D. in Economics (Finance) from
Princeton University in 1988 and 1990, respectively.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
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Liu Ying Shun, aged 42, has been our Independent Non-
executive Director since August 31, 2021. He has more than
19 years of experience in the field of audit and assurance. He
founded Zhong Pu Risk Management Ltd. (“Zhong Pu”), a
company which provides business advisory, consultancy and
taxation services for clients ranging from private entities to
listed companies in Hong Kong, in 2017 and has been serving
as a director at Zhong Pu since then. Since 2019, Mr. Liu
has also been serving as the company secretary of Polyfair
Holdings Limited (a company listed on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8532)). Prior to founding Zhong Pu, Mr.
Liu worked as an assurance manager and senior associate
at PricewaterhouseCoopers from 2014 to 2016 and 2010 to
2012, respectively, a finance manager at Wong’'s Kong King
International (Holdings) Limited (a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 532)) from 2012
to 2013, and also at Shu Lun Pan Horwath Hong Kong CPA
Limited (an accounting firm which has since merged into BDO
Limited) from 2006 to 2009, with his last position as a senior
associate. Mr. Liu has been an independent non-executive
director of Shunten International (Holdings) Limited (a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
932)) since July 2022. Mr. Liu obtained a Bachelor of Business
Administration from Lingnan University in Hong Kong in 2005
and has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA") since 2010.

BRIE 2% B_T_—FN\A=+—
HRELEERABBIIFENTES - BRE
FAREE S EEBEI9OFLR - —_T—+
F oRelPpPHERARBEEBR AR ([H
M) ZATRBBMABRE LTAA]
EEFRHUEBENR BERRNBERE -
WEURRPBEFES R — LT
BrRENEREELXERBERAF (—H
REERZXFTGEM LBy A A/ (AR AR5 -
8532) W R A ME - MBI T HAT - Bk
ER-ZZE—MFE_FT-RFRZTE-F
FEZZT—_FoRERERKESE
MEBAETCEICERESRYE K=
T — 5 - F—=FE T Wong's Kong
King International (Holdings) Limited (— f&
REEZFER ETH QR (RH R :
B32) M IS4  WHR TS RNFET
TENFREBIGEEEGTRIEBAAR
REl (KB ABTBLEERSHMER
FTAERARIM AN ERAT) TIF B2 &
BBRUSREME BAEE T _C

Tt ARETIERER (FER) BRAR (—
R ER EME AR RGO RIE:
92) MBI IFNITEFT - BARER_ZET
hFESEAEmMAZRIHERZE T84 -
WE-_Z-—TFEREAGHMAE([E

BEIMAE)EE -

MIEERIERER AT / 2024 F 3k

17



18

Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
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Yeung Yat Chuen, aged 42, has been our Independent
Non-executive Director since April 4, 2022. He has over
20 years of experience in corporate finance and listed
companies management. He has been an independent non-
executive Director of Hong Kong Chaoshang Group Limited
(a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:2322))
(*Chaoshang”) since December 2023, and the chief financial
officer of Changyou Alliance Group Limited (a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1039))
since November 2020. Prior to joining the Group, from May
2022 to September 2022, he has been an independent non-
executive director of Shunten International (Holdings) Limited
(a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:932))
("Shunteng”). Also from September 2022 to Jan 2024, he was
the chief operating officer of Shunten. Between June 2019 to
November 2020, he was the chief financial officer of a private
Hong Kong company where he was in charge of pre-IPO group
restructuring and fundraising. He was the financial controller of
Creation Chance Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Shunten
from December 2018 to June 2019, where he was mainly in
charge of monitoring financial and development of its Hong
Kong business. From September 2014 to August 2018, he was
the chief financial officer of PPS International (Holdings) Limited
(a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 8201)) (“PPS"), and was further appointed as an
executive director of PPS during the period from February 2018
to July 2018, where he was responsible for the diversification
of the group’s business and establishment of the PRC branch.
Mr. Yeung was an independent non-executive director of North
Mining Shares Company Limited (a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 433)) for the
period from July 2019 to June 2020. From November 2005 to
September 2014, Mr. Yeung was engaged by several corporate
finance companies including but not limited to Athens Capital
Limited, Optima Capital Limited, CLC International Limited,
Cinda International Capital Limited and Shenyin Wanguo
Capital (H.K.) Limited, where he was responsible for several
IPO projects and acted as the financial adviser, independent
financial adviser and compliance advisers to a large number of
listed companies. Mr. Yeung obtained a bachelor’ s degree in
mathematics from The Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
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Guo Yanjun, aged 72, has been an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company since November 13, 2015 and
resigned with effect from October 23, 2024. He has extensive
entrepreneurship experience and experience in corporate
operation and management. Mr. Guo graduated from Renmin
University of China with a Diploma in Law in 1984. Mr. Guo
is currently an independent non-executive director of Mei Ah
Entertainment Group Limited (a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock code: 391)). He is also
the chairman of CNHK Tech Co. Ltd, CNHK Media Limited,
CNHK Media (H.K.) Advertising Limited and CNHK Publications
Limited.

Peng Ping, aged 51, has been an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company since October 23, 2024. Ms. Peng
has worked in the media and e-commerce sector for years.
She was the co-founder of KNOWHOW Korea Co., Ltd., a
Korean e-commerce platform. From 2016 to 2019, she was
the founder and chief executive officer of Beijing Jiachang
Technology Company Limited. From 2003 to 2016, she was the
vice president of Focus Media (China) Holding Ltd. Ms. Peng
graduated from Hunan Normal University in with a Bachelor's
degree in Music. She also holds an executive Master's degree
in Business Administration from Cheung Kong Graduate School
of Business in China.

Ai Min, aged 62, has been our Independent Non-executive
Director since August 31, 2021. Mr. Ai has more than 33
years of experience in financial management, investment and
financing field. Mr. Ai has worked and held various finance and
management positions at China State Shipbuilding Corporation
("CSSC") since 1987, including management roles in the
well logging division of CSSC. Since 2015, he has served as
the deputy general manager of China Shipbuilding Capital
Ltd., mainly responsible for CSSC's overseas investment and
financing, and management of CSSC's international capital
operations, international equipment production capacity and
technical cooperation. Mr. Ai graduated from the School of
Economics and Management at the Beijing Union University
in the PRC, majoring in industrial accounting, with a bachelor’s
degree in economics, in 1987. Mr. Ai obtained his Senior Level
Accountant qualification in the PRC.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mei Liming, aged 44, is the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company. Mr. Mei joined the Group in January 2005, and has
since worked across various functions of the Group, including
as an accountant, finance manager, vice finance controller, chief
financial officer and vice president of corporate finance and
merger and acquisition, and served as an Executive Director of
the Company from November 2019 to June 2020. During his
career in the Group, Mr. Mei has gained a strong understanding
of the Company’s business and the oil and gas industry
through his years of service in different key positions of the
Group. Since joining the Group, he has also been involved in
all aspects of the capital market transactions of the Group,
including the Group's initial public offering on the main board
of the Stock Exchange, the Group’s senior notes offerings and
various acquisition transactions, gaining extensive knowledge
and experience in financial management and capital markets.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Mei worked as an accountant at
SONY Corporation in 2004. Mr. Mei graduated from the Beijing
Institute of Petrochemical Technology with a Bachelor of
Accounting in 2003.

Li Tiefeng, aged 44, is the Chief Financial Officer of the
Company. Mr. Li has over 21 years of experience in financial
management. Mr. Li joined the Group in July 2005 and has
since worked across various functions including as finance
manager and operational manager. Mr. Li gained extensive
knowledge and experience in the finance, tax and corporate
operational management in oil and gas industry while working
in the Group. Mr. Li graduated from University of Science and
Technology Beijing with a Bachelor of Accounting in 2005. He
obtained his Certified Public Accountant qualification in the
PRC.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
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Lian Yunfei, aged 49, is a vice president and general counsel of
the Group. Ms. Lian has over 21 years of experience in the legal
field. Prior to joining us, Ms. Lian worked as an associate at
Baker & McKenzie Hong Kong office between 2007 and 2009
focusing on mergers and acquisitions and general corporate
advice. Ms. Lian worked for the Company as general counsel
between November 2009 and January 2015. She re-joined
the Company in August 2017 until now. Ms. Lian obtained a
juris doctor degree from the Faculty of Law at the University
of British Columbia in 2007. She is admitted to practice law in
New York.

RELATIONSHIPS AMONG DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Save for Mr. Zhao Jiangwei, the senior vice president and
Executive Director of the Company, being the brother-in-law of
Mr. Zhang Ruilin, the Chairman and non-executive Director of
the Company, there are no other familial relationships between
any of our Directors and senior management.
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Corporate Governance Report

TERERRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board considers that good corporate governance standards
are essential in providing a framework for the Company to
safeguard shareholders’ interests, enhance corporate value and
accountability, formulate its business strategies and policies
and enhance transparency.

The Company's corporate governance practices are established
based on the code provisions (the “Code Provisions”) as
contained in Part 2 of the Corporate Governance Code (the
"CG Code"), as set out in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the "Listing
Rules™).

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company has
applied and complied with the applicable Code Provisions.

The Company shall review and improve its corporate
governance practices on a regular basis to ensure a continuous
compliance of such practices with the requirements of the CG
Code.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code")
set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as code of conduct
for securities transactions. Having made specific enquiry of
all the Directors, all the Directors confirmed that they have
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
and its code of conduct regarding securities transactions by
directors throughout the year ended December 31, 2024.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out
under the Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

The Board has reviewed the Company's corporate governance
policies and practices and made recommendations to the
Company regarding the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management, the
Company'’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, the Company’s compliance with the
Model Code, the code of conduct and compliance manual for
employees and Directors, and the Company’s compliance with
the CG Code as disclosed in this corporate governance report.

CORPORATE CULTURE AND STRATEGY

The Group is an upstream oil and gas company focused on the
exploration and development of oil and gas. We are committed
to improving the efficiency of oil and gas field exploration and
development and reducing production costs by optimizing
processes, improving efficiency, and optimizing costs. The
Group will adhere to the principle of “innovative development
and value creation”, closely follow the ever-changing market
conditions, continuously review business strategies, and
make necessary adjustments to promote the sustainable
development of the Group.

THE BOARD

As at April 11, 2025 ("Latest Practicable Date”, being the latest
practicable date for ascertaining information prior to the issue
of this annual report), the Board comprised ten members,
including two Executive Directors, three Non-executive
Directors and five Independent Non-executive Directors.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the Latest
Practicable Date, members of the Board are listed as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Zhao Jiangwei
Mr. Lam Wai Tong

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Zhang Ruilin (Chairman)
Mr. Guan Hongjun

(resigned with effect from August 14, 2024)
Mr. Han Ye

(appointed with effect from August 14, 2024)
Ms. Gao Yan

(resigned with effect from October 23, 2024)
Mr. Yan Ruibing

(appointed with effect from October 23, 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Mei Jianping
Mr. Liu Ying Shun
Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen
Mr. Guo Yanjun

(resigned with effect from October 23, 2024)
Ms. Peng Ping

(appointed with effect from October 23, 2024)
Mr. Ai Min

RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN BOARD MEMBERS

Saved as disclosed under section heading “DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT" on page 21 under this Annual Report,
to the best knowledge of the Company, none of the members
of the Board has any relationship, neither financial, business,
family nor other material/relevant relations, among each other.
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ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS AND
COMMITTEE MEMBERS

The details regarding Directors’ attendance of meetings held
by the Board and the Board Committees as well as the general
meetings during their tenure during the year ended December
31, 2024 are set out in the table below:

EERZEEHEHFEERNELHE

REFEECHALERE_T _IF
T-A=1T - BLFERTNEFTGTHE
EZREEEBENARARRAGHLES
NI

Attendance/Number of Meetings
L/ eRnH
Annual Extraordinary
Audit Nomination Remuneration General General

Board Committee Committee ~ Committee Meeting Meeting
(Note)
e e
EZe EZNZEE R¥ZEE EMZEE BEAE KRk
(W)
Executive Directors #1783
Mr. Zhao Jiangwei BIRLE o4 NAMER  NAMER  NATER 02 o
Mr. Lam Wai Tong WERLE o4 NAMER  NAMER  NATER 202 i
Non-executive Directors FUTES
Mr. Zhang Ruilin Famis 4 NATNER  NATER  NATER 112 o
Mr. Guan Hongjun BUELE 00 NATER  NAMER  NATER 02 NANER
(resigned with effect from August 14, 2024)  (R=Z-P%& )\ f+HAEE)
Mr. Han Ye e itd 2 NANER  NATER  NATER  NANER 0/
(appointed with effect from August 14, 2024)  (R=Z-IWE/ f+RHEZ(E)
Ms. Gao Yan Bant 00 NATER  NAMER  NANER 02 NAMER
(resigned with effect from October 23, 2024)  (R=Z-W&E+H-+=AE/L)
Mr. Yan Ruibing Bk E 2 NANER  NATER  NATER  NATER o
(appointed with effect from October 23, 2024)  (R=Z-IW&+H -1 =HEZ/)
Independent Non-executive Directors BukyiEs
Mr. Mei Jianping BETEE 44 5/ 33 0N 02 o
Mr. Liu Ying Shun R 44 55 NARER NATER 112 1
Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen BESEE 44 55 NATER NATER 112 1
Mr. Guo Yanjun IREEE 0N 44 33 0N 02  NATER
(resigned with effect from October 23, 2024)  (R=Z_IW&+H=+=HE/L)
Ms. Peng Ping (323’0 0 " NATER  NATER  NAMER on
(appointed with effect from October 23, 2024)  (R=Z -+ A=+ =HEZ/)
Mr. Ai Min UR%E 4l 56 33 22 22 N

Note: The 2022 Annual General Meeting was delayed to January 2024 while the
2023 Annual General Meeting was held during the year as scheduled, and
an Extraordinary General Meeting was held in December 2024.

et - —E - FRAFAFREHEEEREZ T _UF
—ARRA M-E-_=FEREAFASHOHL
REENBR YE-_Z-_WE+ - ARTR
RERIKE -
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During the year ended December 31, 2024, apart from regular
Board meetings, the Chairman also held meetings with Non-
executive Directors (including Independent Non-executive
Directors) without the presence of other Executive Directors.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The positions of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are
held by Mr. Zhang Ruilin and Mr. Mei Liming, respectively.
The Chairman provides leadership and is responsible for the
effective functioning of the Board. The Chief Executive Officer
focuses on the Company’s business development and daily
management and operations.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company
review the management’s performance in fulfilling established
corporate targets and principles. They should also ensure that
financial information is reported clearly and accurately, and the
risk management and internal control systems are implemented
effectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Board at all
times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to
the appointment of at least three Independent Non-executive
Directors (representing at least one-third of the Board) with one
of whom possessing appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Independent Non-executive Directors assume no
management responsibilities in the Company, and hold no more
than (either legally, beneficially or deemed) 1% of the total
issued share capital of the Company; nor have they acquired
any interest in securities of the Company either by gift or other
methods; hence their independence is strongly guaranteed. In
accordance with independent guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules, the Company considers all Independent Non-
executive Directors to be independent.
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Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company are
involved in communications with the auditors, which fully
exhibits the role of independent supervision. During the
reporting period, no objections regarding the proposals of the
Board or Board Committees have been raised by Independent
Non-executive Directors.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Board comprises eight
non-executive Directors including independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Zhang Ruilin, Mr. Han Ye, Mr. Yan
Ruibing, Mr. Mei Jianping, Mr. Liu Ying Shun, Mr. Yeung Yat
Chuen, Ms. Peng Ping and Mr. Ai Min. We have entered into
letters of appointment with each of non-executive Directors,
pursuant to which each of the Non-executive Directors and
independent Non-executive Directors is appointed for terms of
two or three years, subject to re-election in accordance with our
Articles of Association at our general meeting.

Mr. Yan Ruibing and Ms. Peng Ping confirmed that both of
them had obtained the legal advice referred to in Rule 3.09D on
23 October 2024 and each of them understood their obligations
as a Director of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ RE-ELECTION

The appointment and re-election of all Directors of the Company
for the year ended December 31, 2024 was in compliance
with the CG Code and the Company’s Articles of Association.
In accordance with the Code Provision B.2.2, every Director,
including those appointed for a specific term, should be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Under
the Articles of Association of the Company, at each annual
general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being,
or if their number is not three of a multiple of three, the number
nearest to but not less than one-third shall retire from office
by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Also,
under the Articles of Association of the Company, any Director
appointed either by the board or in a general meeting by
ordinary resolution to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to
the Board shall hold office only until the next following annual
general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for
re-election at that meeting.
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RESPONSIBILITIES, ACCOUNTABILITIES
AND CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE BOARD AND
MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for leading and supervising the
businesses, strategic policies and performance of the Company,
as well as being collectively responsible for facilitating the
successful development of the Company by detecting and
supervising the Company’s affairs. The Board makes objective
decisions in the interest.

The Board has delegated to the Chief Executive Officer and
delegated through him to senior management the authority
and responsibility for carrying out the Company’s day-to-
day management and operation. The delegated duties and
responsibilities will be reviewed on a regular basis. The
aforementioned senior executives shall obtain the approval from
the Board prior to entering into any significant transactions.

In addition, the Board has established the Board Committees
and delegated responsibilities as set out in their respective
written terms of reference.

All Directors (including Non-executive Directors and
Independent Non-executive Directors) have brought a wide
spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge and
expertise to the Board, facilitating an efficient and effective
operation thereof. All Directors shall ensure that they will
perform their duties in good faith, comply with applicable laws
and regulations and act in the interests of the Company and
shareholders at all times.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant
information of the Company and the services and advice of the
company secretary, to ensure that procedures of the Board
and all applicable laws and regulations are complied with. Upon
request, Directors, may seek independent professional advice
when appropriate for discharging their duties to the Company,
at the Company's expense.
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Directors shall disclose to the Company details regarding
other offices held by them, and the Board shall review the
contribution required from each Director in performing his/her
duties to the Company on a regular basis.

The Board reserves the decision-making power over all
important issues, including the Company’s policy matters,
strategies and budget, internal controls and risk management,
significant transactions (especially those that may involve
conflict of interest), financial information, appointment
of Directors and other significant operational issues. The
responsibilities of the management are implementing decisions
made by the Board, directing and coordinating the Company’s
daily business.

In respect of legal actions against Directors and senior
management arising out of corporate activities, the Company
has made arrangements for appropriate insurance cover
Directors and executives regarding their duties.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF
DIRECTORS

Every newly appointed Director will obtain on-board induction
upon first occasion of his/her appointment, in order to ensure
appropriate understanding of the Company’s business and
operation and full awareness of the Directors’ duties in
accordance with the Listing Rules and related laws. The Director
shall keep abreast of the duties as a Director of the Company,
and the conduct, business activities and development of the
Company.

All Directors are continually updated on the legal and regulatory
regime as well as the business environment, so as to assist
in their performance of duties. The Company will make
arrangements when necessary and provide briefing and
professional development training to Directors.
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All Directors should participate in appropriate continuing
professional development for developing and updating their
own knowledge and skills, so as to ensure that they can remain
informed and continue to make contribution to the Board as
appropriate. The Company will arrange internal briefing sessions
for Directors and distribute reading material on relevant topics
where appropriate. The Company encourages all Directors to
attend related training courses at the Company’s expenses.

All Directors pursued continuous professional development
during the year and the relevant details are as follows:

FREFESAFEENFEIRER %
BRI EHE F BN e AEREESE
EEBE2EEARIGMENBERLTHE
EEHMEER - N2 A ERE R B A
REZFLHENGLRNESTHREBETE
ZHEME  ARABRBEREFLFEE
FAIEFIRIE - BRBARRN -

AEEMABESHELKEERER 8
AR T

Reading materials Training session on

on the relevant the relevant rules
rules and regulatory and regulatory
updates updates
Directors Ex MEERRAA BHERANEE
EEENNER EHMEIRE
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Zhao Jiangwei HIRETE v vV
Mr. Lam Wai Tong WERELE vV vV
Non-executive Directors HFHiTEFE
Mr. Zhang Ruilin RRREE v v
Mr. Guan Hongjun A E LT v v
(resigned with effect from August 14, 2024) (R=ZZE-[WENHA+MHA
BHE)
Mr. Han Ye BELE v v
(appointed with effect from August 14, 2024) (R=ZZE-[WENHA+MHA
BZF)
Ms. Gao Yan RERT Vv v
(resigned with effect from October 23, 2024) (R=F-—mE+H=+=4
BHE)
Mr. Yan Ruibing Bk E v v
(appointed with effect from October 23, 2024)  (R-ZE-WF+HA=-+=H
BZF)
Independent non-executive Directors BUINTEE
Mr. Mei Jianping 1BRFLE v v
Mr. Liu Ying Shun BHEIELE v v
Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen BERLE v v
Mr. Guo Yanjun PHELE vV v
(resigned with effect from October 23, 2024) (R=ZE-pF+H=+=H
BHE)
Ms. Peng Ping yELLT v v
(appointed with effect from October 23, 2024)  (R=ZE-NE+HA=-+=H
BZHF)
Mr. Ai Min UR%4E vV vV
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BOARD COMMITTEES

Three Committees have been established under the Board,
namely, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee, to supervise particular aspects
of the Company. All Board Committees of the Company are
established based on functions and powers set out in the
written terms of reference which are available on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange for shareholders’
reference.

A list of the chairman and members of each Board Committee
is set out under "Company Information” on page 2. All
members of the Board Committees are Independent Non-
executive Directors.

Board Committees are also equipped with sufficient resources
to perform their duties, and can seek independent professional
advices when appropriate (upon reasonable request) at the
Company's expense.

Pursuant to Code Provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the
remuneration of the members of the senior management (other
than Directors and Chief Executive Officer) by band for the year
ended December 31, 2024 is as follows:

ExZEE

ExgCRUSEEZES  AEKZES
FNZEBE NIRRT E S UEEARF
RENTEZER ARARMBAEZTERE
EUREMAT I BESLEKYL - AR
RESLE T B N AN B S B X2 P v (R A R

MEESZEENEYRBIIFNTES
EEFLZBENERANEREHNF?2
BZIREIER] -

EXZZEBeNARHNERBITRG  #H1F
HAEFERRE AIREEBRTSREL
HEXER  BRBARQBXMN-

RBEXEIATUZTARXFEENSGK
HE-_T-_MF+-_A=+—BFE &
HEOWNEREEEXNB (BEENEENR
TTEBRIN FHE T

Number of individuals

Emolument band N & E AE
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 # 7T to 2,000,000 7 7T 1
HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000 5,500,001 & JT to 6,000,000 /& JT 1

2
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Committees Audit Committee Remuneration Committee Nomination Committee
ZE8 EHZEE HHzES R#zEE
Chairman Independent Non-executive Director: Independent Non-executive Director: Independent Non-executive Director:
Mr. Liu Ying Shun Mr. Mei Jianping Mr. Mei Jianping
IR BUFHTES: BUFYTES: BUNTES
BRIELE BRI BRTEE
Composition All other members are Independent All other members are Independent All other members are Independent
Non-executive Directors: Non-executive Directors: Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen, Mr. Ai Min, Mr. Ai Min, Mr. Guo Yanjun Mr. Ai Min, Mr. Guo Yanjun
Mr. Mei Jianping, Mr. Guo Yanjun (resigned with effect from October 23, 2024), (resigned with effect from October 23, 2024),
(resigned with effect from October 23, 2024), and Ms. Peng Ping and Ms. Peng Ping
and Ms. Peng Ping (appointed with effect from October 23, 2024) (appointed with effect from October 23, 2024)
(appointed with effect from October 23, 2024)
ol REYRBUERITES: %“ﬂ%%j#ﬁ“§$i REOREIERITES:

Main responsibilities

IERE

Number of meetings held
in 2024 and summary
of work done

CECREERS
ERNHRAL
ZRNIE

BERAE NREL BRTEE DRELE I
(R-E-META-T=HEE)
RESRL (R-E-HE+/-+=REEE)

*  Review financial statements and reports
before they are submitted to the Board, and
consider any significant or unusual issues
raised by external auditor

o Review the relationship with the external
auditor by reference to the work performed
by the auditor, their fees and terms of
recommendations on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of external auditor
to the Board

*  Review the adequacy and efficiency of
the Company's financial reporting system,
internal control system, risk management
system and related procedures

. W§$@%§M%ﬁ§&¥%#% Wﬁﬁ
RREE  YERINEREMREL LA
AATEHER

o 2EIRBMNIE ZERRERGN B
AENEREMNER  LINEREE
R ENZERERMEZERMHEE

. $J$ ARBREHE  ABEEHER

RREEERAREFRE ﬁﬂﬁﬁ

Five meetings were held for reviewing of the
Group's financial performance and reports,
financial reporting and compliance procedures,
reviewing and reporting on the Company's
internal controls and risk management system and
procedures, work scope and further engagement
of external auditor, related party transactions

and arrangements focusing the staff on possible
inappropriate acts.

Biones. $ﬂ%ﬁ¥?&ﬁ¢ BBRRR
ARER  ARANBERREREEHENR
FL®E %Eﬁﬁﬁmlﬁﬁlﬁﬁﬁ$a
BEXHIREREBINEIETRLLS -

YRASE FHERE
(F,*:ﬂifﬁfffﬂﬁﬁf
DAL (R-F-RETA-TZHEER)

*  Review and determine on the remuneration
of Executive Directors and senior
management

o Review and make suggestions on the
remuneration of Non-executive Directors to
the Board

o Review and make suggestions on the
Company's remuneration policies and
structure of remuneration of all Directors and
senior management to the Board

o Review and make suggestions on the
appointment letter of Executive Directors
newly appointed during the year to the Board

o Assessing performance of Executive

Directors
o BRURTEHNESRERERENTH
8

. %%ﬁﬁ#ﬂhﬁ%ﬁ FHRESERE

%

¢ BRURALAUREEIRSREREN
EWRRRABmMERERIRE

¢ BEREANERGERNERRAESE
Ries

¢ FERAEZRR

Two meetings were held for the (a) review
of the Company's policy and structure for
all remunerations of Directors and senior
management of the Company; and (b)
consideration and determination on the
remunerations for all Directors and senior
management of the Company.

81208% SEGRIALAZREZRE
RERBLBHEMANARRAE  ROZRLE
EALALBESRAREERENFH -
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NRGE PRERE
(R=F=pWE+F-1=ZAFE) -
RESRL (R-F-WEFA-1+=AEZ)

o Review the structure, size and composition
of the Board, and make suggestions on any
changes

o Formulate, develop and review the Board
Diversity Policy and the measurable objectives
for implementing the policy

o Formulate, develop and review the policy
and relevant procedures for nomination and
appointment of Directors

o |dentify suitable candidates for appointment as
Directors

o Make suggestions on the appointment or re-
appointment of and succession planning for
Directors to the Board

o Assess the independence of Independent Non-
executive Directors

o RAFEGIRE ARRAN  UREMR
BRDRLES

o BUGFTRRAEFEMASTICHARE
ERRMWHSER

o BUBETRBARERZAEZZHARE
BiEr

o MEREZESAE

. ﬁ%%Z%&iEﬁ&%ff%ﬁ EZERH
B#

o TRBUEHTESZBUL

Three meetings were held. The Nomination
Committee reviewed structure of the board, the
qualification, experience, expertise and other factors
of directors of the Board.

B3NEF RLZRERIEFERE BN
AF 8% ERNARAMRE -
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted a Board Diversity Policy which
sets out the approach to achieve diversity of the Board. The
Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board level as
an essential element in maintaining the Company’s competitive
advantage.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination
Committee reviews regularly the structure, size and
composition of the Board and where appropriate, make
recommendations on changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy and to ensure that the Board
maintains a balanced diverse profile. In relation to reviewing and
assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
is committed to diversity at all levels and will consider a number
of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and regional and industry experience.

The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of
diversity perspectives that are relevant to the Company’s
business growth and is also committed to ensuring that
recruitment and selection practices at all levels (from the Board
downwards) are appropriately structured so that a diverse range
of candidates are considered.

The Nomination Committee and the Board considered that the
current composition of Board is sufficiently diverse and the
Board has not set any measurable objectives.

DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

The Nomination Committee has adopted a set of nomination
procedures for selection of candidates for directors by making a
reference to the skills, experience, expertise, personal conduct
and time commitments of individuals, the Company’s needs
and relevant laws and regulations. When necessary, external
recruitment professionals may be engaged to carry out the
selection process.

EEEHREZ TLEE

ARFRERMNEFTEXEZTMERE - &
BRIABREFTEXE S TTIEM T A
ARFRIRFALERESTEREZTTLMET
B URREFEEANZTLERAFA
AGFEINEEAE -

REEFEXEZTERR REHZEE
ERRNEZTSNRE  ABURMER - I
EEEBATHESENEHRLES
NEAEARRRIMERRE THRRESFE
REFENZTERR ERSMFEE
EEHENTH REZESERNESERE
HERZTI UKZEEZTERAZERE
ERRRMER - Fik XEMHAEE =
BEXEE BB ABEASMRMTITRLR o

NAEERFBEARRBIERMBERNZ T
EBHNEE VS TR BERSR
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DISCIPLINARY ACTION

Reference is made to the Statement of Disciplinary Action
published by the Stock Exchange dated March 4, 2025 (the
“Statement”) in relation to, among other things, a disciplinary
action against the Company and Mr. Zhang Ruilin for their
breaches of the Listing Rules. As directed by the Listing
Committee under the Statement, among other things, Mr.
Zhang Ruilin shall attend 21 hours of training on Listing Rules
compliance (“Training”). The Company will issue an update
announcement in relation to the completion of the Training as
and when appropriate.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge that they are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements of the Company for the
year ended December 31, 2024.

The Board is responsible for presenting balanced, clear and
concise annual reports and interim reports, announcements
on inside information and other disclosures as stipulated by
the Listing Rules as well as other statutory and regulatory
provisions.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Company's external auditor is BDO Limited, whose
responsibilities in respect of the Company’s consolidated
financial statements are set out in the Independent Auditor’s
Report on pages 108 to 116.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, remuneration paid
or payable to the Company’s auditor BDO Limited is set out
below:
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2024
—F-MF
RMB’000
ARBT T

Fo R

Audit service
Other audit service
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3,400
100

3,500
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for reviewing the effectiveness of
the overall risk management and internal control systems.
Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing
to take in achieving the Group’'s strategic objectives, and
establishing and maintaining appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems.

The Audit Committee assists the Board, from an independent
perspective, in supervising the management, and overseeing
the design,
management and internal control systems.

implementation and monitoring, of the risk

The Group has developed and adopted various risk
management procedures and guidelines with defined authority
for implementation by key business divisions and functions.
All divisions conduct internal control assessment regularly to
identify risks that potentially impact the business of the Group
and various aspects including key operational and financial
processes, regulatory compliance and information security. The
management of the Group, in coordination with division heads,
assess the likelihood of risk occurrence, provide treatment
plans, and monitor the risk management progress, and report to
the Audit Committee and the Board on the effectiveness of the
systems.

The internal audit function of the Group assesses and
monitors the effectiveness and adequacy of the Group's risk
management and internal control systems. It has unrestricted
access to the company records that allows it to review all
aspects of the Group's internal control and governance process.
The role of internal auditor function is required to report to the
Chief Executive Officer and may also contact with the Chairman
of the Audit Committee directly.
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WHISTLEBLOWING AND ANTI-CORRUPTION BERERREBEEK

POLICY

The Group has established a whistle-blowing policy to AREB D HIFERRWE > SHEIE T R EAM
encourage staff and other business related personnel to raise %75+ A 8 BLANE B (1 26 7] BE F £ B R
concern about possible improprieties within the Group without E{TAREBT U2 SFHEE - KEH
being persecuted. The Group adopts a zero-tolerance approach ~ ¥1BFES - 1R - MFEM A BB ST TE
to unethical behaviour such as bribery, extortion, fraud and ETAKNTEALAEE  WE KX B E K
money laundering and has an Anti-corruption Policy to facilitate % * MAREREBEEEE -

the healthy development of the Group.

MAJOR RISKS

FERE b

In 2024, the top 2 major market risks in relation to the Group's E’\f ENFE U TNEBREAEEER
business and operations are as below. ZHRBENMAEEMSRAR

Major market risks

FEWS AR

Risk description and risk response

[, P i 3t 2 E

Oil price risk

R B R

Currency risk

% Lk

\

N
Ay

Our realized oil price are determined with reference to oil price in the
international market, and changes in international oil price will have a significant
impact on us. Unstable and highly volatile international oil price may have a
significant impact on our revenue and profit. However, the Group avoided
the risk through setting up relevant personnel to continuously focus on the
fluctuations of crude oil price and report.

AEEBALHRNERERD2REE MG REEEET - BEERERHAEBHEEK
HEMELEEATE - BREFRABRNTRE LSKE T E AN E B WA N
MEKBAETE - XEERYL THBASRERITRAERIIKBIERIL MR -

The majority of the Group's China operation sales are in US dollars, while
production and other expenses in China are incurred in RMB. The RMB is not a
freely convertible currency and is regulated by the PRC government. Limitations
on foreign exchange transactions imposed by the PRC government could cause
future exchange rates to vary significantly from current or historical exchange
rates. The Group currently does not engage in hedging activities designed or
intended to manage foreign exchange rate risk. The Group will continue to
monitor foreign exchange changes to best preserve the Group’s cash value.
REERFELENRE D HEEAETE ﬁﬁEAEP B ) A 2 Ko B Ath S2 H BI DA
ARBAR ARBYHEREREREE  AXTEBMGRE - F IBZJH%W\
M 22 5 P 3% E B9 PR Il 7] B 28 SR 2K B = B2 5 A X/ S FE AR tE 3R K g
AEEBRRIW RS B ENELE IR IMNEE K o) SR ES) - K%lﬂ%%ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ
ERINEZE  UREREASENRSEE -
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INFORMATION DISCLOSURE AND MANAGEMENT
OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group discloses information in accordance with the rules
and regulations of the Securities and Futures Commission
in Hong Kong and the Stock Exchange, releases its periodic
reports and interim announcements to the public in accordance
with law, and discloses important information such as the
Group's financial results, material information changes and
information on significant projects to the market on a timely
basis, bearing in mind the timeliness, fairness, accuracy,
authenticity and completeness of information disclosure,
therefore protecting the legal interests of investors and
stakeholders.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Tse Fung Sum Flora (“Ms. Tse"”) was appointed as the
company secretary of the Company since June 28, 2024. Ms.
Tse was nominated by Amasse Company Services Limited,
the external professional service provider, and engaged by the
Company as its company secretary. Ms. Tse had complied with
Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules by taking no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training during the year ended December
31, 2024. The company secretary reports to the Chairman of
the Board and Chief Executive Officer regarding corporate
governance issues, and all Directors can seek her advice
and support. The company secretary is also responsible for
providing advice to Directors and the Board Committees on the
latest laws and regulations, such that procedures of the Board
as well as all applicable laws, regulations and rules are complied
with. The company secretary’s primary contact person at the
Company is Ms. Lian Yunfei, the general counsel of the Group.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

To safeguard the rights and interests of shareholders, the
Company will propose a separate resolution in respect of each
significant matter (including the election of individual Directors)
at general meetings. All resolutions put forward at the general
meeting will be voted on by poll in accordance with the Listing
Rules, and the poll results will be announced on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange after each general
meeting.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting by
Shareholders

Extraordinary general meetings shall also be convened on
the written requisition of any two or more members of the
Company deposited at the principal office of the Company in
Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such
a principal office, the registered office specifying the objects
of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided
that such requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company. General meetings may also be convened on
the written requisition of any one member of the Company
which is a recognized clearing house (or its nominee(s))
deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong
or, in the event the Company ceases to have such a principal
office, the registered office specifying the objects of the
meeting and signed by the requisitionist, provided that such
requisitionist held as at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which
carries the right of voting at general meetings of the Company.
If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit
of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be
held within a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves
or any of them representing more than one-half of the total
voting rights of all of them, may convene the general meeting
in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which
meetings may be convened by the Board provided that any
meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of
three months from the date of deposit of the requisition, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result
of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the
Company.
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Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There is no provision allowing shareholders to move new
resolutions at general meetings under the Cayman Islands
Companies law or the Articles of Association of the Company.
Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may request
the Company to convene a general meeting following the
procedures set out in the preceding paragraph.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board
For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, shareholders

may send relevant written enquiries to the Company by post or
email as per the below contact information.

CONTACT DETAILS

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests by post or

email:
Address:  Room 1901-07, 19/F, Sun Hung Kai Centre,
30 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
(with the Board of Directors as designated recipient)
Tel: 852-2511-0028
Fax: 852-2511-1983
Email: investors@mienergy.com.cn

Shareholders must deposit or send (as the case may be) the
original of the duly signed written requisitions, notices or
statements or enquires to the above address, and provide
their full names, contact details and identification such that the
Company could reply to them. It is likely that the shareholder
information will be disclosed as required by law.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS/INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for strengthening relationships with
investors and increasing investors' understanding of the
Company's business performance and strategy. Also, the
Company understands that maintaining transparency and
disclosing the Company's information on a timely basis are
very important for shareholders and investors to make the best
investment decisions.

For this purpose, the Company has set up a website
(http://www.mienergy.com.cn), where relevant latest
information, the up-to-date state of the Company’s business
operation and development, the Company’'s financial
information and corporate governance practices and other data
are available to the public.

The Company endeavors to maintain an ongoing dialogue with
shareholders, especially through annual general meetings and
other general meetings. The Chairman of the Board, all Non-
executive Directors, Independent Non-executive Directors and
the Chairmen of all Board Committees (or their representatives)
will attend annual general meetings to meet shareholders and
respond to their enquires. The Company’s general meeting is a
platform for the Board and shareholders to communicate with
each other.

The Company has adopted a policy on payment of dividends
pursuant to Code Provision F.1.1 of the CG Code, which sets
out the factors in consideration of the payment of dividend.
The Board endeavors to maintain a balance between meeting
shareholders’ expectations and prudent capital management
with a sustainable dividend policy and will continually review
the same and make modifications when appropriate.
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AMENDMENTS TO CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENTS

On December 14, 2023, the Company released an
announcement that proposed to make certain amendments to
the Memorandum and Articles of Association for the purposes
of, allowing general meetings to be held as a virtual meeting
and incorporating certain housekeeping changes. At the
annual general meeting held on January 12, 2024, a special
resolution was passed by the shareholders approving the
proposed amendments to the Memorandum and Articles of
Association of the Company and adopting the second amended
and restated Memorandum and Articles of Association of
the Company. Details of the proposed amendments are set
out in the Company's circular dated December 21, 2023. The
second amended and restated Memorandum and Articles
of Association are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

On March 22, 2024, the Company released an announcement
that proposed to make certain amendments to the second
amended and restated Memorandum and Articles of Association
for the purposes of, updating and bringing the Articles in line
with the amendments to the Listing Rules which mandate the
electronic dissemination of corporate communications by listed
issuers to their securities holders from December 31, 2023
onwards, and incorporating certain housekeeping changes. At
the annual general meeting held on June 14, 2024, a special
resolution was passed by the shareholders approving the
proposed amendments to the second amended and restated
Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company and
adopting the third amended and restated Memorandum and
Articles of Association of the Company. Details of the proposed
amendments are set out in the Company's circular dated May
21, 2024. The third amended and restated Memorandum and
Articles of Association are available on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company.
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Report of the Directors
ESEWmE

The Directors submit their report together with the audited
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal business of the Company and its subsidiaries is
to engage in the exploration, development, production and sale
of crude oil and other petroleum products under Daan Qilfield
production sharing contracts located in northeast China.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2024
are set out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income on pages 120 to 121.

The Board did not recommend the payment of final dividend for
the year ended December 31, 2024 (2023: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year has been set
out in pages 10 to 12 of the Chairman’s Statement, pages 91
to 107 of the Management Discussion and Analysis, and this
Report of the Directors.

RESERVES

Please refer to the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on page 122 and note 38 to the consolidated financial
statements for movements in the reserves of the Group and
the Company, respectively, for the year ended December 31,
2024.

MIEHOLDINGS CORPORATION / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

EEeENMREHEE S _NUF&E+ A
=+t BHItFEZREEREEZITEREK

FEXBREEMES

ARAZEBEBR/REER - AR

HENMBARITEXBRAEB uﬁAﬂPlﬁib
ZAZHBERASKAR  EEHE

B AENMEERAMEMSAHER -

RERIKE

AEBHEEZ T -_MEF+-_A=+—H1t
FEMEBENF120EF 121 B 2604
AR -

E=eUEEZENBE_T_NF+=A
=+ BLEFERNRBEERS (ZE-=F:
&) -

RIBEER

$%E$¢F%ﬁ%ﬁaﬁﬂ%mi%m
BENTEREE FINEFI07ENEIE
EREIS i )S%%%@i&%m o

(EN]
BERAEENARRBE_T_NF+=
A=+ BLFEZR#EE 'E%ﬁ/“a‘J

BE12EMNEHERESREGHTTH
HREMIEE3S -



Report of the Directors (Continued)
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of
the Group are set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are
set out in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

SENIOR NOTES

Details of the senior notes are set out in note 21 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company at December 31, 2024
are nil.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company'’s Articles of Association and there was no restriction
against such rights under the laws of the Cayman Islands,
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-
rata basis to existing shareholders.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
group is set out on page 6 of the annual report.

BUY-BACK, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
disposed of or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities
during the year ended December 31, 2024.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
sEEemE(E)

SHARE OPTIONS

(i)

2021 Share Option Scheme (“2021 Scheme”)

On June 25, 2021, the Company adopted the 2021
Scheme to enable the Company to grant options to
selected participants as incentives or rewards for their
contributions to our Group. Participants of the 2021
Scheme include any executive director, non-executive
director, full time employee or advisers and consultants of
the Group as invited by the Board. The 2021 Scheme shall
be valid and effective for a period of 10 years commencing
from the approval of the 2021 Scheme.

The exercise period of any option granted under the 2021
Scheme must not be more than ten years commencing
from the date of grant. The acceptance of an offer of the
grant of the option must be made within 28 days from the
date of grant with a non-refundable payment of RMB1.00
from the grantee. The exercise price determined by the
Board will be at the higher of (i) the closing price of the
shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock
Exchange on the date of grant; (ii) the average closing
price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily
quotations sheet for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of grant and (iii) the nominal value of
the shares.

The share options granted under the 2021 Scheme
typically vest over three years on the last day of each year
starting from the subsequent year of the grant, subject
to the participant continuing to be an employee on each
vesting date and other performance evaluation results.
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Under the 2021 Scheme, a total of 142,516,803 share
options were granted to directors, executives and
employees. Details of the share options outstanding as at
December 31, 2024 are as follows:

Number Number Number Number
of options  of options  of options  of options

Held at granted exercised lapsed  cancelled

January 1, during during during during

Name 2024 the year the year the year the year
B

It 1.3 RER RER RER RER

Held at
December 31,
2024

R
ZECmE

-R-H Rtz fiiz RES: BHE ftZA=1-A

4 BE BRERR BREHE BREER BREHE

KA

B ¥, 202151 8] - &55142,516,803 17
BRECETES  THRABRES -
R_ZE-_mE+-A=+—BHEKXT
EREREEIT

Exercise
price
(per Share) Date of grant Exercisable period

ik
(8K) REH TFIEAE

Independent non-executive

Directors

BUFUES

Mr. Mei Jianping 1,267,933 - - - - 1267933 HKS$0.044  June 30, 2021 from June 30, 2021 to

BRTEE 00MET ZBZ-FxF=TH  June29,2031
BZS-F/A-THREZ
ZRE-ERACTARL

Other employees 19,690,720 - - (141472 - 18275997 HK$0.044 June 30, 2021 from June 30, 2021 to

AT 00MET ZBZ-FxF=TH  June29,2031
BZS-F/A-THREZ
ZRE-ERAZTARL

Total #5f 20,958,653 - - (1447 - 19,543,930
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(ii)

Others

The total number of shares issued and which may fall to
be issued upon exercise of the options granted under
the 2021 Scheme of the Company to each participant in
any 12 month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued
share capital of the Company from time to time. The total
number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the 2021 Scheme of
the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
shares in issue at the date of the 2021 annual general
meeting.

As at January 1, 2024 and December 31, 2024, the
number of share options available for grant under the 2021
Scheme are 184,425,229 shares. The number of shares
that may be issued in respect of share options granted
under all schemes of the Company during 2024 divided by
the weighted average number of shares in issue for 2024
is 0.60%.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the maximum number
of shares available for issue under the 2021 Scheme is
184,425,229 shares, representing approximately 5.45% of
the issued share capital.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed above, no equity-linked agreements that will

or may result in the Company issuing shares or that require the
Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result in
the Company issuing shares were entered into by the Company

during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended December 31, 2024 and up

to the Latest Practicable Date were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhao Jiangwei
Mr. Lam Wai Tong

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Ruilin (Chairman)
Mr. Guan Hongjun

(resigned with effect from August 14, 2024)
Mr. Han Ye

(appointed with effect from August 14, 2024)
Ms. Gao Yan

(resigned with effect from October 23, 2024)
Mr. Yan Ruibing

(appointed with effect from October 23, 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Mei Jianping
Mr. Liu Ying Shun
Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen
Mr. Guo Yanjun

(resigned with effect from October 23, 2024)
Ms. Peng Ping

(appointed with effect from October 23, 2024)
Mr. Ai Min

In accordance with Article 16.2 or Article 16.18 of the
Company's Articles of Association, Mr. Zhang Ruilin, Mr. Han
Ye, Mr. Yan Ruibing, Mr. Mei Jianping, Mr. Liu Ying Shun, Ms.
Peng Ping and Mr. Ai Min shall retire at the forthcoming annual
general meeting. All of the above Directors, being eligible,

would offer themselves for re-election.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

We have entered into letters of appointment with each of our
Directors, pursuant to which each of the Executive Directors,
Non-executive Directors and Independent Non-executive
Directors is appointed for terms of two or three years, subject
to re-election in accordance with our Articles of Association at
our general meeting.

A service contract has been entered into (and amended from
time to time) between the Company and Mr. Zhang Ruilin, as a
non-executive Director, and Mr. Zhao Jiangwei, as an executive
Director, respectively, for a term of three years, commencing
from January 1, 2025. The service contract is renewable and
may be terminated (i) with twelve months’ notice by either
party, or (i) by the Company upon certain events such as the
Director having committed serious or persistent breaches of
the service contract. Should the Company terminate the service
contract, Mr. Zhang and Mr. Zhao will be entitled to receive a
severance payment equivalent to one year’s basic pay under
the service contract, save for circumstances described in item (i)
above.

Save as disclosed above, none of our Directors have entered
into a service contract with us which does not expire or which
is not determinable by us within one year without the payment
of compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS AND
CONTINUED CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group had
followed policies and guidelines to determine the price and
terms of the Continued Connected Transactions conducted.
The Group had the following transactions with Jilin Guotai
Petroleum Development Company, Songyuan Guotai Petroleum
Technology Service Company and their subsidiaries (“Jilin
Guotai”), which are connected persons of the Group under the
Listing Rules:

Continuing Connected Transactions
Provision of oilfield services by Jilin Guotai to the Group

Jilin Guotai is owned by Mrs. Zhang (being the spouse of Mr.
Zhang Ruilin) and Mr. Zhao Jiangwei (an Executive Director),
and is therefore a connected person of the Group.

On November 23, 2010, the Group entered into a framework
oilfield service agreement with Jilin Guotai (the “Qilfield Service
Agreement”), pursuant to which Jilin Guotai agreed to provide
to us various oilfield services including well maintenance
services, well logging services, oil tanker transportation
services, oilfield construction related works and other oil
operations related services, subject to the entering into of
individual contracts as agreed between Jilin Guotai and the
Group pursuant to the Qilfield Service Agreement. The service
fees will be based on normal commercial terms and negotiated
on arm’s length basis between the parties, and shall be no less
favourable than those offered by independent third parties to
our Group.

On December 31, 2012, we entered into the Renewed Oilfield
Services Agreement with Jilin Guotai for a term of three years
ending December 31, 2015.

On December 31, 2015, we entered into the Renewed Qilfield
Services Agreement with Jilin Guotai for a term of three years
ending December 31, 2018.
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On December 6, 2018, we entered into the Renewed Oilfield
Services Agreement with Jilin Guotai for a term of three
years ending December 31, 2021. The annual caps for the
transactions under the Renewed Oilfield Services Agreement
were RMB167.0 million, RMB189.0 million and RMB208.0
million for the three years ended December 31, 2021,
respectively.

On December 31, 2021, we further renewed the Renewed
Oilfield Services Agreement with Jilin Guotai for a term of three
years ending December 31, 2024. The annual caps for the
transactions under the Renewed Qilfield Services Agreement
are RMB128.0 million, RMB162.0 million and RMB171.0 million
for the three years ending December 31, 2024, respectively.

On November 22, 2024, we further renewed the Renewed
Oilfield Services Agreement with Jilin Guotai for a term of three
years ending December 31, 2027. The annual caps for the
transactions under the Renewed Oilfield Services Agreement
are RMB100.0 million, RMB98.0 million and RMB95.0 million
for the three years ending December 31, 2027, respectively.

As set out below, the aggregate annual transaction amount
of each continuing connected transaction for the year ended
December 31, 2024 has not exceeded the proposed annual
cap for the relevant year. During the year ended December 31,
2024, Jilin Guotai was one of the five largest suppliers whose
goods and services the Group purchased from.
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Proposed annual cap Transaction amount

for the year ended  for the year ended

Connected Person Nature of transaction December 31, 2024 December 31, 2024
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Jilin Guotai Provision of oilfield services by RMB171.0 million RMB79.6 million
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In the opinion of the independent non-executive Directors, the
above transactions were entered into: (i) in the Group's ordinary
and usual course of business; (i) on normal commercial terms
or better; and (iii) in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Company and the shareholders of the Company
as a whole. Details of such connected transactions are set out
in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board
engaged the auditor of the Company to conduct a limited
assurance engagement on the above non-exempt continuing
connected transactions in accordance with the Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
"Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor
has reported their conclusion to the Board, stating that:

a. nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes
the auditor to believe that the relevant non-exempt
continuing connected transactions have not been
approved by the Company's Board of Directors.

b. nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes
the auditor to believe that the transactions were not
entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with
the relevant agreements governing such transactions.

c. with respect to the aggregate amount of the relevant
non-exempt continuing connected transactions, nothing
has come to the auditor’'s attention that causes the
auditor to believe that the relevant continuing connected
transactions have exceeded the annual cap as set by the
Company.
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Save as disclosed above, there is no contract of significance
between the Group and a controlling shareholder of the
Company (as defined in the Listing Rules) or any of its
subsidiaries, including the provision of services by the
controlling shareholder or its subsidiaries to the Group.

Saved as disclosed above, there has also been no transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance subsisting during or
at the end of the year ended December 31, 2024 in which
a Director or an entity connected with a Director is or was
materially interested, either directly or indirectly.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS

Brief biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages
13 t0 19.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS
AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at December 31, 2024, the interests or short positions of
the Directors and the chief executives of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and
its associated corporations, within the meaning of Part XV of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO"), which will
have to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which he/she is taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which will be
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded
in the register referred to therein, or which will be required to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers contained in the Listing Rules, were detailed as
follows:
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Number of
ordinary shares

Approximate
total percentage

Name of Director/ Name of Capacity/ (including options of interest in
Chief Executive Corporation Nature of interest to be exercised) the corporation
-4 RO#E EEEERN
TETRABHA EBER B3/ RERME (BEATEERE) BREEIH
Mr. Zhang Ruilin Our Company Interest of controlled 1,566,108,234 (L) 46.24%
R ot A /NS corporation (Note 2)

R EE R (Hit2)

Interest of controlled 88,521,234 (S) 2.61%

corporation (Note 3)

RS EE#R (i 3)

Beneficial owner 7,987,000 (L) 0.24%

EafiAA
Mr. Zhao Jiangwei Our Company Interest of controlled 1,566,108,234 (L) 46.24%
HIsEE /NG corporation (Note 2)

R EE R (iE2)

Interest of controlled 88,521,234 (S) 2.61%

corporation (Note 3)

R EE R (7 3)
Mr. Zhang Ruilin FEEL Interest of controlled 9,000 10.00%
oK AR o A corporation (Note 2)

R EE RS (HiF2)
Mr. Zhao Jiangwei FEEL Interest of controlled 9,000 10.00%
HIREE corporation (Note 2)

REGEE RS (Hi2)
Mr. Mei Jianping Our Company Beneficial owner 1,267,933 (L) 0.03%
gRYEE VNG EafiAA
Mr. Mei Liming Our Company Beneficial owner 15,909,290 (L) 0.46%
HRALE VNG EafiAA
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B )

The letter “L"” denotes the person’s long position in the shares of the
Company. The letter “S” denotes the person’s short position in the
shares of the Company.

FEEL is held by Ms. Zhao Jiangbo (“Mrs. Zhang”), Mr. Zhang Ruilin (“Mr.
Zhang") and Mr. Zhao Jiangwei (“Mr. Zhao") as to 80%, 10% and 10%,
respectively. On May 24, 2013, 72,000 shares in FEEL were issued
to Mrs. Zhang, 399,070,000 shares in the Company were transferred
from FEEL to Champion International Energy Limited (“Champion”),
399,070,000 shares in the Company were transferred from FEEL to
Orient International Energy Limited (“Orient”), 475,000,000 shares in the
Company were transferred from FEEL to New Sun International Energy
Limited (“New Sun”) and 141,460,000 shares in the Company were
transferred from FEEL to Power International Energy Limited (“Power”).
Each of Champion, Orient, New Sun and Power is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Sunrise Glory Holdings Limited, which is itself a wholly-
owned subsidiary of FEEL. Mrs. Zhang, Mr. Zhang and Mr. Zhao have
entered into an Acting-in-Concert Agreement under which they agreed
to act in concert in relation to all matters that require the decisions of the
shareholders of FEEL. Pursuant to the Acting-in-Concert Agreement, if a
unanimous opinion in relation to the matters that require action in concert
is unable to be reached, Mr. Zhang shall be allowed to vote on his, Mrs.
Zhang's and Mr. Zhao's shares.

The long interests which FEEL, Mr. Zhang and Mr. Zhao have in the
1,566,108,234 shares in the Company include (i) the beneficial interests
which FEEL has (and in the case of Mr. Zhang and Mr. Zhao, the indirect
beneficial interests which they have (through their shareholdings in FEEL))
in the 1,469,600,000 shares in the Company held by FEEL through its
subsidiaries, (ii) the put option granted by FEEL, Mr. Zhang and Mr. Zhao,
pursuant to a put and call option agreement, over the 88,521,234 shares
in the Company held by Mr. Ho Chi Sing through Celestial Energy Limited
(“Celestial”), as further described in note (3) below, and (iii) the 7,987,000
shares owned by Mr. Zhang himself.

The Company was informed on November 8, 2014 that TPG Star Energy
Ltd. and Celestial had entered into a sale and purchase agreement
pursuant to which Celestial had acquired and TPG Star Energy Ltd. has
sold 211,855,234 ordinary shares in the Company.

On November 8, 2014, FEEL, Mr. Zhang, Mr. Zhao, Mrs. Zhang and
Celestial entered into a put and call option agreement in relation to
certain of shares (the "PCA"), pursuant to which the parties to the PCA
have agreed to grant each other certain rights in relation to their shares,
and Section 317(1)(a) of the SFO applies. Mr. Ho Chi Sing is the sole
shareholder of Celestial.
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In particular, Mr. Ho Chi Sing, through his holdings in Celestial, is
beneficially interested in 211,855,234 shares in the Company. Pursuant
to the above mentioned PCA, Mr. Ho Chi Sing and Celestial have been
granted a put option to resell/put 211,855,234 shares to FEEL, Mr. Zhang
and Mr. Zhao.

On January 6, 2017, FEEL, Mr. Zhang, Mr. Zhao, Mrs. Zhang (collectively,
the “Controlling Shareholders”) and Celestial entered into a letter
agreement in relation to the PCA. The Board was also informed that Great
Harmony International Ltd (“Great Harmony") and Celestial have entered
into a sale and purchase agreement pursuant to which Great Harmony
has agreed to acquire (or procure its affiliate or other person or company
designated by it to acquire) and Celestial has agreed to sell 211,855,234
ordinary shares in the Company.

On January 18, 2017, February 23, 2017 and March 7, 2017, Celestial had
ceased to have 53,334,000 shares, 40,000,000 shares and 30,000,000
shares in long and short positions, respectively.

On May 17, 2017, FEEL, the Controlling Shareholders and Celestial
entered into a second letter agreement in relation to the PCA. For further
details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated May 17,
2017.

On November 30, 2017, the Controlling Shareholders and Celestial
entered into the supplemental agreement to the second letter agreement
in relation to the PCA. For further details, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated November 30, 2017.

On April 14, 2018, the Controlling Shareholders and Celestial entered into
the second supplemental agreement to the second letter agreement in
relation to the PCA. For further details, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated April 15, 2018.

On November 26, 2018, the Controlling Shareholders and Celestial
entered into the third supplemental agreement to the second letter
agreement in relation to the PCA. For further details, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated November 26, 2018.

On May 30, 2019, the Controlling Shareholders and Celestial entered
into the fourth supplement agreement to the second letter agreement
in relation to the PCA. For further details, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated May 30, 2019.
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On January 15, 2020, the Controlling Shareholders and Celestial entered
into the fifth supplement agreement to the second letter agreement in
relation to the PCA. For further details, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated January 15, 2020.

On January 4, 2021, the Controlling Shareholders and Celestial entered
into the sixth supplement agreement to the second letter agreement in
relation to the PCA. For further details, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated January 4, 2021.

On February 18, 2022, the Controlling Shareholders and Celestial entered
into the seventh supplement agreement to the second letter agreement
in relation to the PCA. For further details, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated February 18, 2022.

Save as disclosed above and in the section headed “Share
Options”, as at December 31, 2024, none of the Directors or
the chief executives of the Company had any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which he/she had taken or was deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO) or which were required to
be entered into the register kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO or which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code; nor had there been any grant or exercise of rights of such
interests during the year ended December 31, 2024.
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FERRREAQBANRS - HERG
THREENEER AR

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

REEFRA R_ZE_NFEF+_A=1+—
B TIALRRES TBTRABHAK
SEKRERAIN RARRZ ML
Bt R A RIRFE S R E RDIEXVE S
2R3N BWAMARRRBEHEE K HA
BRREEZKHE GG F3B6IRAE

So far as the Directors are aware of, as at December 31,
2024, the following persons (other than the Directors, chief
executive(s) or members of the Group) who had interests and/
or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions two and three of Part XV of

the SFO, or, which would be required, pursuant to section 336 =R ZIEFTIE 2 B 2 M N kE 25 &304
of the SFO, to be entered into the register referred to therein, BT :
were as follows:
Total Approximate
number of Shares percentage of
Party Capacity/ (including options interest in
Name of Interested Nature of interest to be exercised) company
ROEH YN
EEhER 513/ EEME (BRETTRBRE BEOELEIN
Ms. Zhao Jiangbo Interest of controlled corporation (Note 2) 1,566,108,234 (L) 46.24%
HIRTt THlAEER (Hit2) 88,521,234 (S) 2.61%
FEEL Interest of controlled corporation (Note 2) 1,566,108,234 (L) 46.24%
THlAEER (Hit2) 88,521,234 (S) 261%
Mr. Ho Chi Sing Interest of controlled corporation (Note 3) 1,566,108,234 (L) 46.24%
fHER T E THlAEER (Hi3) 88,521,234 (S) 2.61%
Celestial Energy Limited (“Celestial”) Interest of controlled corporation (Note 3) 1,566,108,234 (L) 46.24%
THlAEES (Hi3) 88,521,234 (S) 261%
Orient Energy Opportunity Person having a security interest 1,472,300,000 (L) 43.47%
Investment Limited Partnership in Shares (Note 4)
Fund (“Orient Energy”) RAERGEREROAL (K1)
OHC Opportunity Investment Limited Interest of controlled corporation (Note 4) 1,472,300,000 (L) 43.47%
FHEE RS (Hit4)
Excel Link Capital Inc. Interest of controlled corporation (Note 4) 1,472,300,000 (L) 43.47%

T EE L (i 4)
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Total Approximate
number of Shares percentage of
Party Capacity/ (including options interest in
Name of Interested Nature of interest to be exercised) company
ignEE RN
ERLER 5/ BHiHE (BEUTEERE) EZOBAEIL
Billion Capital Shine Inc. Interest of controlled corporation (Note 4) 1,472,300,000 (L) 43.47%
R EE R (f17t4)
China Orient Asset Management Interest of controlled corporation (Note 4) 1,472,300,000 (L) 43.47%
(International) Holding Limited R EE R (f714)
RERAEEERE (BR) ERERAF
China Orient Asset Management Co.,  Interest of controlled corporation (Note 4) 1,472,300,000 (L) 43.47%
Limited REHEEER (H7t4)
FERAEEEERNHERAA
Dong Yin Development (Holdings) Interest of controlled corporation (Note 4) 1,472,300,000 (L) 43.47%
Limited REHlEEER (H7t4)
RFERE(ER)BRAF
Wise Leader Assets Ltd. Interest of controlled corporation (Note 4) 1,472,300,000 (L) 43.47%
REHEE R (f7t4)
Flying Investments Limited Beneficial owner 199,160,000 (L) 5.88%
ExBEAA
Mr. Sit Hon Wing Interest of controlled corporation (Note 5) 199,160,000 (L) 5.88%

BEREAL

REHEEES (WEs)
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The letter “L"” denotes the person’s long position in the shares of the
Company. The letter “S" denotes the person’s short position in the
shares of the Company.

FEEL is held by Mrs. Zhang, Mr. Zhang and Mr. Zhao as to 80%, 10% and
10%, respectively. On May 24, 2013, 72,000 shares in FEEL were issued
to Mrs. Zhang, 399,070,000 shares in the Company were transferred
from FEEL to Champion, 399,070,000 shares in the Company were
transferred from FEEL to Orient, 475,000,000 shares in the Company
were transferred from FEEL to New Sun and 141,460,000 shares in the
Company were transferred from FEEL to Power. Each of Champion,
Orient, New Sun and Power is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Sunrise Glory
Holdings Limited, which is itself a wholly-owned subsidiary of FEEL. Mrs.
Zhang, Mr. Zhang and Mr. Zhao have entered into an Acting-in-Concert
Agreement under which they agreed to act in concert in relation to all
matters that require the decisions of the shareholders of FEEL. Pursuant
to the Acting-in-Concert Agreement, if a unanimous opinion in relation
to the matters that require action in concert is unable to be reached,
Mr. Zhang shall be allowed to vote on his, Mrs. Zhang's and Mr. Zhao's
shares.

The long interests which FEEL, Mr. Zhang and Mr. Zhao have in the
1,566,108,234 shares in the Company include (i) the beneficial interests
which FEEL has (and in the case of Mr. Zhang and Mr. Zhao, the indirect
beneficial interests which they have (through their shareholdings in FEEL))
in the 1,469,600,000 shares in the Company held by FEEL through its
subsidiaries, (ii) the put option granted by FEEL, Mr. Zhang and Mr. Zhao,
pursuant to the PCA, over the 88,521,234 shares in the Company held by
Mr. Ho Chi Sing through Celestial, as further described in note (3) below,
and (iii) the 7,987,000 shares owned by Mr. Zhang himself.

The Company was informed on November 8, 2014 that TPG Star Energy
Ltd. and Celestial had entered into a sale and purchase agreement
pursuant to which Celestial had acquired and TPG Star Energy Ltd. has
sold 211,855,234 ordinary shares in the Company.

On November 8, 2014, the Controlling Shareholders and Celestial entered
into the PCA in relation to certain of the shares, pursuant to which the
parties to the PCA have agreed to grant each other certain rights in
relation to their shares, and Section 317(1)(a) of the SFO applies. Mr. Ho
Chi Sing is the sole shareholder of the Celestial.

In particular, Mr. Ho Chi Sing, through his holdings in Celestial, is
beneficially interested in 211,855,234 shares in the Company. Pursuant
to the abovementioned PCA, Mr. Ho Chi Sing and Celestial have been
granted a put option to resell/put 211,855,234 shares to FEEL, Mr. Zhang
and Mr. Zhao.

(M

(2)

3)

FRILIEEMCAIRARRRDHOEER - F
BISIHERMALTRARARROHHRE

FEELEHRAA REERBEEEDRES
80% ~ 10% K 10%#Em - R_ZE—=FA A
—+MB  FEELA 72,000 &) %17 F R
& A - FEEL% 5l #% 7~ 2 399,070,000 f
399,070,000 fi% + 475,000,000 % &2 141,460,000
A% A% 17 & 3 T Champion - Orient * New Sun &
Power ¢ Champion * Orient * New Sun 2 Power
¥ /& Sunrise Glory Holdings Limited #) & & Hf
B A &) i Sunrise Glory Holdings Limited 8l &
FEELHMZ2EMBARR - REAA  RAEEREE
EBRI—BITEG® Bt BERERE
FAFEELIRFREMN — ) FIE BT - BRIE—
WITE A MAREEERBET —RITHHE
H—HER REAEERE REXARBEL
ERRMDETIRERR -

FEEL - 5R %0 4 M i 55 A A AN 2 51 1,566,108,234
BB A 4T B B4 () FEELNEE B EH I B
A A FTH AN A R) 1,469,600,000 % A% 19 & A Y
B (RnAREERBELE AARS
BRSEMFFEELMREMESNMEEERE
=) 0 ()FEEL » SRE A R B KA ERIFERIE KRR
& BRRE 9 2 15 L0 0 {r) 75 BK 2 A 38 3 Celesstial FT
5K 5188,521,234 A A% 1 HY 3R 0 BEAE - 3 —
BHPAR TR - Ri)REERS AR
7,987,000 BERE 17

RARABR-ZZE—WF+—-ANBEZE  TPG
Star Energy Ltd. £ Celestial 5] 32 B & 1 #% -
JE It + Celestial [l & W & & TPG Star[f & 1 &
211,855,234 IR AN B E AR o

RZZE—F+—A\B - EIRAXE K Celestial
ETROFT LR RAEHRERS - Bt
ZHF AN REEEAZEAREEERD 2
ATHEAILEAESFREEEME317(1)0) 1§
FE o IR L 4 & Celestial HyME — R ER -

EHES—RENRE WEKEtEBRBESE
Celestial ¥ 45 I - 4548 782 7] 211,855,234 % ##
Ho R LM R REHERE - WEKE
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On January 6, 2017, the Controlling Shareholders and Celestial entered
into the letter agreement in relation to the put and call option. The Board
was also informed that Great Harmony and Celestial have entered into
a sale and purchase agreement pursuant to which Great Harmony has
agreed to acquire (or procure its affiliate or other person or company
designated by it to acquire) and Celestial has agreed to sell 211,855,234
ordinary shares in the Company.

On January 18, 2017, February 23, 2017 and March 7, 2017, Celestial had
ceased to have 53,334,000 shares, 40,000,000 shares and 30,000,000
shares in long and short positions, respectively.

On May 17, 2017, the Controlling Shareholders and Celestial entered
into a second letter agreement in relation to the PCA. For further details,
please refer to the Company’s announcement dated May 17, 2017.

On November 30, 2017, the Controlling Shareholders and Celestial
entered into the supplement agreement to the second letter agreement
in relation to the PCA. For further details, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated November 30, 2017.

On April 14, 2018, the Controlling Shareholders and Celestial entered
into the second supplement agreement to the second letter agreement
in relation to the PCA. For further details, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated April 15, 2018.

On November 26, 2018, the Controlling Shareholders and Celestial
entered into the third supplement agreement to the second letter
agreement in relation to the PCA. For further details, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated November 26, 2018.

On May 30, 2019, the Controlling Shareholders and Celestial entered
into the fourth supplement agreement to the second letter agreement
in relation to the PCA. For further details, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated May 30, 2019.

On January 15, 2020, the Controlling Shareholders and Celestial entered
into the fifth supplement agreement to the second letter agreement in
relation to the PCA. For further details, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated January 15, 2020.

On January 4, 2021, the Controlling Shareholders and Celestial entered
into the sixth supplement agreement to the second letter agreement in
relation to the PCA. For further details, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated January 4, 2021.

On February 18, 2022, the Controlling Shareholders and Celestial entered
into the seventh supplement agreement to the second letter agreement
in relation to the PCA. For further details, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated February 18, 2022.
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Orient Energy has a security interest in the 1,472,300,000 shares of the
Company in which OHC Opportunity Investment Limited, Excel Link
Capital Inc., Billion Capital Shine Inc., China Orient Asset Management
(International) Holding Limited, Wise Leader Assets Ltd., Dong Yin
Development (Holdings) Limited and China Orient Asset Management
Co., Ltd., were deemed to be interested in by virtue of SFO because:

OHC Opportunity Investment Limited is the Managing Partner of
Orient Energy;

Excel Link Capital Inc. is a Limited Partner of Orient Energy;

Billion Capital Shine Inc. is a Limited Partner of Orient Energy;

Billion Capital Shine Inc. and Excel Link Capital Inc. are both 100%
owned by China Orient Asset Management (International) Holding
Limited;

China Orient Asset Management (International) Holding Limited
is 50% owned by Dong Yin Development (Holdings) Limited and
50% owned by Wise Leader Assets Ltd.;

Wise Leader Assets Ltd. is 100% owned by Dong Yin
Development (Holdings) Limited; and

Dong Yin Development (Holdings) Limited is 100% owned by
China Orient Asset Management Co., Ltd.

The interest is 100% controlled by Mr. Sit Hon Wing.

Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2024, no person
(other than the Directors or the chief executive of our Company,

whose interests have been disclosed in the above section
headed “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and/or Short
Positions in the Shares, underlying Shares and Debentures of

the Company or Any Associated Corporation”) had an interest
or a short position in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by our

Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

(4)  Orient Energy B 1% A & 7] 1,472,300,000 &
MERERER  RIBEZFLEEKD - OHC
Opportunity Investment Limited, Excel Link
Capital Inc. * Billion Capital Shine Inc. » F Bl &
HEEERE (BR)ERAERRDF - Wise Leader
Assets Ltd. * RIRFR (IFR) BR QA R F EH
REBAEEERMERARRKEEZSE

— OHC Opportunity Investment Limited =&
Orient Energy B A B A

— Excel Link Capital Inc. & Orient Energy #J
EREEA

— Billion Capital Shine Inc. /& Orient Energy
BWERESEA

— FEFRSFAEER (BB ZERBERAQR
¥ 7 Billion Capital Shine Inc. & Excel Link
Capital Inc. 100% & 17 :

—  RIRFE (ER) AR A A& Wise Leader
Assets Lid D RIEBFER A EEEE (K
BR) 2R A BR 2 B 50% AR 17

— HRBE (ZRKR) GRAAEEWise
Leader Assets Ltd. 100% B 15 : &

— HFHEHERSFEETERMARARBEAR
iRERE (IR R AR 100% A ©
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

During the year, the Group purchased around 64.2% of its
goods and services from its five largest suppliers as well as
24.6% of its goods and services from the largest supplier; and
99.9% and 100% respectively of the Group's revenue are from
PetroChina Company Limited (the “PetroChina”), its largest
customer, and its five largest customers combined.

Save as otherwise disclosed in this report (if any), none of the
Directors, their close associates or any shareholder (which
to the knowledge of Directors owns more than 5% of the
Company'’s issued share capital) has any interest in the Group's
five largest suppliers and customers.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS
AND CUSTOMERS

The employees, suppliers and customers of the Company play
an important role in the Company's development and on which
the Company’s success depends. The Company provides
competitive remuneration packages to attract and motivate the
employees. The Company maintains good relationship with
customers, suppliers and other business partners to achieve
its long-term goals. In 2024, save as disclosed, there was no
material and significant dispute between our Group and its
customers, suppliers and other business partners.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

During the process of hydrocarbon production, the Company
highly values the protection of natural and ecological
environment and its comprehensive environmental protection
measures to ensure that the Company complies with the
applicable laws and regulations in relation to environmental
protection. During the process of construction and production of
oilfields, we place environment impact assessment, compliance
with set standards or targets on pollutant emissions, control
on total discharge amount and reduction on emissions as our
priorities.
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The Company views energy saving and reduction in emission as
an important aspect of our cost reduction and maintaining high
management standards. We also continue to strengthen efforts
on technical reformation during daily management, which is the
key to improve energy efficiency and reduce carbon emissions.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company has
constructed oilfields of green environmental protection in
accordance with regulatory requirements and there were no
matters arising from environmental-related regulatory non-
compliances.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the Board and senior management are aware, the
Group has complied in material respects with the relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the business
and operations of the Group. During the year ended December
31, 2024, there was no material breach of or non-compliance
with applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, it is
confirmed that there is sufficient public float of at least 25%
of the Company's issued shares as required under the Listing
Rules during the period from January 1, 2024 to the Latest
Practicable Date.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Company's Articles of Association provides that every
Director, auditor or other officer of the Company shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by him as a
Director, auditor or other officer of the Company in defending
any proceedings, in which judgment is given in his favour, or in
which he is acquitted.
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REFRERPF M BUE N E - BB R
SERE RERUR T M PR AR R IR ©

BE-_E-_NE+_A=+—HIEE"
ARAREBERSCREFRABAENR  £3#
H—BRETAEAME -

BIRBERZER

MEFEREEEMM AKXEEME
BERTHEEETEASERBRES
BROERER - BE-T_NE+_-A
=T —ALEFE AEEYESKERE
RORBERBREER »

EEARERE

BRERARBARABZERRBESHTAN -
ERR_T_NF—H—HEZERER
A{TRHE  ARAREBELMRNERED
25% EEITRMEBARIEE °

2

EEFRE

ARRERARMBRESES  ARAEZH
Ak Et s R EEABARABIERES
ARRZHEMEEMEREEABRNEE
EDERIEF (BB R HIESE) R E
ESAENABEBRRAIEERARAEE
hESRE -

MIEERIERER AT / 2024 F 3k

63



64

Report of the Directors (Continued)

g¥hE (E)

COMPETING BUSINESS

A non-competition deed in favor of the Company was entered
into by FEEL, Mr. Zhang and Mr. Zhao on November 23, 2010.
Our independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
compliance and enforcement of the non-competition deed and
were of the view that FEEL, Mr. Zhang and Mr. Zhao were in
compliance with the non-Competition deed during the reporting
period.

None of the Directors of the Company had an interest in a
business which competes with the Company or is likely to
compete with the business of the Group.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Proposed Dividend

The Board did not recommend the payment of final dividend for
the year ended December 31, 2024 (2023: Nil).

GROUP’S EMOLUMENTS POLICY

The emoluments policy of the employees of the Group is set
up by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors of the Company are
decided by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to
the Company’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

EEgHE(E)

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The annual general meeting of the Company (“AGM") is
scheduled to be held on Friday, June 13, 2025. For determining
the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM, the Register of
Members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, June
10, 2025 to Friday, June 13, 2025, both days inclusive, during
which no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to be
eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all completed transfers
of shares, accompanied by the relevant share certificates, must
be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, for registration not later
than 4:30 p.m. (Hong Kong time) on Monday, June 9, 2025,
being the last registration date.

AUDITOR

On July 6, 2023, PricewaterhouseCoopers resigned as the
auditor of the Company. On the same day, the Company
appointed BDO Limited as the auditor of the Company with
effect from July 6, 2023 to fill the casual vacancy following
the resignation of PricewaterhouseCoopers and to hold office
until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the
Company. For further details, please refer to the Company’s
announcements dated July 6, 2023.

The financial statements have been audited by BDO Limited,
who will retire and, being eligible, offered themselves for
re-appointment as the Company's auditor.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Zhao Jiangwei
Executive Director

Hong Kong, March 21, 2025
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIE - L8 MNEAWE

REPORT DESCRIPTION

This report is the Group's Environmental, Social and Governance
("ESG") Report, covering the overall environmental and social
performance of the Group’s main business operations in oil and
natural gas exploration and development during the period from
January 1, 2024 to December 31, 2024 (“Reporting Period”).

For the Group's governance strategies, please refer to the
"Corporate Governance Report” section (pages 22 to 41) of this
Annual Report.

This report is prepared by the Group in accordance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (“HKEX
ESG Guide") set out in Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the HKEX.

Reporting Principles:

Materiality: This report adheres to the HKEX's materiality
principle, detailing the Board of Directors’ and the ESG relevant
personnels’ discussions on ESG matters.

Quantitative: The Group employs an ESG metrics collection
tool for systematic gathering and annual summarization of
all “Environmental”
disclosure indicators, as outlined in the ESG Reporting Guide.

These are disclosed in this report.

and “Selected Social” quantitative key

Consistency: The statistical methods utilized for data disclosure
in this report are uniformly applied.

Balance: The information presented is devoid of any

inappropriate bias, omissions, or manipulations that might
unfairly influence the readers’ decision-making or judgment.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BRIR g MlERmRSE (8)

BOARD’S ESG GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

The Company is committed to strictly complying with the
disclosure requirements of the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide of the Stock Exchange. The
Company recognizes the importance of ESG to the Company’s
long-term and stable operation, and has established effective
ESG management and governance mechanisms to promote the
harmonious integration of the Company with the environment
and society, creating sustainable environmental, social and
corporate values. The Company's Board is the highest authority
and decision-making body for ESG matters, bearing full
responsibility for the Company’s ESG strategies and reports,
and supervising the Company’s ESG-related matters. In 2024,
the Company's Board further improved the ESG governance
system, driving continuous improvement in the Company's
ESG performance. This report discloses in detail the progress
and achievements of the Company’'s ESG work in 2024,
and has been reviewed and approved by the Board of the
Company prior to disclosure. The Board of the Company and all
directors guarantee that there are no false records, misleading
statements or material omissions in the information contained
in this report, and bear individual and joint responsibility for the
truthfulness, accuracy and completeness of its contents.

. ESG MANAGEMENT
(1) ESG Management System

As the highest authority and decision-making body
on ESG matters within the Group, the Board of the
Company places a high priority on the Company's
environmental,
activities, taking full responsibility for ESG strategies
and reporting.

social, and governance (ESG)

The Group conducts its activities in line with the ESG
management system and processes, ensuring the
implementation of specific ESG tasks. Additionally, it
collaborates on the annual disclosure and reporting
of ESG information, as required each year.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE g keamE (B)

(2)

(3)

ESG Management Concept

The Group’'s ESG management concept is aligned
with national standards and the overarching
development strategy, embodying the principles
of “innovative development and value creation”.
It focuses on strengthening the ESG framework,
promoting integrated and coordinated development,
and delivering high-quality, safe energy products and
services. In compliance with national environmental
protection regulations and in response to the latest
national policies and the requirements of the HKEX
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide, the Group identifies material issues relevant
to its operations. It undertakes initiatives aimed at
reducing carbon emissions, preventing pollution, and
saving energy, adhering to a development model
that is green, low-carbon, efficient, and safe, thereby
fostering high-quality management advancement.
The ESG relevant personnels conducts regular
reviews and oversight of the achievement of
environmental objectives, comprehensively assesses
risks, and enforces management controls tailored
to the operational characteristics of each production
stage, ensuring systematic progress in ESG efforts.

Stakeholder Communication
The Group has established diversified communication

channels with stakeholders and maintains regular
communication.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
,ﬁiﬁ Z:I: -" k\Ai&i(n\/\)

(4)

(5)

Materiality

In accordance with Appendix C2 of the Environmental,
Social, and Governance Reporting Guide from the
Listing Rules on the Stock Exchange, the Group has
identified and screened material issues related to its
operations. This process is guided by internationally
recognized ESG initiatives, standards, and core issues
of common concern within the industry. It involved
various forms of commmunication and exchange with
stakeholders and a review of the Group's key activities
throughout the year. The identified material issues are
disclosed in this report.

Compliance Management

Strengthening System Construction: The Group
has established internal control objectives to ensure
legal and compliant operations, asset security,
true and complete financial reporting and related
information, thereby improving operational efficiency
and effectiveness, effectively controlling risks, and
promoting the realization of sustainable development
strategies. The Group has conducted a comprehensive
internal control self-assessment, which did not identify
any material deficiencies.

Ensuring Open Reporting Channels: Actively
reporting, as an integral part of the audit plan, is
embedded within the “Whistleblowing Policy of MIE
Holdings Corporation”. The system outlines three
reporting methods: written, in-person, and online
reporting, mandating that all employees familiarize
themselves with these procedures. Throughout
the reporting period, the Group did not receive any
reports of duty-related crimes, bribery, extortion,
fraud, money laundering, or any other illegal
activities.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE g keamE (B)

ENVIRONMENTAL CONTROL

(1)

Emissions

The emissions discharged during the development
and production process of the Group's projects
mainly include: furnace heating exhaust gas and
hazardous wastes (such as oil sludge, oil residuals
and drilling muds generated during oil exploration).
Such hazardous wastes are disposed of by service
providers certified by environmental protection
authorities.

Table 1: The Emission Data of Each Project of the
Group during the year ended December 31, 2024

= IBIETHE

(=) BeEetn

AEEIEBRAZEEBET N
BEEVIRE : NAERERRE
REEY) (W AHFERBREPEL
FHE ~ JH - B RESRIRER) -
&2 BE W) 19 R IR (R BE P R8E HO AR
BRERMREE o

R EHE-_ZFZ-_MWF+=H
—t+—HIFEAEERSHEBEH
U BE U EUE

Projects in China FEIER
Greenhouse
Nitrogen Sulfur gas Hazardous Harmless
oxide oxide  emissions waste waste
(tons) (tons) (tons) (tons) (V)
ALY WEELEY BERE BREY BEEEY
E 30 B 2301 BE “g
(1) (1) (1) (1) (AL FHK)
Daan RE 50.3 9.3 66,858.5 4,001.5 0
Total AEt 50.3 9.3 66,858.5 4,001.5 0

Environmental protection measures and related
implementation and monitoring methods adopted by
the Group at present mainly include:

Underground environmental protection measures,
cyclic utilization of drilling muds and other measures
can reduce the amount of hazardous waste
produced. Any hazardous waste generated will be
disposed of and recycled by qualified units under the
supervision of the local government environmental
protection department.

The production wastewater is filtered and purified
through a sewage treatment device. A portion of the
treated water is heated and then enters pipelines
for use in production. Another portion, after passing
quality tests, is injected back into the ground to
replenish the strata pressure, achieving the goal of
zero discharge of wastewater.
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The Group chooses energy efficient furnaces that
can use clean energy as the combustion material and
the fuel used is natural gas, which mainly releases
carbon dioxide and water vapor after combustion.

The Group entrusts third party organizations to
regularly monitor the surface water, ground water,
sewage, noise, soil within the operation boundary
and monitor the environmental changes brought
about by the production and development processes
to the surrounding area.

The total amount of hazardous wastes of the Daan
Project in China generated during the year ended
December 31, 2024 was 4,001.5 tons, approximately
546.0 tons more than that of 2023. The drilling mud
wastes of projects in China produced in 2024 were 0;
and greenhouse gas emissions were about 66,858.5
tons. In the future, we will further strengthen the
control efforts to reduce the amount of emissions.

In terms of emissions, the Group mainly
implemented and complied with the “Environmental
Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China",
the “Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution
by Solid Waste", the "Law of the People’s Republic
of China on the Prevention and Control of Water
Pollution”, the “Law of the People’s Republic of
China on the Prevention and Control of Atmospheric
Pollution”, the "Law of the People’s Republic
of China on Promotion of Cleaner Production”,
the “Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Environmental Impact Assessment”, the “Catalog of
State Hazardous Wastes"”, the "People’s Republic
of China’s Emergency Response Law", the “Interim
Regulations Governing the Sudden Environmental
Emergency Contingencies”, “China’ s Oil and Gas
Production Enterprises Greenhouse Gas Emissions
Accounting Methods and Reporting Guidelines
(Trial)” and other laws and regulations and a number
of regulatory requirements.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE g keamE (B)

(2)

Use of Resources

In terms of the effective use of resources (including
energy, water, and other raw materials), the Group
has strictly adhered to the “Energy Law of the
People’s Republic of China”, the “Water Law of the
People’s Republic of China”, the “Electricity Law
of the People’s Republic of China", the “Law on
Energy Conservation of People’s Republic of China”
and other laws and regulations.

Resource conservation is a fundamental requirement
for the Group to implement scientific management,
improve the economic efficiency of the Group and
enhance the Group’'s core competitiveness. to
this end, the Group has done a lot of work in 2021
surrounding business management, technological
innovations and energy saving goals and has
achieved satisfying results. Details are as follows:

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the
Daan Project has adopted measures such as saving
domestic water and changing some injection wells
from clear water injection to treated sewage re-
injection, resulting in annual water consumption of
about 894,000 tons, which is over than the water
consumption target of 800,000 tons. The power
consumption was about 11,617.7 WkW.h, and the
natural gas consumption was 1,480.6 WM?.

In 2024, direct emissions of greenhouse gases
(Scope 1) were 32,956.2 tCO,e; indirect emissions of
greenhouse gases (Scope 2) were 33,902.3 tCO,e.
Total emission of greenhouse gases were 66,858.5
tCO,e. Scope 1 emission intensity was 36.72 tCO.,e/
million RMB revenue, Scope 2 emission intensity
was 37.77 tCO,e/million RMB revenue. Total
emission intensity of greenhouse gases was 74.49
tCO,e/million RMB revenue.

In 2024, total direct energy consumption was
163,839 MWh, total indirect energy consumption
was 116,177 MWh, the total energy consumption
was 280,016 MWh. The energy consumption density
was 312 MWh/million RMB revenue.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BRIR g MlERmRSE (8)

The consumption of gasoline by the Daan project
was 167.4 tons in 2024, the consumption of diesel
was 144.9 tons, decreased by 4.5 tons and 8.3 tons
compared to that of 2023, respectively.

Major measures and relevant implementation
methods adopted by the Group in the use and
conservation of resources include:

1.  Establish a three-tier energy management
network comprising a supervising manager,
relevant department heads and entry-
level personnel, formulate scientific and
strict management of quantitative energy
consumption, and have a good grasp on the
basic assessment work.

2. Achieve high efficiency using technology
and reduce energy consumption through
technological advances.

(1) 235 oil wells use automatic control of the
frequency conversion system, through
automatic analysis of motor operating
parameters, real-time adjustment of
operating parameters, to achieve single-
well daily power savings of more than 30
kW.h.

(2)  As for production wells with poor liquid
supply capacity, optimize the production
parameters, carry out intermittent
production, suspend wells, shut down
wells and implement other measures to
reduce inefficient production rate.

(3)  Optimize the gathering and transportation
system, effectively reduce the
mixed temperature of the system,
and reasonably apply the heat pump
technology, and effectively reduce the
energy consumption cost of the oil and
gas treatment station.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
R -2 hERME (E)

(3)

Table 2: Energy Saving Statistics of Each Project of
the Group during the year ended December 31, 2024
compared to that of 2023

x2:BHE_ZT_MWF+ - H
E+—E¢¢ﬁ$%%lﬁﬁaﬁﬁ

REZEHEN T _=FERH
?JLE‘I'

Energy Energy

Conservation Conservation

Natural Gas on Electricity on Oil

(WIVE¥) (WKW.h) (tons)

RAR BE & h

(BB XK) (BT RE) (mg)

Daan RNz 11.2 90.4 (12.8)
Total A&t 11.2 90.4 (12.8)

The Group strictly observes relevant laws,
regulations, rules and regulatory documents of the
above mentioned countries and it did not violate any
above mentioned laws, regulations, rules regulatory
documents in 2024.

Environment and Natural Resources

The Group is an enterprise engaged in the oil
exploration business which consumes mineral
resources, land and other natural resources
during the process of oil production. The Group
abides strictly by the “Mineral Resources Law
of the People’s Republic of China”, the “Land
Administration Law of the People’s Republic of
China",
People’s Republic of China” and other related laws,

the "Environmental Protection Law of the

regulations and requirements. The Group aims to
reduce its impact on the environment and natural
resources via the following: make good use of natural
resources, improve comprehensive recycling ability
of natural resources, reduce the consumption of
natural resources and all kinds of waste emissions.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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(4)

The Group aims to establish the concepts of
conserving resources, reducing waste emissions,
protecting the ecological environment, increasing
investment in new technology, formulating policies
on improving the level of enterprise technology for
comprehensive utilization of resources, technology
innovation, energy conservation and emissions
reduction, constantly promoting enterprise to
improve resource utilization efficiency, environmental
protection compliance in accordance with the laws
and regulations, continual improving of the regional
environment as well as improving sustainable health
development.

Combating Climate Change

The ability of energy companies to deal with climate
change and control greenhouse gas emissions is
the key regulatory target of mandatory low-carbon
policies around the world, which is also the focus of
domestic and foreign investors.

The Group supports the climate goals set by the
Paris Agreement, upholds the concept of green
development, fully recognizes the impact of climate
change on the Group, and gradually identifies
and analyzes the risks and opportunities brought
by climate change to the Group. For example, in
terms of policy and legal risks, China has proposed
the strategic goals of achieving carbon peaking by
2030 and carbon neutrality by 2060. Government
departments are actively promoting the construction
of various policies and laws to address climate
change. The Group's implementation of relevant
policies will lead to corresponding cost and affect the
Group's future business operations and development.
In terms of market risks, with the optimization and
adjustment of the energy industry structure, the
demand of customers and other stakeholders for
low-carbon energy products will affect the Group’s
operating income and transformation.
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The Group actively implements the Chinese
government’s strategic goals of carbon peaking and
carbon neutrality, and strictly implements various
policies and regulations of local management
departments at all levels to deal with climate change.
Strictly control the emission of greenhouse gases in
the production process, vigorously promote energy
conservation and emission reduction, improve the
utilization rate of energy resources, and build a
resource-saving green enterprise.

At present, extreme weather phenomena caused
by climate change are increasing, such as typhoons,
rainstorms, and snowstorms, which will cause
certain damage to some equipment, facilities and
field operations. The Group continues to improve the
emergency management system to further enhance
its ability to combat climate change.

lll. EMPLOYEE RIGHTS

(1)

Employment

The Group primarily implements the following
policies and regulations concerning employee
recruitment and dismissal, compensation and
promotion, working hours, holidays, diversity, and
other benefits and welfare:

1. The remuneration of employees is in
accordance with the relevant provisions of the
Group's internal policy titled “MIE Holdings
Corporation’s Remuneration Management
System". The Group provides employees with
comprehensive and competitive packages
taking into account market competition and
equality within the Group. An employee’s
remuneration package is based on an
overall evaluation of work performance, the
employee’s relevant rank and position and
capability.
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The recruitment, promotion and dismissal of
employees of the Group in China are governed
by the “Labor Law of the People’s Republic
of China", the “Labor Contract Law of the
People’s Republic of China”, the "Policies
Governing Employee Relations of MIE Holdings
Corporation”, other national and regional
laws and regulations, and the Company's
administrative policies. Recruitment, promotion
and dismissal of employees in Hong Kong are
conducted in accordance with the “Employment
Ordinance” and other relevant Hong Kong laws
and regulations.

The working hours for employees in China are
strictly in accordance with the “Labor Contract
Law of the People’s Republic of China", namely
eight hours per day, 40 hours per week and
rest days include statutory holidays, Saturdays
and Sundays.

The Group provides its employees in China
with paid holidays in strict accordance with the
“Order of the State Council of the People’s
Republic of China (No.514) in relation to
the Regulation on Paid Annual Leave for
Employees”. For Hong Kong employees, paid
holidays are provided in strict accordance
with the provisions of the “General Holidays
Ordinance"and the"Employment Ordinance”.

Based on the principle of equality and anti-
discrimination, the Group complies with
the "Administrative Policies for Employee
Recruitment of MIE Holdings Corporation” for
recruitment matters.
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6. The Group has established a scientific and
reasonable performance appraisal system
and an effective incentive and restraint
mechanism to ensure the joint development of
the Company and its employees. In 2024, the
Group continued to optimize its KPl assessment
system, improved the quantification of its
evaluation standards and enhanced the
feasibility of its evaluation mechanism.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the
Group did not have any labor dispute, and did not
have any judgment against it on labor disputes.

The Group had 937 employees, comprising 800
males (85%) and 137 females (15%) as of December
31, 2024. Due to the nature of the Group’s business,
there are more male employees than female
employees.

Table 3: Staff Numbers by Work Function as of
December 31, 2024

6. ASERBEEENKLER
B EBETHEEENE
HEZEERFAE XA L E
KRS - 2EIRF DX
HMETHWHEBRE - =F
“HEE - AEEEEE
fLKPIZZEB R R E 5T
SEMELEE  BR=E
TR AR AIIRIEM o

BE-Z-_ME+-_A=+—H
LEFE NEERZELLEBU
fREl - EEBFHR -

BE-ZF-_ONF+ZA=1+—
H A"EBHBFEETI7H -
HAFEETS00A ' 1585% :
ZETIT137A " 1515% c HR AR
EEEKEE THERESR
BEITHELZNLZETHE -

kX3 HE-_ZT-_MWHF+ - H
—+t—BREENBERSENE
T1BER

Total
Total Core  Support  Operation
Work Function Technical ~ Production Support Management  production services services Total
BER RiiE LER XEE EEAY IREER XGEEE  BESH it
Tota aif 26 2 107 153 586 198 784 97
Table 4: Staff Numbers by Education Background as R4 BHE_ZE-_NF+=A
of December 31, 2024 =+ —HREBEZIHERESIEN
ETBNR
Technical
Secondary Junior
Masters and Junior School & High School
Education Category above Bachelor College High School  and below Total
HERE Byt REXR AEEN HFE-FF  ORRUT CH
Total it 6 78 179 362 312 937
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Table 5: Staff Numbers by Age Group as of
December 31, 2024

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RE L2 K

*b:EHE_ZFT_MWF+ - H
—+—HREBEFRIEMNETE
o

55 yrs and
Age Group 20-24 yrs 25-34 yrs 35-44 yrs 45-54 yrs above Total
Fik 20Z245 25%34m  3BZE4M4E 45E54E S5EmRNLE &%
Total CEl 6 100 380 325 126 937
Table 6: Staff Numbers by Geographical Region as of X6 HE_ZT-_NWF+ - A
December 31, 2024 =+t BARBHMESENE TR
o
Geographical Region PRC Hong Kong Total
) o B 3t HEE S &t
Total CEl 923 14 937
Table 7: Staff Numbers by Employment Type as of R7 HE-_Z-_NF+=A
December 31, 2024 —+—HARBERELSENE
TiER
Employment Type Full-time Part-time Total
EEER S R =1
Total CE 937 0 937
Table 8: Staff Turnover Rate by Age Group as of k8 HE_ZTE-_NWF+ = A
December 31, 2024 =+—HRBEURSENEER
NS
Gender Male Female Total
Bl B z &%
Total A&t 7.47% 1.28% 8.75%
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Table 9: Staff Turnover Rate by Age Group as of

RO BE_T— E—i—iﬂ

December 31,2024 =+ ARBFRIENEER
K=
55 yrs and
Age Group 20-24 yrs 25-34 yrs 35-44 yrs 45-54 yrs above Total
Fik 20Z245 25%34m 3BZE4M4E 45E54E S5EmRNLE Bt
Total B 0 1.07% 1.60% 2.24% 3.84% 8.75%
Table 10: Staff Turnover Rate by Geographical RI0:HE_ZE-_HFE+ = A
Region as of December 31, 2024 =+ —HRBEMESENEER
KL=
Geographical Region PRC Hong Kong Total
i 35 AR A 3 hEEE a5
Total CEl 8.75% 0% 8.75%
(2) Health and Safety (D) BREZZ

Since its establishment, the Group has placed great
emphasis on health, safety and environmental
protection management. It has adhered to
the following core management principles:
scientific management, health upmost, safety
first, environmental protection prioritization and
sustainable development. The Group is dedicated
to the creation of a culture rigorous corporate
safety culture and the establishment of a sound
management system. Concurrently, the Group
focuses on increasing employees’ and contractors’
attention towards safety and environmental
protection during the production process, raising
awareness and skills of employees and contractors
on safety risks identification and awareness,
accelerating clean production management and
reducing the business’s environmental impact.
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On July 3, 2023, the Group's Daan Oilfield's health,
safety and environmental management system
was endorsed by the auditors of the Beijing CNPC
Certification Center, and has also passed its renewal
audit.

The Group has consistently implemented and
complied with the “Law of the People’s Republic
of China on Work Safety”, "Law of the People’s
Republic of China on Prevention and Control
of Occupational Diseases”,
Administration of Occupational Health at Work
Sites”, "Regulations Governing the Declaration of
Projects with Occupational Hazards", "Regulations
Governing the Supervision and Administration of
Occupational Health Surveillance of Employers”,
"Regulations Governing the Supervision and
Administration of “Three Simultaneities” of safety
facilities for Construction Projects”, and national
standards including “Technical Specifications for
Occupational Health Surveillance"”, "Regulations
on Labor Protection in Workplaces Where Toxic
“Regulations on the
Control over Safety of Dangerous Chemicals" and
other relevant laws, regulations, rules, normative
documents, national standards, industry standards
and technical specifications in its provision of a safe
working environment.

“Provisions on the

Substances Are Used",

The Group strictly enforces the above laws,
regulations, rules, regulatory documents, standards
and technical specifications, strives to provide a
safe work environment for all employees and also
protects employees against occupational hazards.
During the three years ended December 31, 2024,
there was one employee (rate: 0.1%) of the Group
died from work-related matters in 2023. During
the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group did
not violate any relevant laws, regulations, rules,
normative documents, standards and technical
specifications.
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B /A F

Table 11: Safety Statistics of the Group during the FNMN HE_ZT_NHF+_ A
year ended December 31, 2024 =+ —HIEFEAEBLEH
=
Projects in China FEIEAR
Total  Recordable  Recordable Lost time Lost time

Scope work hours incidents incident rate incidents incident rate Deaths
#E BT TRREHY TIBSHE RIEHE RIZHE  BRAY
Company staff RAEETL 161,744 = = = = =
External contractors NEERE 28,160 - - - - -

The occupational health and safety measures, related
implementation and monitoring methods adopted by
the Group mainly include:

1. Establish an occupational health and safety
management administration team which is
staffed with full-time employees. The Group
currently has 7 registered national safety
engineers. Improve the safety production
responsibility system, improve the occupational
health management archive and management
system, strengthen the basic management
of occupational health and safety measures,
strictly implement management policies, refine
the management scope, and effectively avoid
health and safety risks. During the year ended
December 31, 2024, the Group organized
multiple special inspections to continuously
track and rectify any discovered problems.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
R -2 kERME (E)

2.

Establish occupational health monitoring
archives for employees of the Group,
implement the occupational health notification
system, regularly arrange occupational health
examinations for staff and make corresponding
work adjustments for employees that do not
suit their particular position.

Provide employees with requisite occupational
hazards precaution facilities and labor protection
supplies based on the findings of occupational
health assessment reports. Authorize a third
party occupational disease prevention and
control institution to regularly monitor and
assess potential occupational health hazards
of the Group, and evaluate the Group's
occupational hazards protection measures and
the efficacy of protection provided.

Provide work injury insurance, basic medical
insurance, serious illness insurance for
employees of the Group to fully protect their
interests.

Since the Group is engaged in oil exploration
and oil has certain dangerous and hazardous
characteristics, such as combustion, explosion
and secondary environmental pollution, the
Group has paid special attention to emergency
management and engaged experts to assess
the sources of hazards and pollution of the
Company; it has also developed contingency
plans for major sources of hazards and key
sources of pollution, and also regularly conducts
emergency drills.
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(3)

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the
Group organized a number of practice emergency
drills, to practice the implementation of plans such as
“Emergency Plan for Fire and Explosion Accidents”,
“Emergency Plan for Sudden Environmental
Incidents” and “Comprehensive Plan for Flood
and Drought Prevention”. Results of the practice
emergency drills were evaluated for feasibility and
any plans that were not applicable to the actual
scenarios were revised.

Development and Training

Throughout the year ended December 31, 2024, the
Group organized tailored training programs based
on the Group's development strategy, employee job
requirements and employees’ personal development
needs to accelerate the growth of employees’
working ability and professional quality. Through
the various tailored training programs, the Group
comprehensively developed the management ability
and skill levels of all employees across various
positions.

Aimed at improving the business standards, and
management ability and also overall ability among
management staff, the Group also offered targeted
professional knowledge training to strengthen
their common general skills. With the purpose of
improving the professional and technical ability of
technical personnel, the Group also placed emphasis
on the cultivation of their business knowledge and
ability, including the learning of basic knowledge,
application software tools, and new technology and
cutting-edge knowledge. As regards operational
staff, the Group aimed to strengthen their operating
skills, standardize the operation process and improve
operation ability by providing various trainings.
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Table 12: Staff Training Statistics by Employees
Category as of December 31, 2024

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
R -2 kERME (E)

R12:BE-_T_ME+ = A
=+t HXINEIHEREDLL

Senior Middle
Employees Category management management Others
BTHEA EREEAE THREEAE HhAE
Percentage Bkt 7% 18% 75%
Table 13: Average Staff Training Hours by Employees K13 HE-_T-_NNF+=A
Category as of December 31, 2024 =+ —HXIIRETERFHZ

BlEEES

Senior Middle
Employees Category management management Others
ETIEHR SREBEAE PREEBAE HtWAE
Average Training Hours FHFEE 34.00 2413 39.28

Table 14: Staff training Statistics by Gender as of
December 31, 2024

R4 - HE=z—_ZFT-_WUF+ A
—t+—HXIAEHNELZEDLL

Gender Male Female
4 Bl B z
Percentage Bkt 78% 22%

Table 15: Staff training Statistics by Gender and
Hours as of December 31, 2024

RI5b:HE_Z-_MNFE+ A
—t+—BEZBEIZAFHZI
B

Gender Male Female
% 51 £ z
Average Training Hours FHZHEE 38.56 27.44
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(4)

As there are more male than female employees in
the Group, the number of male employees who have
received training is also higher as compared to the
female employees. Also, due to the business scope
and working environment of the Group, project
staff who work outdoors receive more training
opportunities than the staff based in the office.
Given that there are more male employees working
on projects outdoors, the difference between the
number of average training hours for male and
female appear marked.

Labor Standards

The Group primarily implements and complies with
the relevant laws and regulations including the
“Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China” and
the “Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of
China” for the prevention of child labor and forced
labor.

The Group strictly abides by relevant laws and
regulations and conducts a rigorous inspection of
the identity of employees during recruitment and
employment to ensure that they are above 18 years
old, in an effort to eliminate the employment of
child labor or forced labor with in the Group. During
recruitment, we enter into employment contracts
with employees on the principle of equality and
voluntarism and keep track of work performance to
avoid any forced labor situations.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the
Group did not have any material violations of the
relevant standards or rules.
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(5)

Employee Care

The Group takes an interest in the spiritual and
cultural life of its employees and has organized a
series of cultural and recreational activities from time
to time including hiking, badminton, autumn outings,
Tug-of-War and sports games which have been
well received by employees. The five-day Chinese
New Year caring activities were carried out. In order
to improve the working environment for staff, the
Group provides staff dormitories, canteens, activity
rooms , organizes team building activities and so on.

IV. OPERATIONAL PRACTICES

(1)

Supply Chain Management

The Group continuously optimizes supply chain
management and has established a complete
management mechanism for supplier access,
use, evaluation, and exit to ensure supply quality
and avoid supply risks. As of December 31, 2024,
the Group has established relationships with 206
suppliers, including 169 based in the PRC suppliers
and 37 foreign suppliers. The Group adopts a prudent
attitude and strict standards on supplier selection.
Not only do we value product quality, service level,
business ethics, corporate reputation, but we also
place importance on their social responsibility
performance. At present, the Group's supply chain
management is carried out in accordance with the
“Civil Code of the People’s Republic of China” and
other laws of the countries where resources are
located. The Group has updated and improved its
"Policies Purchase of MIE Holdings Corporation”
and Business management system of controlled
corporation which provides a unified basis and
procedures for the selection and management of
suppliers and contractors.
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The Group has developed four supply chain
management modules centered on tender
management, contract management, material
management and supplier management. During the
process, suppliers and contractors are provided with
an opportunity for participation based on openness,
fairness and transparency. The Group puts forward
the requirements of honesty, trustworthiness,
legal operation, due attention to health, safety
and environmental protection for our suppliers
and contractors during pre-qualification, bidding,
provision of products and services, and performance
evaluation. At the same time, the Group also
includes anti-bribery and anti corruption clauses into
contract terms, creating a clean environment for
supply chain management.

The Group implements an order system and makes
purchases in accordance with the “Purchase Plan
Order"” issued by the material services department.
The relevant order would cover the budget amount,
material model, service contents and specific time
requirements, which subsequently makes the
completion of remaining steps in the supply chain
more smooth and efficient.

The Group selects vendors through tendering or
price negotiations. During the procurement process,
priority will be given to those suppliers that offer
a more favorable price for a product of the same
quality and also regular suppliers that have passed
the Group's yearly examination.

Input from multiple departments is tapped during the
acceptance inspection and quality control process
to more effectively control the quality of goods
and services. To confirm the quality of purchased
goods, joint acceptance inspection is conducted
by the procurement department and also the
relevant department that will use the goods. This
is supplemented by quality feedbacks during use.
For service projects, the engineering, production,
geology, safety and environmental protection, or
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
R -2 kERME (E)

(2)

(3)

other relevant professional departments will submit
their feedback on site. A timely feedback system is
implemented to receive information feedback during
the process. Feedback and processing results are
filed for review and integrated into yearly business
evaluations.

To guarantee the overall quality of its suppliers, the
Group organizes an annual assessment of suppliers,
based on their performance of contracts, standards
and quality system certification, health, safety,
environmental protection and other qualifications.
The Group will issue warnings to or remove suppliers
who have failed the assessment from its internal
list. The Group implements a dynamic management
system of registered suppliers and any supplier who
demonstrates serious non-compliance during the
business collaboration or fails the assessment will be
dismissed.

Product Responsibility

No information is disclosed in this report as the
indicators are not applicable to the industry to which
the Group belongs.

Anti-corruption

The Group pays high attention to the key factors
of compliance operations, continuously improving
governance and system construction, and
comprehensively strengthening resistance and
supervision against bribery, fraud, money laundering,
and other behaviors. In accordance with the “Law
of the PRC against Unfair Competition” and “The
Basic Norms of Internal Control”, the Group
has formulated and implemented policies such
as the "Whistleblowing Policy of MIE Holdings
Corporation”, the "Internal Audit System of
MIE Holdings Corporation”, the "Audit System
for Management Departures of MIE Holdings
Corporation”, " Special Audit (Interim) Policies of
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MIE Holdings Corporation”, the “Management
Measures for Internal Control Evaluation of MIE
Holdings Corporation”and such policies have been
in place since 2015 and reviewed in 2019, in 2023
and in 2024 in order to standardize the operation
and management of the Group, strengthen internal
control and audit supervision, ensure the safety and
integrity of the Group’s property and materials, and
ensure the smooth achievement of the Group’s
objectives, provide reasonable guarantees for use
of objective, truthful and effective management
information by all levels of management, ensure that
the business activities of various departments and
units are carried out in accordance with the operating
principles and policies of the Group and reduce
operational risks and improve performance.

The Group has established smooth compliance
complaint channels. Actively reporting, as one of the
sources of information in the audit plan, is set out as
part of the “Whistleblowing Policy of MIE Holdings
Corporation”. Actively reporting methods includes
correspondences, visits and internet submissions,
and is distributed as a management policy among all
employees for study and comprehension. During the
year ended December 31, 2024, the Group did not
receive any reports of crimes such as duty-related
crimes, bribery, extortion, blackmail, fraud and
money laundering.

V. COMMUNITY PARTICIPATION

While focusing on its own development, the Group
proactively assumes social responsibilities, pays attention
to the sustainable development of the local economy
and society, and actively participates in community
welfare activities, contributing to social and economic
development. During the reporting period, the Group
organized multiple village resident tea parties, providing
employment for 408 people in the local villages.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B8 T B

BUSINESS REVIEW
Overview

In 2024, the global economy remains moderate and
stagflationary, with both challenges and opportunities. As the
Russia-Ukraine conflict continues, the situation in the Middle
East is turbulent, the geopolitical risks continue to intensify, and
the game is complex, Organization of the Petroleum Exporting
Countries (“OPEC"”) and non-OPEC oil-producing countries
(collectively,”OPEC+") maintained the policy of reducing
production and maintaining prices. Under the combined effect
of geopolitical premium and tighter supply, global oil demand
has been flat, and international oil prices have risen and fallen.
Meanwhile, factors such as the U.S.-led Russia-Ukraine peace
talks and the postponement of the Federal Reserve's interest
rate cut will continue to put downward pressure on crude oil
prices. However, with the extension of the OPEC+ production
cut agreement and the unexpected recovery of the global
economy, the Chinese government has proposed a number
of reform measures to boost the market, which will provide
strong bottom support for the crude oil market. The global oil
supply and demand pattern will remain basically balanced, and
international oil prices will remain relatively high, with weak
fluctuations. The rapid development of digital and intelligent
technologies , as well as the wide application of new energy
technologies, will greatly improve the efficiency of oil and gas
exploration and development and reduce production costs. The
Group actively responds to various risks and challenges, and
continues to promote safety and environmental protection,
stable production and efficiency improvement to achieve stable
growth in operating efficiency.

At the same time, the successful completion of the Group’s
debt restructuring on March 30, 2022 was another positive
measure for the Group to further improve its financial position,
which greatly improved the Company’s operating environment.
Pursuant to the Supplemental PSC entered into on June 4,
2020, the Group was required to drill 268 new wells within 3
years after June 2020. As at the end of 2022, all the 268 new
wells required to be drilled under the Supplemental PSC were
completed, several months ahead of the deadline requirement
contemplated in the Supplemental PSC. During 2023, the Group
successfully obtained an approval from CNPC to extend the
expiry date of the commercial production period of Daan Qilfield
from December 31, 2024 to February 29, 2028.
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The Group didn’t consolidate any results related to the
Moliging Qilfield in 2024, as it was sold out in 2023. In 2024,
the Group’s gross production of oil generated from the Daan
Oilfield decreased by 10.5% to approximately 3.34 million
barrels compared to that of 3.73 million barrels in 2023. The
net production of oil from Daan Qilfield decreased by 13.7%
to approximately 1.58 million barrels compared to that of 1.83
million barrels in 2023. During 2024, the net oil sales volume of
Daan Oilfield decreased by 11.2% to approximately 1.58 million
barrels compared to that of 1.78 million barrels in 2023.

In 2024, the average realized crude oil price of the Group
from the PRC segment increased by 1.1% to US$79.75 per
barrel compared to 2023. The Group’s revenue from the PRC
segment decreased by 13.4% to RMB897.5 million compared
to 2023, which was mainly due to the decrease of net oil
production from Daan Oilfield, apart from the impact raised by
the disposition of the Moliging Qilfield. In 2024, the loss for the
year of the Group is RMB329.0 million and the basic loss per
share is RMBO0.10.

In 2024, the Group's EBITDA from the PRC segment decreased
by RMB200.5 million to RMB531.1 million from RMB731.6
million in 2023 and the adjusted EBITDA decreased by
RMB138.0 million to RMB611.5 million.

The Group timely shifted work program to more well
optimization and accordingly the lifting cost increased by
US$3.28/barrel or 24.7%, from US$13.28/barrel in 2023 to
US$16.56/barrel in 2024. Adjusted EBITDA per barrel decreased
by US$2.42, or 4.2%, from US$57.83 in 2023 to US$55.41 in
2024, which was mainly due to the decrease of sales volume of
crude oil.

As at December 31, 2024, the Group operated a total of 2,696
wells and they are all located in China. The total headcount of
the Group decreased from 1,003 as at December 31, 2023 to
937 as at December 31, 2024.
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I\/Ianagement Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
BEENmEDT (E)

The following table provides a recap of the Group’'s Daan WU TRASEALZHA T _NFEE2FH
Qilfield key operational metrics for 2024: B8 S BUE

2024 2023 % Change
“EomE 2= sl

Average Daily Gross Oil Production (barrels/day) AR HBEE (§,/X) 9,137 10,224 (10.6%)
Average Daily Net Oil Production (barrels/day) AYREFEE (B/X) 4,323 5,027 (14.0%)

The following table sets out the summary of the expenditures A T2AREE —ZT - MFEEHLHHE
incurred in our exploration, development and production B3¢ M AE S HEEAHIE :
activities for 2024:

Production/

Exploration Development operating
(millions of RMB) expenditures expenditures expenditures
ARBBET BHEX E S £ERAK
China Projects (Daan) FEER (K%) - 46 200
Reserves HEERE

Summaries of the Group's 2024 year-end reserves are as A TR T _NFEAEBERERE
follows:

1. The Group's net Proved (“1P") oil reserves for 2024 is 3.56 1. — & — P4 K /K& £ B % & % &5 88
million barrels, Proved + Probable (“2P") net oil reserves ([MP) RmfEE A366 811 FHEH
is 5.42 million barrels and Proved + Probable + Possible +BE ([2P)) R /\fﬂﬂ MERNENR
(“3P") net oil reserves is 8.02 million barrels. FRA+BLE + AT ([3P)) [RBfEE

#8028 -

oy

2. Based on 2024 year-end reserves estimate reviewed by 2. REBYEBEMTFEOER  Fik

independent consultants, the Group's 2P net present 10% Bh IR EETFE - AEBR=-F
value, before tax and discounted at 10% (“NPV10") is THFRPPERGEENHANFEE
approximately US$190 million. (TNPV10]) 9 &1.9183E T °

The Table 1 below outlines Group's net reserves as at —EMFEARENFEHEBZ2A
December 31, 2024. zx1o
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Table 1 The Group Net Reserves

2024 2023
2024 2023
Total
0il NGL Gas (Note 1) 0l NGL
REE

i NGL ® (1) i NGL

Gas

faf

RITEBEFHE
Change 2023-2024
20232024528
Total Total Total %
(Note 1) Qil NGL Gas (Note 1) Change
mEE BEE fREE

(Rit1) A NGL RO(RE1) BlELE

(Mbbl)  (Mbbl)  (MMcf)  (Mboe) ~ (Mbbl)  (Mbbl) ~ (MMcf)  (Mboe)  (Mbbl)  (Mbbl)  (MMcf)  (Mboe)

1P: PROVED 1P ¥
China Qil Property REEAEE 3,563 = - 3563 503 = - 5033 (1,470) - - (14700 -29%
Total 1P P& 3,563 - - 3563 5033 - - 5033 (1,470) - - (14700 -29%
2P: PROVED 2P 78

+PROBABLE +#E
China Oil Property HEEAEE 5417 - - 5417 9024 - - 9024  (3607) - - (3607 -40%
Total 2P PH#EE 5417 - - b417 9,024 - - 9024 (3607) - - (3607 -40%
3P: PROVED 3P 7H

+PROBABLE +HE8

+POSSIBLE +8E
China Oil Property HERAEE 8,016 - - 8016 11,749 - - 11,749 (3733) - - (3733 -32%
Total 3P P& 8,016 - - 8016 11,749 - - 11,749 (3733) - - (3733 -32%

Note 1. 1 BOE = 6,000 SCF

The price assumptions used to determine 2024 year-
end reserves are based on price projections published by
Sproule for WTI Crude. An average differential for January
to December of 2024 between WTI Cushing Spot and
Daging of US$3.71/Barrel was used. The differential is
assumed to remain constant in the future.
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2025 Guidance

On June 4, 2020, the Group and China National Petroleum
Corporation (the "CNPC") signed a modification and
supplemental agreement of the petroleum development and
production contract for Daan Qilfield (“Supplemental PSC").
Pursuant to the Supplemental PSC, the Group will continue to
operate the Daan Qilfield and shall invest in and drill a minimum
of 268 new wells within three years after the effective date
of the Supplemental PSC. As at December 31, 2022, the
Group has completed the drilling of the 268 new wells, several
months ahead of the deadline requirement contemplated in
the Supplemental PSC. During 2023, the Group successfully
obtained an approval from CNPC to extend the expiry date
of the commercial production period of Daan Qilfield from
December 31, 2024 to February 29, 2028.

The Group's 2025 capex and production guidance is set out in
the table below.

—E-hFEL

TEZEFAAWEA ASEEFBEGH
AAREEBRAARI(ATHEHBIRABE
EEZETALHEBREMEERBER
ST g (A TR iHEl)
BiEZEAHE  ~AEBEBEEETAL
HENERXE UHEEHABBEERE=
FARETEBHRERZL2680FF - HE—
T __F+ZA=+—H AKEHET
B bt 2 ZR 3 HH 268 O ¢ B IE 1 R
FHREMEILBARAKEAEK KT
ZEF  AEEKRIIKPFAEHEEESH
R HEEELEESRMNIBER S
E-NF+-_A=Z+t—RHRERE=-ZE-N
F_AZ+hB-

UTRAEE S -_AFEMEARFLZM
E=E¥ESl -

Interest Numbers Group Capex
of Wells Investment Net production
Ex BAYE SEELXBAXZIRE FEE
(%) (wells)  (millions of US$)
() (B&%xr)
China Project (Daan) Foreign - 8 3,500-4,500 barrels/day
— Crude oil contractor
HEIER (KR) SNEIE R 3,500-4,500 1, &
— R 100%
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FINANCIAL RESULTS
Revenue

The Group's revenue generated from sales of oil and gas
products and provision of services.

The Group's revenue generated from sales of oil and gas
was entirely contributed by our oil fields located in China. The
Group's revenue from sales of oil and gas in 2024 decreased
by RMB137.6 million, or 13.3%, from RMB1,034.9 million in
2023 to RMB897.3 million, primarily due to the decrease of net
sales of crude oil of the Daan Qilfield and the disposition of the
Moliging Qilfield. The average realized oil price was US$79.75
per barrel and net sales of crude oil was 1.6 million barrels
in 2024, as compared to US$78.89 per barrel and 1.9 million
barrels in 2023.

The Group’'s revenue generated from rendering of services
was RMBO0.3 million in 2024 and RMB1.1 million in 2023,
respectively.

Depreciation, depletion and amortization

The Group's depreciation, depletion and amortization decreased
by RMB5.1 million, or 1.4%, from RMB367.8 million in 2023
to RMB362.7 million in 2024. The decrease in depreciation,
depletion and amortization was mainly due to the decrease in
net production of crude oil.
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SIRENmADIT(8)

Taxes other than income taxes

The Group's taxes other than income taxes decreased by
RMB5.1 million, or 10.5%, from RMB48.6 million for 2023 to
RMB43.5 million for 2024. The following table summarizes
taxes other than income taxes for the years ended December
31, 2024 and December 31, 2023:

BLE (FTEBERID)

AEENBIE (MEHBRIINB-_T=_=§
BFEEAR®K48608 LR AR50
BETH105%E_Z _NPKFEEARK
43508 TRBEHE-_FT _WFE+=
A=+—HLEFEREBEE-_ZT-_=F+=
RA=+—RB I EHIE (FEHRERIN) :

Year ended December 31,

BE+=A=+-8

IEEE
2024 2023
—E-E —T=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARE TR AREF T
PRC: RE -
Special oil gain levy AaFRkES 40,633 45,171
Urban construction tax and education W 2B &K N
surcharge 2,838 3,370
Others HAh 44 44
43,515 48,585
PRC +
Special oil gain levy e ka1 &

With effect from January 1, 2015, the threshold price for special
oil gain levy was revised from US$55 per barrel to US$65 per
barrel by the announcement of the Ministry of Finance of the
PRC. Special oil gain levy was RMB40.6 million in 2024 and
RMB45.2 million in 2023, respectively. The decrease in special
oil gain levy was mainly due to the decrease of net sales of
crude oil.

R EE A B RN B B KT B4 R B BT A E
Rl BB ENSsE T/ B
SHesERL M BT —RHAF—A—AH
E e AR RBERBIB65ET, MiE
ENAEBRFEIREER T _MNFER=F
Z=EFEDRAAREKL4060E TR AR
452087 c AHFRMRERIEER
BRFERFIHENEE -
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Employee benefit expenses
The Group's employee benefit expenses decreased by RMB1.5

from RMB94.9 million for 2023 to RMB93.4
million for 2024. The decrease in employee benefit expenses

million, or 1.6%,

was primarily due to the disposition of the Moliging Oilfield,
the relevant employee benefit expenses incurred amounting to
RMB1.1 million in 2023.

Purchases, services and other direct costs

Our purchases, services and other direct costs decreased by
RMB2.8 million, or 1.3%, from RMB216.4 million for 2023 to
RMB213.6 million for 2024. The decrease was primarily due
to: (i) a decrease of RMB7.7 million in purchases, services
and other direct costs as a result of the disposition of
Moliging Oilfield; (ii) a decrease of RMB7.7 million in general
administrative expenses; (iii) a decrease of RMB4.4 million in
distribution expenses as a result of the decrease in the net
sales of crude oil; and was partially offset by (iv) an increase
of RMB16.0 million in operating expenses related to the Daan
Oilfield due to the increase in workload of measures.

Provision for impairment losses on assets

Due to the decrease of the recoverable amount with the
approaching of the expiration date of the Daan PSC (February
29, 2028), the Group recognized impairment losses on assets in
2024: (i) impairment losses on oil and gas properties amounting
to RMB91.2 million; and (ii) impairment losses on mineral
interests amounting to RMB2.2 million. The Group did not
recognize any impairment loss on assets in 2023.

Other gains/(losses), net

The Group’s other gains, net increased by RMB31.1 million, or
1,727.8%, from RMB1.8 million for 2023 to RMB32.9 million for
2024. The increase was mainly due to: (i) the Group recorded a
loss of RMB23.0 million on the disposal of the Moliging Qilfield
and 40% equity interest and certain related receivables of
Palaeontol B.V. in 2023, but nil in 2024; and (ii) an increase of
RMB6.0 million in the net change gains in fair value of derivative
components of the borrowings.
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Finance costs

The Group’s finance costs increased by RMB11.1 million, or
2.9%, from RMB383.7 million for 2023 to RMB394.8 million for
2024. The increase was mainly due to the amortization amount
of loan interest gradually increases as the loan maturity date
approaches.

Loss before income tax

The Group’s loss before income tax was RMB270.8 million for
2024, compared to the loss before income tax of RMB73.7
million for 2023, representing an increase of RMB197.1 million.
The increase was primarily due to a decrease in revenue of
RMB138.4 million and the recognition of impairment loss on
assets of RMB93.4 million for 2024.

Income tax expense

The Group recorded an income tax expense of RMB58.1 million
for 2024, compared to an income tax expense of RMB83.8
million for 2023.

Loss for the year

The Group's net loss in 2024 was RMB329.0 million, compared
to the net loss of RMB157.5 million in 2023.
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EBITDA AND ADJUSTED EBITDA

We provide a reconciliation of EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA
to (loss)/profit before income tax, our most direct comparable
financial performance calculated and presented in accordance
with IFRS Accounting Standards. EBITDA refers to earnings
before finance income, finance costs, income tax and
depreciation, depletion and amortization. Adjusted EBITDA
refers to EBITDA adjusted to exclude non-cash and non-
recurring items such as share-based payment to employees,
net impairment losses on financial assets, impairment charges,
changes in fair value of financial instruments and any other non-
cash or non-recurring income/expenses.

The Group’s adjusted EBITDA reflects the Group’s recurring
cash flow earnings from its core operations.

We have included EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA as we believe
that EBITDA is a financial measure commonly used in the
oil and gas industry. We believe that EBITDA and adjusted
EBITDA are used as supplemental financial measures by our
management and by investors, research analysts, bankers and
others, to assess our operating performance, cash flow and
return on capital as compared to those of other companies
in our industry, and our ability to take on financing. However,
EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA should not be considered in
isolation or construed as alternatives to profit from operations
or any other measure of performance or as an indicator of our
operating performance or profitability. EBITDA and adjusted
EBITDA fail to account for corporate tax, finance income,
finance costs and other non-operating cash expenses. EBITDA
and adjusted EBITDA do not consider any functional or legal
requirements of the business that may require us to conserve
and allocate funds for any purposes.

The following table presents a reconciliation between EBITDA
and adjusted EBITDA and (loss)/profit before income tax for the
years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023:
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$%@:::EW%EFW$HM%A
R¥ 486618 M T _=MHKFELD
)\Eﬁ%aweﬁﬁ cZE N KFEED
EBITDARY R A EZEHRASEE T Mt
%iﬁWAW > A R %5 1.384 18 7T 7 B FE
REEREBEBIAREKY, 340%7_5 °

The Group generated EBITDA of RMB486.6 million in 2024,
compared to RMB677.6 million in 2023. The decrease in
EBITDA in 2024 was primarily due to a decrease in revenue of
RMB138.4 million and the recognition of impairment loss on
assets of RMB93.4 million for 2024.

RNEBHKFHLEBITDAR - - = KF
EHHARE6.832 BRI M AR 1.272
1:%‘\7Eﬁ18.6%i_3 _EHM%EE,%’W\E
¥ 5.656018 7T &< FHEEBITDAB L X B2
AR RHEFIHEMN TR BIKARD

The Group's adjusted EBITDA decreased by approximately
RMB127.2 million, or 18.6%, from approximately RMB683.2
million in 2023 to approximately RMB556.0 million in 2024. The
decrease in adjusted EBITDA was primarily due to the decrease
of the sales revenue caused by the decrease of net sales of
crude oil.

Year ended December 31,

BEt+-A=t—H

IHEE
2024 2023
—EmE —T=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® TR AR®EF T
Loss before income tax B FT1S T AT E 18 (270,828) (73,708)
Interest income FEHBA (3) (167)
Finance costs MBER 394,785 383,667
Depreciation, depletion and amortization PreEe ~ I FE Mo 5 362,682 367,758
EBITDA EBITDA 486,636 677,550
Provision for impairment losses on assets & ER{EE %k 93,402 -
Net impairment losses on financial assets & Rl &E R EE % - 348
Net change in fair value of the derivative 2024 BB R E K
components of the 2024 Senior Notes PTEEBOBRAREEE
and the new secured borrowings H))F 58 (24,033) (17,746)
Gains on disposal of 40% equity interest FEE PBV 40% &Y x4 &
and certain related receivables in PBV = T RBEKGIEN R - (340)
Losses on disposal of 10% foreign BREEETEMONER
contractors interest in the Moliging PSC FEENI10%INFE
BER: 10k ES - 23,348
Adjusted EBITDA & EBITDA 556,005 683,160
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Year ended December 31, 2024
BE-_Z-_NF+-A=+—-HLEFE

PRC Others Total
H Hity Gl

RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®TR AR®Tx

Profit/(loss) before income tax BrETSFATRIE,(&8) 31,792 (302,620) (270,828)
Interest income B UWA (2) (1) (3)
Finance costs B ER 140,003 254,782 394,785
Depreciation, depletion and

amortization e MEREH 359,303 3,379 362,682
EBITDA EBITDA 531,096 (44,460) 486,636
Provision for impairment losses on BEMBERE

assets 93,402 - 93,402
Net change in fair value of the 2024 BB N EK e

derivative components of the 2024 PTTELOH AR BES

Senior Notes and the new secured ") S5

borrowings (13,002) (11,031) (24,033)
Adjusted EBITDA £ EBITDA 611,496 (55,491) 556,005
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EBE R R ()

Year ended December 31, 2023

BEZZ-_=F+-A=+—HIEHFE
PRC Others Total
H Hity &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®EFT AREFT ARET T
Profit/(loss) before income tax BRETS R RIFIE,(EE) 215,293 (289,001) (73,708)
Interest income FEWA (166) (M (167)
Finance costs P E=4= 151,966 231,701 383,667
Depreciation, depletion and amortization #7& « 7 ¥ & # §& 364,539 3,219 367,758
EBITDA EBITDA 731,632 (54,082) 677,550
Net impairment losses on financial assets % & & 2 il (B 18 & (33) 381 348
Net change in fair value of the 2024 BERBERNEREL
derivative components of the MTESIN AR EBEE
2024 Senior Notes and the B8
new secured borrowings (5,144) (12,602) (17,746)
Gains on disposal of 40% equity interest & & PBV 40% R #E M & T
and certain related receivables in PBV 4878 & U kI8 By Uk - (340) (340)
Losses on disposal of 10% foreign REEESERHKAERT
contractors’ interest in the Moliging BEEN10%IFEREE
PSC BERHEBX 23,034 314 23,348
Adjusted EBITDA K FIEEEBITDA 749,489 (66,329) 683,160
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES RBEERELRER
The Group's primary source of cash during 2024 was cash AEBE T _NFHNETBHRESKBELAKES
generated from operating activities. E@J%Elﬂ’ﬁﬁi ME °

In 2024, the Group had net cash of RMB493.7 million generated
from operating activities, net cash of RMB255.9 million used
in investing activities, net cash of RMB220.5 million used in
financing activities, a net increase in cash and cash equivalents
of RMB17.3 million and an exchange loss on cash and cash

equivalent of RMB8.3 million.

RZZTZNF  ARAEEEHEENR
©FBEHBAREL937ET  REZHFER
MIRE FEAARK 26698 - BEEES
FAMNRSFEAARK2205E T B
MRS EEYFEMABARK17308 T
ERERBASEEBMNINEBRABARK
830& T °
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Cash generated from operating activities

Net cash generated from operating activities was RMB493.7
million in the year ended December 31, 2024. In the year
ended December 31, 2024, our net cash generated from
operating activities included loss before income tax of
RMB270.8 million adjusted for, depreciation, depletion and
amortization of RMB362.7 million, interest income of RMB3.0
thousand, interest expenses of RMB374.3 million, provision
for impairment losses on assets of RMB93.4 million, exchange
losses of RMB20.4 million, net change in fair value of the
derivative components of the 2024 Senior Notes and new
secured borrowings of RMB24.0 million, write off of other
payables of RMB5.8 million. The cash movements from
changes in working capital which included a decrease in trade
and other receivables of RMB2.1 million, an increase in trade
and other payable of RMB39.7 million, a decrease of inventories
of RMBO0.9 million and income taxes paid of RMB99.2 million.

Net cash generated from operating activities was RMB515.0
million in the year ended December 31, 2023. In the year ended
December 31, 2023, our net cash generated from operating
activities included loss before income tax of RMB73.7 million
adjusted for, depreciation, depletion and amortization of
RMB367.8 million, interest income of RMBO0.2 million, interest
expenses of RMB360.7 million, impairment losses on financial
assets of RMBO0.3 million, exchange losses of RMB22.9 million,
net change in fair value of the derivative components of the
2024 Senior Notes and new secured borrowings of RMB17.7
million, write off of other payables of RMB3.5 million, gains on
disposal of 40% equity interest and certain related receivables
in PBV of RMBO0.3 million and losses on disposal of 10%
foreign contractors interest in the Moliging PSC of RMB23.3
million. The cash movements from changes in working capital
which included a decrease in trade and other receivables of
RMB11.0 million, a decrease in trade and other payable of
RMB12.4 million, an increase of inventories of RMB7.7 million
and income taxes paid of RMB155.5 million.
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I\/Ianagement Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

SIRENmADIT(8)

Cash used in investing activities

Net cash used in investing activities in the year ended
December 31, 2024 amounted to RMB255.9 million, as a result
of: (i) purchases of property, plant and equipment of RMB203.4
million; (i) net increase in restricted bank deposits of RMB52.4
million; and (iii) interest received of RMB3.0 thousand.

Net cash used in investing activities in the year ended
December 31, 2023 amounted to RMB298.0 million, as a result
of: (i) purchases of property, plant and equipment of RMB301.7
million; (i) net increase in restricted bank deposits of RMB28.5
(iii) interest received of RMBO0.2 million; and (iv)
Proceeds from disposal of 10% foreign contractors’ interest in
the Moliging PSC of RMB32.0 million.

million;

Cash used in financing activities

Net cash used in financing activities in the year ended
2024 amounted to RMB220.5 million due to: (i)
repayments of secured borrowings of RMB204.0 million and
repayments of the 2024 Senior Notes of RMB10.7 million; and
(ii) payment of lease liabilities of RMB5.8 million.

December 31,

Net cash used in financing activities in the year ended
2023 amounted to RMB282.3 million due to: (i)
repayments of secured borrowings of RMB265.1 million and
repayments of the 2024 Senior Notes of RMB12.1 million; and
(ii) payment of lease liabilities of RMB5.2 million.

December 31,
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Borrowings

As at December 31, 2024, the borrowings from financial
institutions and third parties amounted to approximately
RMB2,920.1 million, representing an increase of approximately
RMB157.4 million as compared to December 31, 2023. Among
the Group's borrowings, borrowings repayable within one year
amounted to approximately RMB133.2 million, representing a
decrease of RMB78.6 million as compared to that of December
31, 2023. All of the Group's borrowings are denominated in US
dollars or Hong Kong dollars. The Group's borrowings are all
at fixed interest rates. No hedging instruments were used for
borrowings.

Our gearing ratio, which is defined as total borrowings less cash
and cash equivalents (“Net Borrowings”) divided by the sum
of Net Borrowings and total equity, changed from 338.6% as at
December 31, 2023 to 492.4% as at December 31, 2024.

Our total borrowings to adjusted EBITDA ratio, which is defined
as total borrowings divided by adjusted EBITDA increased from
4.0 as at December 31, 2023 to 5.3 as at December 31, 2024.

Market Risks

Our market risk exposures primarily consist of fluctuations in oil
prices and exchange rates.

Oil price risk

Our realized oil prices are determined with reference to oil
prices in the international market. Unstable and highly volatile
international oil prices may have a significant impact on our
revenue and profit.

Currency risk

The majority of the Group's China operation sales are in US
dollars, while production and other expenses in China are
incurred in RMB. As RMB is not a freely convertible currency
and is regulated by the PRC government, limitations on foreign
exchange transactions imposed by the PRC government could
cause future exchange rates to vary significantly from current or
historical exchange rates.
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The Group currently does not engage in hedging activities
designed or intended to manage foreign exchange rate risk. The
Group will continue to monitor foreign exchange changes to
best preserve the Group’s cash value.

CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

As at December 31, 2024, all of the Group's interests under
the PSCs in China, certain of the bank accounts and shares
of certain subsidiaries are pledged to secure the borrowings
granted to the Group with the balance of RMB1,613.6 million.

EMPLOYEES

As at December 31, 2024, the Company had 937 employees,
all based in China (Mainland China and Hong Kong). There are
no material changes to the information disclosed in the 2023
Annual Report in respect of the remuneration of employees,
remuneration policies and staff development.

CONTINGENCIES

The Board of Directors is not aware of any material contingent
liabilities of the Group as at December 31, 2024.

DIVIDEND

The Board of Directors did not recommend the payment of final
dividend for the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Company has reviewed the
consolidated financial information of the Group for the year
2024 including the accounting policies
adopted by the Group and has discussed the internal controls
and financial reporting matters of the Group.

ended December 31,
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Independent Auditor’'s Report
BN Z B S

IBDO

B5% 1 +852 2218 8288
{8H : +852 2815 2239

Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

25t Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central

Hong Kong
HETHERI115E
JKERHIH2548

www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
MIE HOLDINGS CORPORATION
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of MIE
Holdings Corporation (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) set out on pages 117 to 276, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at December 31, 2024, and the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at December 31, 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IFRS
Accounting Standards”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants’ “Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to Note 3.3 in the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that during the year ended
December 31, 2024, the Group incurred a net loss of RMB329.0
million. As at December 31, 2024, the Group’s current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by RMB222.2 million and there was
a deficit on the shareholders’ funds of RMB2,269.8 million. As
at the same date, the Group had total borrowing of RMB2,920.1
million and cash and cash equivalents of RMB71.9 million only.
These events and conditions, along with other matters as set
forth in Note 3.3 indicate that a material uncertainty exists that
may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this
matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current year. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole and, in forming
our opinion thereon, we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. In addition to the matter described in the
“Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern” section, we
have determined the matters described below to be the key
audit matters to be communicated in our report.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Impairment assessment of oil and gas properties and
intangible assets

Refer to accounting policy on impairment of non-financial
assets in Note 4.7, critical accounting estimates in Note
6.1(c) and disclosure of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets in Notes 8 and 9 to the consolidated financial
statements, respectively.

As at December 31, 2024, the carrying amount of oil and gas
properties and intangible assets of the Group amounted to
RMB928.6 million and RMB22.3 million, respectively.

Management assessed the oil and gas properties and
intangible assets for impairment (or impairment reversal)
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicated that
the carrying amount of the assets was larger (or smaller) than
the recoverable amount. When indicators of impairment (or
impairment reversal) were identified, management assessed
the recoverable amount of oil and gas properties and intangible
assets of the cash generating units (“CGU") based on their
value in use as estimated using discounted cash flow models.
In performing such assessments, management adopted key
assumptions, including:

° forecast crude oil prices;

o forecast production volumes;

o forecast operating costs and capital expenditure; and
° discount rates.

We focused on auditing the impairment review of the oil and
gas properties and intangible assets because the estimation
of the recoverable amount is subject to a high degree of
estimation uncertainty. The inherent risk in relation to the
impairment assessment of the oil and gas properties and
intangible assets is considered significant due to significant
management judgement and assumptions involved in
estimating the recoverability of the carrying amount.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

BN AR E (8)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Impairment assessment of oil and gas properties and
intangible assets (Continued)

Given the significant balance of oil and gas properties and
intangible assets as at December 31, 2024, together with the
considerations mentioned above, we identified this matter as a
key audit matter.

Our responses:

Our procedures in relation to management’'s impairment
assessment of oil and gas properties and intangible assets
included:

o obtaining an understanding of assessment process
relating to the identification of the indicators of impairment
or impairment reversal, determination of cash generating
units and the assessment of the recoverable amount;

o evaluating the competence, capability and objectivity of
external reserve experts engaged by management for
preparing the reserve report;

o challenging the reasonableness of management’s key
assumptions adopted in valuation, including discount rate
by comparing with the historical actual costs and available
market data;

o testing the mathematical accuracy of the discounted cash
flow projections; and

o considering whether the judgements made in selecting
the significant assumptions and data would give rise to
indicators of possible management bias.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

BN AZ B (48)

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in
the annual report of the Company, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

BN AR E (8)

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the
directors in discharging their responsibility in this regard.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue the auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with the
terms of our engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

BN B RS (8)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

o evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

BN AR E (8)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

° conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the
group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group
financial statements. \We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

BN AZ B (48)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear
on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Ng Wai Man
Practising Certificate Number P05309

Hong Kong, March 21, 2025

116 MIEHOLDINGS CORPORATION / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

BB E SO BRRARREN
B (&)

BATRAEZZESRIEH  HALM

ENAABBLENEREREEEX
WEHEMFEBMAESEMKASETER
PIBEMBERERMEMER  AREER
BIER T - AEER BB FTERERETTE) P

PRl S 45 1 -

HHEERBBNEED  RMABEWLSR
RHANPREE HMBRENBARBEER
HAmEKRERESFER - HMSEXEED
BEESPHMELER  RIPDERERT
AFHRAHFHREL LR RE &SR
:’Eﬁﬁ’j'FiRT FHEERBMERMNER

EPEEXEEMERNNEERRES

tﬂﬁ?ia’m%ﬂ AT = T
SRR TN ERESH(EEZEFE -
BRI GEREZESTMEXRERL A
HEDFAD

hER

3£ 55 Z 4% 9% P05309

&6 202563 A 21 H



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

PRI IS AL SR

As at December 31,

M12H31H
2024 2023
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
Mo e AR®FTRT AREFTT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment TEE  THRER 8 951,943 1,338,914
Intangible assets EmREE 9 22,257 33,057
Right-of-use assets FREEE 10 4,521 7,654
Financial assets at fair value WAREBENEZAE
through other comprehensive SE)ET AR MER S S
income (“FVOCI") HNEFEE 13 13,782 13,539
Prepayments, deposits and R REE R
other receivables At i I3k 15 126 322
Restricted cash PR HIEE & 17 176,149 123,406
Total non-current assets FREEELTE 1,168,778 1,516,892
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 16 27,533 30,439
Prepayments, deposits and ER® - RES R
other receivables H b e 5K 15 44,634 29,077
Trade receivables JE U BR X 14 68,223 85,584
Restricted cash X R #3R & 17 1,142 1,429
Cash and cash equivalents HeRREEEY 18 71,883 62,905
Total current assets MEBEEHAE 213,415 209,434
Total assets EEHE 1,382,193 1,726,326
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)
B IR K (5B)

As at December 31,

M12HB31H
2024 2023
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
Mo e AR®TRT AREFT
EQUITY EE
Equity attributable to owners FEBRARBEENER
of the Company
Share capital and share premium P& AR B B% A4 (B 23 1,108,175 1,108,175
Reserves i (3,378,000)  (3,010,674)
Total shareholders’ deficit BRERE AT (2,269,825)  (1,902,499)
LIABILITIES a8E
Non-current liabilities FERBEE
Borrowings B 21 2,786,845 2,550,953
Lease liabilities HEEaE 10 1,961 3,398
Deferred income tax liabilities BEMGHAE 22 128,309 175,933
Trade payables FERTBR X 19 16,617 37,892
Provisions, accruals and M TEIR R EAM SR
other payables 20 282,674 229,429
Total non-current liabilities ERBEEEEE 3,216,406 2,997,605
Current liabilities nEAE
Trade payables e BR X 19 123,105 228,294
Provisions, accruals and At TRIR R E bR FK
other payables 20 133,623 150,284
Lease liabilities HEaE 10 2,786 4,564
Current income tax liabilities EHIFTISTHEaE 42,881 36,283
Borrowings B 21 133,217 211,795
Total current liabilities B EEEEE 435,612 631,220
Total liabilities BEHAZE 3,652,018 3,628,825
Total shareholders’ deficit BREEREEHEE
and liabilities 1,382,193 1,726,326
Net current liabilities BERBEE 222,197 421,786
Total assets less current liabilities EEZAFERERBEE 946,581 1,095,106
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)
BHM B RE (B)

The consolidated financial statements on pages 117 to 276 $117E276 B 2 A M 1§ R &K B 712025
were approved and authorized for issue by the board of 3821 HE=E= i &I K3 I

directors on March 21, 2025 and signed on its behalf by: REREEGEE:
Zhao Jiangwei Mei Liming
IS sk il
Director Chief Executive Officer
EFE BEBITE
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
iR e Wtk

Year ended December 31,
HZ12A31BLLEE
2024 2023

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
e ARBTR ARETRE

Revenue from contracts with EEERWA

customers 7 897,537 1,035,983
Depreciation, depletion and e - TR

amortization (362,682) (367,758)
Taxes other than income taxes I8 (FT3BBR M) 27 (43,515) (48,585)
Employee benefit expenses BT HBMA R 30 (93,379) (94,944)
Purchases, services and g - RIS R EMBEERAR

other direct costs (213,540) (216,386)
Net impairment losses on TREERBEEX

financial assets 5.1(b) - (348)
Provision for impairment losses BERERX

on assets 8,9 (93,402) -
Other gains/(losses), net HaFB,/(18K) - 58 26 32,935 1,830
Interest income *'J/%\J%U\ 3 167
Finance costs &R 28 (394,785) (383,667)
Loss before income tax BRETISBATE 1B 29 (270,828) (73,708)
Income tax expense FriEsiER 31 (58,132) (83,822)

Loss attributable to owners of BEBRAQXTMEEN
the Company for the year REEFIE (328,960) (157,530)

Other comprehensive income, net & H 4R E W :

of tax:
Item that may be reclassifiedto @ EHZTHEEELSEZEZH
profit or loss: EH :
Exchange differences arising on BB IR INETEE Y
translation of foreign operations EHZRE 11,134 22,972

Items that will not be reclassified BHETEELBEZERZNIER :
to profit or loss:

Change in fair value of equity HELAAREBEEFERE

investments at FVOCI, FE)FT AEMERE WER

net of tax *& SIREHN DA BEED 13 a 5,197
Exchange differences arising REZIEBEERN

on translation to presentation ERERE

currency (49,541) (52,914)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (Continued)
Hirallams (8)

Year ended December 31,
HZ12A31BLLEE
2024 2023

Note RMB’000 RMB'000
e ARBTR AREETRE

Other comprehensive income BearFHMERE KR

for the year, net of tax (38,366) (24,745)
Total comprehensive income BEREAQATFMEEN

attributable to the owners of KEFZEWZHAE

the Company for the year (367,326) (182,275)
Loss per share attributable to EAREBERRREMGN

ordinary shareholders of BRER

the Company (BElRARY)

(expressed in RMB per share)

— Basic — ER 33 (0.10) (0.05)

— Diluted — 33 (0.10) (0.05)
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
O 25 A B 5

Attributable to owners of the Company

FERAARMEE
Share Share Other Accumulated Total
capital premium reserves losses equity
EBR RAGHE Hitb i 2itER B8
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
(Note 25)
(Bt 25)
As at January 1, 2023 R202351A81H 22,555 1,085,620 237,818 (3,066,217)  (1,720,224)
Loss for the year KEER - - - (157,530) (157,530)
Other comprehensive income:  Efikz A Uz -
— Change in fair value of LA’&/T EfE .SJFEH/H\
equity investments at FVOCI S AR MERE N
(Note 13) E’Wém&ﬁﬁ’]’&ﬁf‘if
GiEak)) - - 5,197 - 5,197
— Exchange differences —ERER - - (29,942) - (29,942)
Total comprehensive income KELRA W
for the year = = (24,745) (157,530) (182,275)
As at December 31, 2023 R2023%E12 318 22,555 1,085,620 213,073 (3,223,747)  (1,902,499)
Loss for the year KEERE - - - (328,960) (328,960)
Other comprehensive income: Wﬁ/\ﬂk“ :
— Change in fair value of WAREEFERH
equity investments at FVOCI 2Bt AEfFS N E
(Note 13) E’]T& SRENAABE
28 (f313) - - 41 - 41
— Exchange differences - [R%%ﬁi - - (38,407) - (38,407)
Total comprehensive income AELE W
for the year - - (38,366) (328,960) (367,326)
Transactions with ownersin ~ EFEEUEFEEN
their capacity as owners: SHETHRE
Employee share option scheme: 1B S B E: 2 :
— Lapsed of share option — RUEERRE - - (789) 789 -
As at December 31, 2024 R2024512 318 22,555 1,085,620 173,918 (3,551,918)  (2,269,825)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

BFRERER

Year ended December 31,
HZ12A31BLLEE

2024 2023
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 ARETRT AREBTT
Cash flows from operating activities E&FEHNRESHE
Cash generated from operations KEFHELENIR G 34(a) 592,832 670,435
Income tax paid =ENRIEET (99,158) (155,478)
Net cash generated from RETHEENRSFHE
operating activities 493,674 514,957
Cash flows from investing activities REZHNREHRE
Interest received U] P RS) 3 167
Purchase of property, BE T@JE T e a5t
plant and equipment (203,429) (301,650)
Proceeds from disposal of 10% HEEEEEERD K
foreign contractors’ interest GRIFFEBER10% N5
in the Moliging PSC & REEEWE M FIE 39(b) - 31,955
Movement of restricted bank deposits  S*[R 41|45 77 17 2k & & &) (52,434) (28.474)
Net cash used in investing activities REEZBFERANR L FE (255,860) (298,002)
Cash flows from financing activities FEEBNWRESHRE
Repayments of secured borrowings  BE &= 34(b) (203,992) (265,055)
Repayments of the 2024 Senior Notes 1818 2024 8 5L E4% 34(b) (10,736) (12,086)
Principal paid on lease liabilities XNHEEEEEENAS 34(b) (4,892) (4,487)
Interest paid on lease liabilities XNHEEEEEENFE 34(b) (890) (668)
Net cash used in financing activities EE EZEFERANR & FE (220,510) (282,296)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash ReRkBAEEEYN
and cash equivalents #hn,/ (Rd) B EE 17,304 (65,341)
Cash and cash equivalents at FNHREERESEEY
beginning of year 62,905 120,342
Exchange (losses)/gains on cashand & RIREEEBYH
cash equivalents &5 (BK), M (8,326) 7,904
Cash and cash equivalents at FRESRESEEY
end of year 18 71,883 62,905
IBEREREIRA T / 2024 F 3,

123



GENERAL INFORMATION

MIE Holdings Corporation (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands.
The address of its registered office is Maples Corporate
Services Limited, P.O. Box 309 Ugland House, Grand
Cayman KY1-1104, Cayman Islands. The Company and
its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are principally
engaged in the exploration, development, production and
sale of crude oil in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC") under production sharing contracts (the “PSCs").

On February 24, 2023, the Group obtained approval from
China National Petroleum Corporation (the “CNPC") to
extend the expiry date of the Daan PSC from December
31, 2024 to February 29, 2028.

As at December 31, 2024, the Company is indirectly
controlled by Far East Energy Limited (“FEEL"), which
owns 43.39% of the Company’s shares and is also
the ultimate holding company of the Group. FEEL is a
limited liability company incorporated in Hong Kong and
its ultimate beneficial owners are Mr. Zhang Ruilin, Mr.
Zhao Jiangwei and Ms. Zhao Jiangbo (“Mrs. Zhang”, Mr.
Zhang Ruilin’s spouse). The controlling shareholder of the
ultimate holding company is Mr. Zhang Ruilin.

The Company’s shares have been listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange") since December 14, 2010.

Unless otherwise stated, the financial statements
are presented in Renminbi (“RMB"). These financial
statements have been approved and authorized for issue
by the board of directors of the Company (the “Board of
Directors”) on March 21, 2025.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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2. ADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL 2.

RABBRMEREER (HFRE

REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRS BHREGER )
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS")
2.1 New or amended standards adopted by the 21 AEEH2024F1818E &K

Group from January 1, 2024

The following amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2024.

Amendments to Classification of Liabilities as
IAS 1 Current or Non-current and
related amendments to
International Interpretation
5 (Revised) Presentation
of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower
of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause
Amendments to Supplier Finance Arrangements
IAS 7 and
IFRS 7

Amendments to Leases Liability in a Sale and

IFRS 16 Leaseback

The adoption of the amended IFRS Accounting
Standards had no material impact on how the results
and financial position for the current and prior periods
have been prepared and presented. The Group
has not early applied any new or amended IFRS
Accounting Standards that is not yet effective for the
current accounting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ST HRRME (8)

2. ADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS") (Continued)

2.1 New or amended standards adopted by the
Group from January 1, 2024 (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 — Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-Current and Non-
current Liabilities with Covenants

The International Accounting Standards Board
("IASB") issued amendments to IAS 1 in January
2020 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current and subsequently, in October 2022 Non-
current Liabilities with Covenants.

The amendments clarify the following:

o An entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability
for at least twelve months after the reporting
period must have substance and must exist at
the end of the reporting period.

o If an entity’'s right to defer settlement of a
liability is subject to covenants, such covenants
affect whether that right exists at the end of
the reporting period only if the entity is required
to comply with the covenant on or before the
end of the reporting period.

o The classification of a liability as current or non-

current is unaffected by the likelihood that the
entity will exercise its right to defer settlement.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt BN T (B

2. ADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS") (Continued)

2.1 New or amended standards adopted by the
Group from January 1, 2024 (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 — Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-Current and Non-
current Liabilities with Covenants (Continued)

° In case of a liability that can be settled, at the
option of the counterparty, by the transfer
of the entity's own equity instruments, such
settlement terms do not affect the classification
of the liability as current or non-current only if
the option is classified as an equity instrument.

These amendments have no effect on the
measurement of any items in the consolidated
financial statements of the Group.

Amendments to IAS 7 & IFRS 7 — Supplier
Finance Arrangements

On 25 May 2023, the IASB issued amendments to
IAS 7 and IFRS 7 to require specific disclosures about
supplier finance arrangements. The amendments
respond to the investors’ need for more information
about supplier finance arrangements to be able to
assess how these arrangements affect an entity's
liabilities, cash flows and liquidity risk.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RS R M et ()

2. ADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS") (Continued)

2.1 New or amended standards adopted by the
Group from January 1, 2024 (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 7 & IFRS 7 — Supplier
Finance Arrangements (Continued)

The amendments require entities to provide certain
specific disclosures (qualitative and quantitative)
related to supplier finance arrangements. The
amendments also provide guidance on characteristics
of supplier finance arrangements.

The IASB has provided transitional relief by not
requiring comparative information in the first year,
and also not requiring disclosure of specified opening
balances. Further, the required disclosures are only
applicable for annual periods during the first year
of application. Therefore, the earliest that the new
disclosures will have to be provided is in annual
financial reports for December 2024 year-ends,
unless an entity has a financial year of less than 12
months.

The Group does not have any supplier finance
arrangements during the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B SRR M5 (BB

2. ADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL 2. RABIRMEHESER (ERE
REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRS BHESEN D (&)
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS") (Continued)

2.1 New or amended standards adopted by the 21 AEEH2024F1818E &K
Group from January 1, 2024 (Continued) 2 FRT RAMERT R (5])
Amendments to IFRS 16 — Lease Liability in a PR Bf 3 3R 45 EE Al 5516 5% 2 15
Sale and Leaseback A — EREATHEESS
On 22 September 2022, the IASB issued 202299 A 228 BB &t %
amendments to IFRS 16 — Lease Liability in a Sale A= T (BRI BRE
and Leaseback. Prior to the amendments, IFRS 16 ZRIE 165 HEE] —(ERD
did not contain specific measurement requirements HPHEHEBE) - 185280
for lease liabilities that may contain variable lease (BB B 75 o 45 22 R B 165k ) I
payments arising in a sale and leaseback transaction. AHERODERFFAERES
In applying the subsequent measurement WA HEENFNEES BT
requirements of lease liabilities to a sale and ERHABER BT EXER
leaseback transaction, the amendments require a — EABATEREERENE
seller lessee to determine “lease payments” or BHEERE - wE[HENK]
“revised lease payments” in a way that the seller- o [ERTEMBERM K] AE
lessee would not recognize any amount of the gain B — AEATEREES —
or loss that relates to the right of use retained by the A AR A AERBENER
seller-lessee. Emer o
These amendments had no effect on the BELEEITEHASENE G
consolidated financial statements of the Group. BHRRENTE -

2.2 New or amended standards not yet effective 22 EEMBEERERHVIFTRL

ERT 2RI
There are a number of standards and amendments RestEAZEe R BMNE
to standards which have been issued by the IASB TR R ERNEFT SRR R ST
that are effective in future accounting periods that HRAEN  ARBAE T REH
the Group has decided not to adopt early. e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ST HRRME (8)

2. ADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS”) (Continued)

2.2 New or amended standards not yet effective
(Continued)

The following amendments are effective for the
period beginning January 1, 2025:

Amendments to IAS 21  Lack of Exchangeability

The following amendments are effective for the
period beginning January 1, 2026:

Amendments to IFRS 9  Amendments to
and IFRS 7 Classification and
Measurement of
Financial Instruments

Amendments to IFRS 9 Contracts Referencing
and IFRS 7 Nature-dependent
Electricity

The following amendments are effective for the
period beginning January 1, 2027:

IFRS 18 Presentation and
Disclosure in Financial
Statements

IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without

Public Accountability:
Disclosures.

The Group is currently assessing the effect of these
new accounting standards and amendments.

130 MIEHOLDINGS CORPORATION / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

R P BB Bt 7 3R 5 2B R
BHREGEA D (&)

3 (I B B Bt

22 CEMERERERNIHTHE

& T 22 Al (4F)

VA

TEFI B 202651 A1 B ELE
g

N

BERestER Bt
2152
CHIE

LA T EET B 202641 A1 B4
a0

N

BRI %HRE SmIADN
EAFIHRE  HERFHE
BRI BRE MEET
HRIE TR
ZAERT AR

B HRE 2EAREH
ERIE I K MENER
BRI B RS
ERIE 75
ZIERTA

AT EEI B 202751 A1 B#E4E
g

B PR B 75 B T 2R R Y
2R 53R I % 75
F1858

BRI GERE J\BAREME
ARIZE 1958 SaVNC]

R¥ R

AEB B AT EAE X g £
AIRERTNRE °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt BN T (B

2. ADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS") (Continued)

2.2 New or amended standards not yet effective
(Continued)

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements, which was issued by the IASB in April
2024 supersedes IAS 1 and will result in major
consequential amendments to IFRS Accounting
Standards including IAS 8 Basis of Preparation of
Financial Statements (renamed from Accounting
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and
Errors). Even though IFRS 18 will not have any effect
on the recognition and measurement of items in
the consolidated financial statements, it is expected
to have a significant effect on the presentation and
disclosure of certain items. These changes include
categorization and sub-totals in the statement
of profit or loss, aggregation/disaggregation
and labelling of information, and disclosure of
management-defined performance measures.

The Group does not expect to be eligible to apply
IFRS 19.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION
3.1 Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all International
Financial Reporting Standards and International
Accounting Standards as issued by the IASB and
Interpretations (hereinafter collectively referred to as
the “IFRS Accounting Standards”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. The consolidated financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B RR M5 (BB

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

3.2

3.3

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost basis except for
certain financial instruments that are measured at
fair values as explained in the accounting policies set
out below.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements
in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards
requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the
accounting policies of the Group. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to
the consolidated financial statements are disclosed
in Note 6.

Going concern assumption

In recent years, the Group's performance was
significantly affected by the high borrowing costs
associated with general funding and re-financing
activities and the volatility of the price of crude oil.
During the year ended December 31, 2024, the
Group incurred a loss of RMB329.0 million. As at
December 31, 2024, the Group's current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by RMB222.2 million
and there was a deficit on the shareholders’ fund of
RMB2,269.8 million. As at the same date, the Group
had total borrowings of RMB2,920.1 million and cash
and cash equivalents of RMB71.9 million only.

132 MIEHOLDINGS CORPORATION / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

3. WRER (|

3.2

3.3

STEAE

B A B IRR IR IR IE SE A A AR
2o AT SR BRRPBEENS
TUAREBEFENER T AR
ﬁ'\ o

mELT & BB S &5 2R
H& G 7 R 5 BAE R E R
REF T ENFTEREEER
ERASENE A BRBREPIT
EEE - P RREHEXSE
BTN P RYEHY
BHRERELEABRRME AV
S TP RE -

BFELERR

MER  REBEMEEXE—MK
MRERBREBNMEENE
AR S A KA HE@ER
REWBETLE - B E2024F
12ANBLEFE  KNEBFE
BEARBI90BE T HE
2024512 A31 8 AEB R F
BEBERBEEARK222.2
BEL BREIFEBEBAEAREK
22698BEB L -RER K&
EEREEAARK29201H
B RREARBTI9BET
ReERBFEEY -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B SRR (B
3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 3. MREER(E)

33 BELERR (R

3.3 Going concern assumption (Continued)

For the purpose of assessing the appropriateness
of the use of the going concern basis for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements,
the management has prepared a cash flow forecast
up to June 30, 2026 (the “Forecast”). When
preparing the Forecast, management has given
careful consideration to the future liquidity and
performance of the Group and its available sources
of financing in assessing whether the Group will
have sufficient financial resources to continue as a
going concern, and has taken the following measures
to mitigate the liquidity pressure and to improve its
cash flows:

(@) the Group will maintain the production for
generating sufficient operating cashflows; and

(b) plan to improve operating efficiency and take
step to reduce discretionary expenses and
administrative costs and operating costs to
improve the Group's liquidity position.

In addition to the above, in a longer run, the Group
will continue to seek alternative financing, to the
extent that is permitted under the New Finance
Documents (as defined in Note 21(a)), to finance the
settlement of its existing financing obligations and
future operating and capital expenditures.

The directors of the Company (the “Directors’) have
reviewed the Forecast prepared by management
and are of the opinion that, taking into account the
above-mentioned plans and measures, the Group
will have sufficient working capital to finance its
operations and to meet its financial obligations when
they fall due within the forecast period. Accordingly,
the Directors are satisfied that it is appropriate to
prepare the consolidated financial statements on a
going concern basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B RR M5 (BB

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 3. WREHE(HE)

33 BELERR A

3.3 Going concern assumption (Continued)

However, there are inherent uncertainties associated
with the future outcomes of the above measures and
these indicate the existence of material uncertainty
that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. Whether the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern will
depend upon the following:

() the actual crude oil prices throughout the
forecast period being in line with the projected
levels included in the cashflow projections; and

(i) the Group's ability to generate operating cash
flows and to obtain additional sources of
financing, to the extent that is permitted under
the New Finance Documents, to finance the
Group's oil exploration and production business,
including capital expenditures, as well as other
funding needs.

Should the Group fail to achieve the above-
mentioned plans and measures, it might not be
able to continue to operate as a going concern,
and adjustments would have to be made to write
down the carrying value of the Group’s assets
to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any
further liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify
non-current assets and non-current liabilities as
current assets and current liabilities. The effect of
these adjustments has not been reflected in the
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B SRR M5 (BB

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

4.1 Consolidation and subsidiaries

4.1.1 Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which control is transferred to
the Group. They are deconsolidated from the
date that control ceases.

(a)

Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method
to account for business combinations.
The consideration transferred for the
acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair
values of the assets transferred, the
liabilities incurred to the former owners
of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group. The consideration
transferred includes the fair value of
any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement.
|dentifiable assets acquired and liabilities
and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured
initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date. Acquisition-related costs
are expensed as incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B RER M (5B)

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.1 Consolidation and subsidiaries (Continued)

4.1.1 Consolidation (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Business combinations (Continued)

Intra-group transactions, balances
and unrealized gains on transactions
between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealized losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the transferred asset.
When necessary, amounts reported
by subsidiaries have been adjusted to
conform with the Group's accounting
policies.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted
for at cost less impairment. Cost includes
direct attributable costs of investment.
The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in
subsidiaries is required upon receiving a
dividend from these investments if the
dividend exceeds the total comprehensive
income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying
amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying
amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee’s net assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt BN T (B

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.2 Joint arrangements

The Group applies IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements
("IFRS 11") to all joint arrangements. Under IFRS 11
investments in joint arrangements are classified as
either joint operations or joint ventures depending
on the contractual rights and obligations of each
investor. The Company has assessed the nature of
its joint arrangements and determined them to be
joint operations.

4.2.1 Joint operations

The Group's development and production
activities in the PRC are conducted, through
its subsidiaries, jointly with others through
PSCs. These PSCs establish joint control over
the development and production activities. The
assets are not owned by a separate legal entity
but are controlled by individual participants
in the PSCs. Each participant is entitled to a
predetermined share of the related output and
bears an agreed share of the costs.

The consolidated financial statements reflect:

o the Group's share of any assets used in
the joint operations;

o any liabilities that the Group incurred;
o the Group’s share of any liabilities incurred

jointly with the other PSC partner in
relation to the joint production;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
EHIERERNE (B)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. EREBFTBRER (&)
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.2 Joint arrangements (Continued) 42 SE R (HE)
4.2.1 Joint operations (Continued) 421 HEKE (&)

e any income from the sale or use of e XREHEXFAER
the Group's share of the output of the AN SE TRl VN
production, together with its share of any A REE(REER
expenses incurred in the production; and EERNEMAIZE B

X

e any expense that the Group has e AEBEFREREZRFA
incurred in respect of its interests in the EAMERIH -
production.

4.3 Foreign currency translation 43 NERE
(a) Functional and presentation currency (a) IThEERFIFHE ¥

ltems included in the financial statements of AEEGEEENYT R

each of the Group's entities are measured =SB E NERAZES

using the currency of the primary economic K FTIEH £ B KB IRIE
environment in which the entity operates (the ME®E([TheeEK]) #1T

“functional currency”). The functional currency AECARNAMINEEE K

of the Company is United States dollars RETTL - EHTBHRED

(“US$"). The presentation currency of the SImEERARE -

consolidated financial statements is RMB.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

PSR I o (A8

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.3 Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(b) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the
Group entities (none of which has the currency
of a hyper-inflationary economy) that have
a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

()  assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated
at the closing rate at the date of the
statement of financial position;

(i) income and expenses for each statement
of comprehensive income are translated
at average exchange rates (unless this
is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at
the rate on the dates of the transactions);
and

(i) all resulting exchange differences are
recognized in other comprehensive
income.

4.4 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including oil and
gas properties, are stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation, depletion, amortization
and impairment. Historical cost includes expenditures
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the
items.

4. BERETEHREER (B)

43 SNEIE (E)
(b) SKEAF

kg e N S ok
BEETRANMAEEERN
MER(EFLARHRE

WIREENE ) B EEM

IS

AR REO TR ENE

RYNREE

()  TH5EHRHT BRI
RAMEBEENAGIR
Z B IR & B B
WHEXRFH

(i) EBOHHEEKRERAN
Woss A& AR T E
R 8 (BRIFSLE =
WARKRKR S HHE
EMEATENSRE
W HERBRT
WXEB®RXZ 5B H

BVEERATHE) « AR

(i) PAAHULELNER
EREHMGEa A
':Fﬁﬁﬁ/m

44 TBHE IERRRHE

BREMREEEANTBE - K
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.4 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

The cost of oil and gas properties is amortized
at the field level based on the unit of production
method. Unit of production rates are based on oil
and gas proved and probable developed producing
reserves estimated to be recoverable from
existing facilities based on the current terms of the
respective production agreements. The Group's
reserves estimates represent crude oil and gas
which management believes can be reasonably
produced within the current terms of their production
agreements.

Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate their cost or revalued
amounts, net of their residual values, over their
estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings Over the shorter of the
remaining term of the
lease or their estimated

useful lives
Leasehold Over the related lease
improvements terms
Office equipment 3 years
Motor vehicles and 10 years

production equipment

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period. An asset’s carrying amount is
written down immediately to its recoverable amount
if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B SRR M5 (BB

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. EARETBRER (&)

INFORMATION (Continued)

45 BhFEMFEXEH

4.5 Exploration and evaluation expenditure

The successful efforts method of accounting is used
for oil and gas exploration and production activities.
Under this method, all costs for development
wells, supporting equipment and facilities, and
proved mineral interests in oil and gas properties
are capitalized. Geological and geophysical costs
are expensed when incurred. Costs of exploratory
wells (including certain geophysical costs which are
directly attributable to the drilling of these wells)
are capitalized as exploration and evaluation assets
pending determination of whether the wells find
proved oil and gas reserves. Proved oil and gas
reserves are the estimated quantities of crude oil
and natural gas which geological and engineering
data demonstrate with reasonable certainty to be
recoverable in future years from known reservoirs
under existing economic and operating conditions,
i.e., prices and costs as of the date the estimate
is made. Prices include consideration of changes
in existing prices provided only by contractual
arrangements, but not on escalations based upon
future conditions.

Exploratory wells in areas not requiring major
capital expenditures are evaluated for economic
viability within one year of completion of drilling.
The related well costs are expensed as dry holes
if it is determined that such economic viability is
not attained. Otherwise, the related well costs are
reclassified to oil and gas properties and subject to
impairment review. For exploratory wells that are
found to have economically viable reserves in areas
where major capital expenditure will be required
before production can commence, the related well
costs remain capitalized only if additional drilling is
under way or firmly planned. Otherwise, the related
well costs are expensed as dry holes. The Group
does not have any costs of unproved properties
capitalized in oil and gas properties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RS R M et ()

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.5

4.6

Exploration and evaluation expenditure
(Continued)

Identifiable exploration assets acquired are
recognized as assets at their fair value, as determined
by the requirements of business combinations.
Exploration and evaluation expenditure incurred
subsequent to the acquisition of an exploration
asset in a business combination is accounted for in
accordance with the policy outlined above.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets represent computer software and
mineral interests.

(a) Computer software

Acquired computer software licenses are
capitalized on the basis of the costs incurred to
acquire and bring to use the specific software.
These costs are amortized over their estimated
useful lives of three years.

(b) Mineral interests

Mineral interests are amortized based on the
unit of production method.

Unit of production rates are based on oil and
gas proved and probable developed producing
reserves estimated to be recoverable from
existing facilities based on the current terms of
the respective production agreements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B SRR M5 (BB

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.7

4.8

Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or
intangible assets not ready to use are not subject to
amortization and are tested annually for impairment.
Assets that are subject to amortization are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less
costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at
the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash flows. Non-financial assets other
than goodwill that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal at each reporting date.

Financial instruments
4.8.1 Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at
fair value (“either through OCI or through
profit or loss”); and

° those to be measured at amortized cost.

The classification depends on the entity's
business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual terms of the cash
flows.

4. BERETEHREER (B)

4.7

4.8
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GRS R BT EE (48)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4., EXREFTBEREE (E)
INFORMATION (Continued)
48 €@ T A (&)

4.8 Financial instruments (Continued)

4.8.1 Classification (Continued) 481 7% (&)

For assets measured at fair value, gains and
losses will either be recorded in profit or loss
or OCI. For investments in equity instruments
that are not held for trading, this will depend
on whether the Group has made an irrevocable
election at the time of initial recognition to
account for the equity investment at fair value
through other comprehensive income (the
“FVOCI").

The Group reclassifies debt investments when
and only when its business model for managing
those assets changes.

4.8.2 Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognized on trade-date, the date
on which the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognized
when the rights to receive cash flows from
the financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B SRR M5 (BB

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. EAREHHEEE(E)
INFORMATION (Continued)
48 €@ T A (&)

4.8 Financial instruments (Continued)

4.8.3 Measurement 4835TE

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case
of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss (the “FVTPL"), transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition
of the financial asset. Transaction costs of
financial assets carried at FVTPL are expensed
in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
EHIERERNE (B)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. EREBFTBRER (&)
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.8 Financial instruments (Continued) 48 SRTIA(E)
4.8.3 Measurement (Continued) 4835 £ (&)
Debt instruments E¥TA
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments B TEMBETEIUR
depends on the Group’s business model RAEBEEZEENE
for managing the asset and the cash flow BREAAERZEENE S
characteristics of the asset. There are three MERFH NEBKER
measurement categories into which the Group TESAENUT=ZEE4
classifies its debt instruments: Al
e Amortized cost: o IREBRNAFE -
Assets that are held for collection of HREHAENUNKRE
contractual cash flows where those AREeRENEE -
cash flows represent solely payments MRERRESREE
of principal and interest are measured REBERASTFER
at amortized cost. Interest income SN -RIZEEKRE
from these financial assets is included BRAFTE - ZFD
in interest and other income using the A& = A B AL
effective interest rate method. Any gain or ERMEETE - &
loss arising on derecognition is recognized AR E R EAMUYA o
directly in profit or loss and presented in 5 TR EE A WY
other gains/(losses) together with foreign BHBBREETTAR
exchange gains and losses. Impairment @+ N B FE A 45 A0
losses are presented as separate line BR—RYREHM
item in the consolidated statement of M (BX) - RBEAE
comprehensive income. BREREBEORE
EaEPizeEmExF
HI|FR o

146 MIEHOLDINGS CORPORATION / ANNUAL REPORT 2024



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B SRR M5 (BB

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.8 Financial instruments (Continued)
4.8.3 Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments (Continued)

° FVOCI:

Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling
the financial assets, where the assets’
cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest, are measured
at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying
amount are taken through OCI, except
for the recognition of impairment gains
or losses, interest income and foreign
exchange gains and losses which are

recognized in profit or loss.

When the financial asset is derecognized,
the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognized in OCI is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss and recognized
in other gains/(losses). Interest income
from these financial assets is included
in interest and other income using the
effective interest rate method. Foreign
exchange gains and losses are presented
in other gains/(losses) and impairment
expenses are presented as separate line
item in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
EHIERERNE (B)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. EREBFTBRER (&)
INFORMATION (Continued)

48 €@ T A (&)

4.8 Financial instruments (Continued)

4.8.3 Measurement (Continued) 4.8.3:E (&)

Debt instruments (Continued)

s FVIPL:

Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortized cost or FVOCI| are measured
at FVTPL. A gain or loss on a debt
investment that is subsequently measured
at FVTPL is recognized in profit or loss and
presented net within other gains/(losses)
in the period in which it arises.

Equity investments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group's
management has elected to present fair value
gains and losses on equity investments in
OClI, there is no subsequent reclassification
of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss
following the derecognition of the investment.
Dividends from such investments continue to
be recognized in profit or loss as other income
when the Group's right to receive payments is
established.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B ERERMNE (B)

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.8 Financial instruments (Continued)

4.8.3 Measurement (Continued)

Equity investments (Continued)

Changes in the fair value of financial assets
at FVTPL are recognized in other gains/
(losses), net, in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income as applicable.
Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment
losses) on equity investments measured at
FVOCI are not reported separately from other
changes in fair value.

4.8.4Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking
basis the expected credit losses (the “ECLs")
associated with its debt instruments carried
at amortized cost and FVOCI. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether
there has been a significant increase in credit
risk.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B RR M5 (BB

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4., EXREFTBEREE (E)
INFORMATION (Continued)
48 €@ T A (&)

4.8 Financial instruments (Continued)

4.8.4Impairment (Continued) 4.8.4FE (&)

For financial instruments that have no
significant increase in credit risk since the
initial recognition (“Stage 1"), the Group
measures the loss allowance at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs. If there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since the
initial recognition of a financial instrument but
credit impairment has not occurred (“Stage
2"), the Group recognizes a loss allowance
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. If credit
impairment has occurred since the initial
recognition of a financial instrument (“Stage
3"), the Group recognizes a loss allowance at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. For financial
instruments that have low credit risk at the
balance sheet date, the Group assumes that
there is no significant increase in credit risk
since the initial recognition, and measures the
loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs.

For financial instruments on the Stage 1 and
Stage 2, and that have low credit risk, the
Group calculates interest income according
to carrying amount without deducting the
impairment allowance and effective interest
rate. For financial instruments on the Stage 3,
interest income is calculated according to the
carrying amount minus amortized cost after
the provision for impairment allowance and
effective interest rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
FET RS R MY 7T (8

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. EARETBRER (&)
INFORMATION (Continued)

48 €@ T A (&)

4.8 Financial instruments (Continued)

4.8.4Impairment (Continued) 4.8.4FE (&)
For trade receivables, the Group applies the E R S NS E T
simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9, FR PR B 7 ¥ 5 22 BI 38 9 5%
which requires expected lifetime losses to AHNBLIE BV
be recognized from initial recognition of the BRI = ERERKNER
receivables, see Note 5.1(b)(ii) for further FEBHNBEHEREL
details. & 5T EE 5.1 (b) (i) °

4.8.5 Financial liabilities and equity 485 s R BEMER
Classification as debt or equity SEREHLER

Debt and equity instruments are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of
a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of
an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognized at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently

measured at amortized cost using the effective
interest method or at FVTPL.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B RR M5 (BB

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.8 Financial instruments (Continued)

4.8.5 Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

(a)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at
FVTPL when the financial liability is (i)
contingent consideration of an acquirer
in a business combination to which IFRS
3 applies, (ii) held for trading or (iii) it is
designated as at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities that are designated
as at FVTPL, the amount of changes
in the fair value of the financial liability
that is attributable to changes in the
credit risk of that liability is recognized
in other comprehensive income, unless
the recognition of the effects of changes
in the liability's credit risk in other
comprehensive income would create or
enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit
or loss. For financial liabilities that contain
embedded derivatives, such as secured
borrowings and senior notes, the changes
in fair value of the embedded derivatives
are excluded in determining the amount
to be presented in other comprehensive
income. Changes in fair value attributable
to a financial liability's credit risk that
are recognized in other comprehensive
income are not subsequently reclassified
to profit or loss; instead, they are
transferred to accumulated losses upon
derecognition of the financial liability.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B SRR M5 (BB

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.8 Financial instruments (Continued)

4.8.5 Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Financial liabilities at amortized cost

Financial liabilities including borrowings,
trade and other payables are subsequently
measured at amortized cost, using the
effective interest method.

Gains or losses are recognized in profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognized
as well as through the amortization
process and upon non-substantial
modification of financial liabilities.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognizes financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group's
obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognized and the consideration paid
and payable is recognized in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B RR M5 (BB

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.8 Financial instruments (Continued)

4.8.5 Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

(c)

Derecognition of financial liabilities
(Continued)

Except for changes in the basis for
determining the contractual cash flows
as a result of interest rate benchmark
reform in which the Group applies the
practical expedient, when the contractual
terms of a financial liability are modified,
the Group assess whether the revised
terms result in a substantial modification
from original terms taking into account
all relevant facts and circumstances
including qualitative factors. If qualitative
assessment is not conclusive, the Group
considers that the terms are substantially
different if the discounted present value
of the cash flows under the new terms,
including any fees paid net of any fees
received, and discounted using the
original effective interest rate, is at least
10 per cent different from the discounted
present value of the remaining cash
flows of the original financial liability.
The above said fees include only those
paid or received between the borrower
and the lender, including fees paid or
received by either the borrower or lender
on the other’'s behalf. Accordingly, such
modification of terms is accounted for
as an extinguishment, any costs or fees
incurred are recognized as part of the
gain or loss on the extinguishment. The
exchange or modification is considered as
non-substantial modification when such
difference is less than 10 per cent.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B SRR M5 (BB

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.8 Financial instruments (Continued)

4.8.5 Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

(c)

Derecognition of financial liabilities
(Continued)

For non-substantial modifications of
financial liabilities that do not result
in derecognition, the carrying amount
of the relevant financial liabilities will
be calculated at the present value of
the modified contractual cash flows
discounted at the financial liabilities’
original effective interest rate. Transaction
costs or fees incurred are adjusted to the
carrying amount of the modified financial
liabilities and are amortized over the
remaining term. Any adjustment to the
carrying amount of the financial liability is
recognized in profit or loss at the date of
modification.

4.9 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net

amount reported in the consolidated statement of

financial position when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognized amounts and there is
an intention to settle on a net basis or realize the

asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The
legally enforceable right must not be contingent on
future events and must be enforceable in the normal

course of business and in the event of default,
insolvency or bankruptcy of the Company or the
counterparty.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B RR M5 (BB

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.10 Derivative financial instruments

4.1

Derivative financial instruments are initially
recognized at fair value on the date a derivative
contract is entered into and are subsequently re-
measured at their fair value. The Group has not
designated any derivative financial instruments
as hedging instruments. Changes in the fair value
of these derivative instruments are recognized
immediately in profit or loss within “other gains/
(losses), net”.

Inventories

Inventories are crude oil, consumables and spare
parts which are stated at the lower of cost and net
realizable value. Materials and supplies costs are
determined using the first-in-first-out method. Crude
oil costs are determined using the weighted average
cost method. The cost of crude oil comprises direct
labor, depreciation, other direct costs and related
production overhead, but excludes borrowing costs.

4.12 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the year comprises current
and deferred tax. Tax is recognized in profit or
loss, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognized in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity. In this case the tax is also recognized in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B SRR M5 (BB

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.12 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated
on the basis of the tax laws enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period in the countries where the
Company's subsidiaries operate and generate
taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with
respect to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It
establishes provisions where appropriate on the
basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.

Deferred income tax

For the purposes of measuring deferred
tax for leasing transactions in which the
Group recognizes the right-of-use assets and
the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are
attributable to the right-of-use assets or the
lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the
tax deductions are attributable to the
lease liabilities, the Group applies IAS 12
requirements to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities separately. Temporary differences
relating to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognized at initial recognition
and over the lease terms due to application of
the initial recognition exemption.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B RR M5 (BB

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.12 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary
differences arising from accelerated tax
depreciations and fair value gains of mineral
interests, except for deferred income tax
liability where the timing of the reversal of the
temporary difference is controlled by the Group
and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognized
on deductible temporary differences arising
from asset retirement obligations, provision for
impairment loss and tax loss only to the extent
that it is probable that the temporary difference
will reverse in the future and there is sufficient
taxable profit available against which the
temporary difference can be utilized.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are
offset when there is a legally enforceable right
to offset current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when the deferred income tax
assets and liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either
the same taxable entity or different taxable
entities where there is an intention to settle the
balances on a net basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B RER M (B

Ne=

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. EARETBRER (&)

INFORMATION (Continued)

4.13 Borrowings 413 B

Borrowings are recognized initially at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings
are subsequently carried at amortized cost. Any
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognized in
profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using
the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities
are recognized as transaction costs of the loan to
the extent that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is
deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent
there is no evidence that it is probable that some
or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is
capitalized as a pre-payment for liquidity services and
amortized over the period of the facility to which it
relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities
unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer
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4.14 Provisions 4.14 15

Provisions are recognized, when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events, it is probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation,
and the amount can be reliably estimated.

Where there are a number of similar obligations,
the likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class
of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognized
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect
to any one item included in the same class of
obligations may be small.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B RR M5 (BB

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. EREBFTBRER (&)
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.14 %4 (&)

4.14 Provisions (Continued)

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to passage of time is recognized as
interest expense.

Asset retirement obligations (including future
decommissioning and restoration) which meet the
criteria of provisions are recognized as provisions
and the amount recognized is the present value
of the estimated future expenditure determined in
accordance with local conditions and requirements,
while a corresponding addition to the related oil
and gas properties of an amount equivalent to
the provision is also created. This is subsequently
depleted as part of the costs of the oil and gas
properties. Interest expense from the asset
retirement obligations for each period is recognized
with the effective interest method during the useful
life of the related oil and gas properties.

4.15 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that
arises from past events and whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events
not wholly within the control of the Group. It can
also be a present obligation arising from past events
that is not recognized because it is not probable that
an outflow of economic resources will be required
or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured
reliably.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B SRR M5 (BB

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. EARETBRER (&)
INFORMATION (Continued)

415 IREBERAFTEE (H)

4.15 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

(Continued)

A contingent liability is not recognized but is
disclosed in the consolidated financial statements
unless the probability of outflow of resources
embodying economic benefits is remote. When a
change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that
the outflow is probable, it will then be recognized as
a provision.

A contingent asset is not recognized in the
consolidated financial statements unless virtually
certain but disclosed when an inflow of economic
benefits is probable.

4.16 Employee benefits

(a) Defined contribution plan

The Group has various defined contribution
plans for state pensions, housing fund and
other social obligations in accordance with
the local conditions in the PRC and practices
in the municipalities and province in which
they operate. A defined contribution plan is
a pension and/or other social benefits plan
under which the Group pays fixed contributions
into a separate entity (a fund) and will have
no legal or constructive obligations to pay
further contributions if the fund does not hold
sufficient assets to pay all employees benefits
relating to employee service in the current and
prior periods. The contributions are recognized
as employee benefit expenses when they are
due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
EHIERERNE (B)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. EREBFTBRER (&)

INFORMATION (Continued)
4.16 Employee benefits (Continued) 416 EEEA ()

(b) Termination benefits (b) BHREF

Termination benefits are payable when
employment is terminated by the Group
before the normal retirement date, or when
an employee accepts voluntary redundancy
in exchange for these benefits. The Group
recognizes termination benefits at the earlier
of the following dates: (a) when the Group
can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits; and (b) when the entity recognizes
costs for a restructuring that is within the
scope of IAS 37 and involves the payment of
termination benefits. In the case of an offer
made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the
termination benefits are measured based on
the number of employees expected to accept
the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12
months after the end of the reporting period
are discounted to their present value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B SRR M5 (BB

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.17 Shared-based payments

(a)

Equity-settled share-based payment

transactions

(i)

Employee share option

The Group operates a share-based
compensation plans, under which the
entity receives services from employees
as consideration for equity instruments
(options) of the Group. The fair value
of the employee services received in
exchange for the grant of the options
is recognized as an expense. The total
amount to be expensed is determined by
reference to the fair value of the options
granted:

o including any market performance
conditions (for example, an entity’s
share price);

o excluding the impact of any service
and non-market performance vesting
conditions (for example, profitability,
sales growth targets and remaining
an employee of the entity over a
specified time period); and

° including the impact of any non-
vesting conditions (for example,
the requirement for employees to
save or holding shares for a specific
period of time).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B RER M (5B)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.17 Shared-based payments (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions (Continued)

(i) Employee share option (Continued)

In addition, in some circumstances
employees may provide services in
advance of the grant date and therefore
the grant date fair value is estimated for
the purposes of recognizing the expense
during the period between service
commencement period and grant date.

At the end of each reporting period, the
Group revises its estimates of the number
of options that are expected to vest
based on the non-marketing performance
and service conditions. It recognizes
the impact of the revision to original
estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.

Share-based payment transactions among
group entities

The grant by the Company of options over
its equity instruments to the employees
of subsidiary undertakings in the Group
is treated as a capital contribution. The
fair value of employee services received,
measured by reference to the grant date fair
value, is recognized over the vesting period
as an increase to investment in subsidiary
undertakings, with a corresponding credit to
equity in the parent entity accounts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B SRR M5 (BB

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. EARETBRER (&)

INFORMATION (Continued)

4.18 W ATER

4.18 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable, and represents
amounts receivable for goods supplied, stated net of
value added taxes or other sales taxes. The Group
recognizes revenue when the specific criteria have
been met for each of the Group's activities, as
described below.

Accounting policy on the recognition of sales income:

Revenue is recognized upon the satisfaction of
performance obligations, which occurs when control
of the good or service transfers to the customer.

Control can transfer at a point in time or over time. A
performance obligation is satisfied over time if one
of the following criteria is met:

° The customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits of the entity's
performance as the entity performs (e.g.,
certain services).

o The entity’s performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls.

o The entity's performance does not create an
asset with alternative use to the entity and
the entity has an enforceable right to payment
(cost plus a reasonable profit margin) for
performance completed to date.

A performance obligation is satisfied at a point in
time if it does not meet one of the criteria above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
FEF ISR M5 (8

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. EREBFTBRER (&)
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.18 W ATEFE (&)

4.18 Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from the sales of crude oil and gas
is recognized when control of the goods has
transferred, being when the promised goods have
been physically delivered to the designated oil
tankers, pipe or other delivery mechanism and is
measured based on the Group’s working interest
and the terms specified in the production sharing
contracts. A receivable is recognized by the Group
when the goods are delivered to the customers as
this represents the point in time at which the right
to consideration becomes unconditional, as only the
passage of time is required before payment is due.

Revenue from consultation services is recognized as
a performance obligation satisfied over time when
the consultation services are rendered.

4.19 Leases

Leases are recognized as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased
asset is available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration
in the contract to the lease and non-lease
components based on their relative stand-alone
prices. However, for leases of real estate for which
the Group is a lessee, it has elected not to separate
lease and non-lease components and instead
accounts for these as a single lease component.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B SRR M5 (BB

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. EARETBRER (&)

INFORMATION (Continued)

4.19 Leases (Continued) 419 HE (&)

Lease liabilities include the net present value of the
following lease payments:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

° variable lease payment that are based on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the
index or rate as at the commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise that
option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising
that option.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease payments
to be made under reasonably certain extension
options are also included in the measurement of the
liability. The lease payments are discounted using
the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate
cannot be readily determined, which is generally
the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate
that the individual lessee would have to pay to
borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment with similar terms, security
and conditions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ST HRRME (8)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.19 Leases (Continued)

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the
Group:

o where possible, uses recent third-party
financing received by the individual lessee as
a starting point, adjusted to reflect changes in
financing conditions since third party financing
was received;

o uses a build-up approach that starts with a
risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit risk
for leases held by the Group, which does not
have recent third-party financing, and makes
adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term,
country, currency and security.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit
or loss over the lease period so as to produce a
constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising
the following:

o the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives

received; and

° any initial direct costs, and restoration costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
ﬁ%%i&%mt HE (n\/\>

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. EREFTHEEE (HE)
INFORMATION (Continued)
4.19 Leases (Continued) 419 HE (&)

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over
the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease
term on a straight-line basis.

The Group presents right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities as a separate line item on the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Payments associated with short-term leases of office
premises and vehicles are recognized on a straight-
line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term
leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or
less.

4.20 Related parties

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s
family is related to the Group if that person:
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personnel of the Group or the Company’s
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ST HRRME (8)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.20 Related parties (Continued)

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions apply:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of the employees
of the Group or an entity related to the
Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
ﬁ%%i&%mt HE (n\/\>

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.20 Related parties (Continued)

(b)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions apply (Continued):

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
reporting entity or to the parent of the
reporting entity.

Close members of the family of a person are
those family members who may be expected
to influence, or be influenced by, that person in
their dealings with the entity and include:

()  that person’s children and spouse or

domestic partner;

(i)  children of that person’'s spouse or
domestic partner; and

(i) dependents of that person or that
person’s spouse or domestic partner.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B RR M5 (BB

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 5. HIXRERERE
5.1 Financial risk factors 5.1 B¥EKRREE

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks: market risk (including foreign
exchange risk, fair value interest rate risk, crude oil
price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's
overall risk management program focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimize potential adverse effects on the Group's
financial performance.

Risk management is carried out by the finance
department of the Company's headquarter (the
“Group Finance Team"”) on a regular basis under
the policies approved by the Board of Directors.
The Group Finance Team identifies, evaluates and
hedges financial risks in close co-operation with
the Group's operating units. The Board of Directors
provides principles for overall risk management,
as well as policies covering specific areas, such as
foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk,
use of derivative financial instruments and non-
derivative financial instruments, and investment of
excess liquidity.

(a) Market risk

(i)  Foreign exchange risk

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk
that the fair value or future cash flows of a
financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in foreign exchange rates.
The Group is exposed to foreign currency
risk primarily through operation outside
the PRC which give rise to borrowings
and cash and cash equivalents that are
denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency of the operations to
which they relate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B SRR M5 (BB

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5. HM¥ERERE (H&)

5.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 51 BEREMBEZR (&)
(a) Market risk (Continued) (a) TiEEME (E)
(i)  Foreign exchange risk (Continued) (i) SMERE ()
The currencies giving rise to this risk are 5| #E Lt B b Y B =
primarily US$ and Hong Kong dollars ERETEBT (1
(“HK$"). The Group does not use 7Tl) cAKETEHA
derivative financial instruments to hedge PTHE SR T HRE P
its foreign currency risk. The Group HINE R B o AEE
reviews its foreign currency exposures TE HA i 51 H AN R
regularly and considers no significant % WRABRBEKN
exposure on its foreign exchange risk. HNPE Rk A o
The carrying amounts of monetary items NI e B AN E
denominated in currency other than BEAEMEKEEYW
functional currency are as follows: FREEEAT :
As at December 31,
W12831A8
2024 2023
US$ HK$ US$ HK$
in i XL ok

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR AR®TR ARETL ARETE

Cash and cash equivalents 34 BB 4 = EY) 61,216 15 53,848 21

Restricted cash IR EIE S - 662 — 94
Other receivables H eI R - 4,586 - 4,562
Other payables HiERR - (33,884) - (29,026)
Borrowings &2 - (427,824) - (395,072)
Overall net exposure BEFE D 61,216 (456,445) 53,848 (419,421)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GRS R BT EE (48)

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

5.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

The following table indicates the
approximate change in the Group's
loss before income tax in response
to reasonably possible changes in the
foreign exchange rates to which the
Group has significant exposure at the
end of reporting period. The sensitivity
analysis includes balances between Group
companies where the denomination of
the balances is in a currency other than
the functional currencies of the lender or
the borrower. A positive number below
indicates an increase in profit/decrease
in loss and other equity where the US$
strengthens against the relevant currency.
For a weakening of the US$ against the
relevant currency, there would be an
equal and opposite impact on the loss
and other equity, and the balances below
would be negative.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B ERERMNE (B)

5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

5.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

5.

MEEREE (&)

(3]

A BHEREEREE(E
(a) WHER ()

(i) SrEmEE(E)

Increase/
(decrease)

in foreign Effect on
exchange loss after

rate income tax
MEER HAEHREZ
EH (TR BENTE

RMB'000
ARBET T
As at December 31, 2024 202412 A 31H
US$ X 1% 459
HK$ BT 1% (4,564)
As at December 31, 2023 2023 £12 A31 H
US$ ETT 1% 404
HK$ BT 1% (4,194)

The sensitivity analysis has been
determined assuming that the change
in foreign exchange rates had occurred
at the end of the reporting period and
had been applied to each of the group
entities; exposure to currency risk for
both derivative and non-derivative financial
instruments in existence at that date,
and that all other variables, in particular
interest rates, remain constant.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
FET RS R TR T (8

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

5.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

The stated changes represent
management’'s assessment of reasonably
possible changes in foreign exchange
rates over the period until the next annual
reporting date. Results of the analysis as
presented in the above table represent
an aggregation of the effects on each
of the group entities’ loss for the year
and equity measured in the respective
functional currencies, translated into RMB
at the exchange rate ruling at the end of
reporting period for presentation purposes.
The analysis excludes differences that
would result from the translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations
into the Group’s presentation currency.

Fair value interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises from
borrowings from financial institutions and
senior notes. Borrowings and senior notes
issued at fixed rates expose the Group to
fair value interest rate risk. During 2024,
the borrowings and senior notes carrying
fixed rates were denominated in US$ and
HKS.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B SRR M5 (BB

5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

5.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(ii)  Fair value interest rate risk (Continued)

The Group has no material interest
bearing cash assets. The Group’s income
and operating cash flows are substantially
independent of the changes in market
rates. The Group's interest rates risk
arises from borrowings. A detailed
analysis of the Group's borrowings,
together with their respective effective
interest rates and maturity dates, are

included in Note 21.

(iii) Crude oil price risk

The Group is engaged in crude oil
development, production and selling
activities. Prices of crude oil are affected
by both domestic and global factors
which are beyond the control of the
Group. The Group has material exposure
to fluctuations in global crude oil prices,
which significantly impacts the Group's

revenue and profitability.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B RER M (5B)

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5. B¥RERERE(E)

5.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 51 BiEEZE (&)
(a) Market risk (Continued) (a) TEERE (E)
(iii) Crude oil price risk (Continued) (iii) BB E % E kg (4E)

The following sensitivity analysis
illustrates the impact on profit after
income tax assuming a 10% increase
or decrease in average realized crude
oil prices during 2024 and 2023, while
holding all other variables constant: A 10%
increase in the average realized crude oil
price to US$87.80 (2023: US$86.92) per
barrel would have increased profit after
income tax by approximately RMB39.3
million (2023: RMB46.3 million); A 10%
decrease in the average realized crude oll
price to US$71.83 (2023: US$71.12) per
barrel would have decreased profit after
income tax by approximately RMB49.7
million (2023: RMB57.1 million).

The sensitivity analysis is based on
the average realized crude oil price in
2024 and total crude oil sales volume. It
assumes all other expense items remain
constant. The price increase/decrease
scenarios apply the relevant special oil
gain levy based on the adjusted crude
oil prices according to the progressive
special oil gain levy brackets applicable in
the PRC.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B ERERMNE (B)

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5. B¥RERERE R

5.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 51 BIEREZE (&)
(a) Market risk (Continued) (a) TiEEME (E)
(iii) Crude oil price risk (Continued) (iii) BB R (4E)

The above sensitivity analysis
demonstrates the significant effect that
fluctuations in crude oil prices could have
on the Group's financial performance.
Crude oil prices are affected by both

ot B R o AT &R
B M B8R B A
REUEEYEEEE
EERTE -RAE
REXINEFMOE

supply and demand factors and can be W2 KPR
highly volatile. With all other variables R -EFMBEHMES
held constant, material declines in crude RETSENBERLT
oil prices from 2024 levels could result BB E R E 2024 F K
in substantial declines in the Group's K08 T K ] BE BB
revenue and profitability. Similarly, an SEr B AFZF g
increase in prices could significantly NN R =
improve financial performance. BRH LRI AEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
EHIERERNE (B)

5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

5.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk

(i)

Risk management

As the majority of the cash at bank
balance is placed with major PRC state-
owned banks and financial institutions,
the Directors are of their opinion that the
corresponding credit risk is relatively low.
Therefore, credit risk arises primarily from
trade and other receivables. The Group
has controls in place to assess the credit
quality of its customers. The carrying
amounts of cash and cash equivalents,
restricted cash and trade and other
receivables included in the consolidated
statements of financial position represent
the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk. As at December 31, 2024, and 2023,
the Group has no significant concentration
of credit risk for its cash and cash
equivalents, restricted cash and other
receivables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B ERERMNE (B)

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

5.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

(i)

(ii)

Credit risk (Continued)

Risk management (Continued)

During the year ended December 31,
2024, the Group has one customer in the
PRC which accounts for 99.9% (20283:
99.9%) of the Group's revenue. As such,
there was concentration of credit risk for
its trade receivables. However, the Group
regards it as low risk as the customer in
the PRC is PetroChina Company Limited
(the “PetroChina”), a PRC state-owned
enterprise with high credit rating in the
PRC who have credit ratings which are
deemed acceptable.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group has two types of financial
assets that are subjected to the ECLs
model:

° trade receivables

° other financial assets at amortized
cost

While cash and cash equivalents are also
subject to the impairment requirements of
IFRS 9, the identified impairment loss was
immaterial.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GRS R BT EE (48)

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5. B¥RERERE(E)

MEEREE (R

5.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 5.1

(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) SRR (E)

(ii) = @EEpE (&)

(ii) Impairment of financial assets

(Continued)

Trade receivables

The Group measures the loss allowance
for all trade receivables at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs. To measure the ECLs,
trade receivables have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics
and assessed on a collective basis. The
ECLs on trade receivables are estimated
using a provision matrix by reference to
past default experience of the debtor,
current market condition in relation to
each debtor’s exposure. The ECLs also
incorporated forward-looking information
with reference to general macroeconomic
conditions that may affect the ability of
the debtors to settle receivables.

For trade receivables, management has
categorized debtors into two customer
groups for ECLs assessment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B ERERMNE (B)

5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

5.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

(ii) Impairment of financial assets

(Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

Group A — PSC partner:

As at December 31, 2024, all of the
Group's trade receivables (2023:
approximately 99.7%) were due from
PetroChina. Given the strong business
relationship with PetroChina and its good
reputation, management does not expect
that there will be any significant losses
from non-performance by PetroChina.
The management of the Group has also
assessed all available forward-looking
information, including but not limited to
the expected growth rate of the industry
and expected subsequent settlement,
and concluded that there no significant
increase in credit risk.

5.

MEEREE (&)

5.1

MEEREE ()

(b)

= ARk (&)

(ii) = BEERE (&)

FEY AR (48)

A — EmD AR
BIERH

B 12024512 A 31
H - A&EEZEE (2023
% 1 99.7% ) W JE UK BR
HREFRAEBRMD -
ER A ARG R
A ) E SRR
RERIFHEBE &
BREBFHABRKRMN
MTBH T EEMKE
MEREX - AEH
EBENEFEME
AAMAEMES
BEBTRRITEDN
78 B 3% R R R TE HR AY
BEBEREE WEHE
mRAERRERESR
FEEIL N -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
EHIERERNE (B)

5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

5.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

Group B — Third parties:

HHRREE (&)
5.1 WHEREZRE (&)
(b) fERAEE (H&)

(ii) = @EEpE (&)

FEYRR 5% (48)

BH —%F=77:

As at December 31,

MW12A31H

2024 2023
Expected credit loss rate TEHAE R AXR - 0.31%
Gross carrying amount FREAARE

(RMB’000) (AR®ETT) - 255

Loss allowance BREE - =
No loss allowance was recognized for EARREFTAMEME -
trade receivables during the current JEW AR FO8 B iR 18
reporting period. KR o
The credit period granted to the Group's ETAEEEFPHE
customers is usually no more than 6 EHBETHAGHE

months and the credit quality of these
customers is assessed, which takes
into account their financial position, past
experience and other factors. In view of
the sound collection history of receivables
due from them, management believes
that the ECL of the Group's outstanding
trade receivables balances due from them
is not significant. In addition, there was no
significant unfavorable current conditions
and forecast future economic conditions
identified as at December 31, 2024, and
2023.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
FET RS R MY 7T (8

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5. B¥RERERE R

5.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 5.1 BFEKRREZE (E&)

(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) SRR (E)

(ii) = BEERE (&)

(ii) Impairment of financial assets

(Continued)

Other financial assets at amortized cost AR AR ET E ) A
it & mh & E

Other financial assets at amortized cost LA ERA AN EF 2 R E

include amounts due from related parties HeMmEEBRREME

and other receivables. e BE B 5 FE K HoA
JEEHQEEW\ °©

The ECLs of other financial assets at VG 3 N == =

amortized cost are determined based on
general model.

The Group considers the probability of

o mEENTEHE
REXER - RERL

i -

AEBEE—REEY

default upon initial recognition of an asset IRIERFEEH A
and whether there has been a significant EAMAIEM WA
increase in credit risk on an ongoing o REREHRFE
basis throughout each reporting period. MIZEENERAR

To assess whether there is a significant
increase in credit risk, the Group compares
the risk of default occurring on the asset
as at the reporting date with the risk of
default as at the date of initial recognition.
[t considers available reasonable and
supportive forwarding-looking information.
Especially the following indicators are
incorporated:

e A HEBER
F-RTHEEER
ARkRESZTERE
RA AEBERE
B AEBEKE
BRI BE 1S B E R IB
ﬁ?&ﬁiﬁmiﬁ
[2 B K2 H 7E ¥ 44
IRy 9 32 4 [ Fgx HE 17 7
Lt FFRIR AR -

FIL/\

e external credit rating; o HNEBEAFEAR
1 EERERAR /202458 18D



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
EHIERERNE (B)

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5. BI¥REREE (&)
5.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 5.1 B&¥EKRREZE (&)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) =ERE (&)

(ii) = @EEpE (&)

(ii) Impairment of financial assets

(Continued)
Other financial assets at amortized cost KR ARG E ) A
(Continued) fit % mt & (48)

actual or expected significant
adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant
change to the counterparties’ ability
to meet its obligations;

actual or expected significant
changes in the operating results of
counterparties; and

significant changes in the expected
performance and behavior of the
counterparties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B SRR M5 (BB

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5. B¥RERERE R

5.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 5.1 BFEKRREZE (E&)

(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) SRR (E)

(ii) = BEERE (&)

(ii) Impairment of financial assets

(Continued)

Other financial assets at amortized cost AR AR ET E ) A
(Continued) fit 2 Bt & (48

The Group uses three categories (Stage PN SETE Ve 33N

1, Stage 2 and Stage 3) for other financial
assets at amortized cost which reflect
their credit risk and how the loss provision
is determined for each of those categories
(Note 4.8.4).

The ECLs of the loans to the related
parties are based on the difference
between the contractual cash flows due
in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at an approximation
of the original effective interest rate.
For other financial assets, the Group
measures the ECLs with reference to

AENHEGEREE
= A =@ R (BB
1 PEER 2B ERS)
R E A= R A &
W A EEREE
BREHESE (T
484) °

B RAE T B A TR
ERBRERRES
RIBIHH & REER
BN £R B TR HA U 2 Y
FrEREIRZHENE
B mRIEERMN X
BT EMERE IR - B R
HiteMEE A&
E2EXHHFHA

certain external credit ratings of the (RN 0F - 8=27 ST S

counterparties or comparable companies FAFER A kY E 8 &

and market data of loss to the recovery XN MISEEREE

rates. TEHAERBK -
MIERERERAR /2024558 187



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
EHIERERNE (B)

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5. B¥RERERE(E)

5.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 51 BiEEZE (&)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) SRR (E)
(i) Impairment of financial assets (i) ZEEERE (&)
(Continued)
Other financial assets at amortized cost KR ARG E ) A
(Continued) fit % mt & (48)
Movement of loss allowance for other LA gRA AN EFE R E
financial assets at amortized cost is as 2 B & E KB K
follows: HEHYRIT
Other
receivables
HaE KR
RMB'000
AREF T
Stage 3
P ER 3
As at January 1, 2023 R2023F1H1H 273,800
Net increase in the loss allowance AREEFTABZRAEBLX
recognized in profit or loss AR IE AN
during the year 348
Written off 1% 88 (269,860)
Exchange differences e H = &a 30
As at December 31, 2023 7202312 A31H 4,318
Exchange differences MEHZR 29
As at December 31, 2024 72024412 A31H 4,347
There is no transfer of financial assets 2024 F }% 2023 F A
among the three categories during 2024 EeRtEETE =@
and 2023. BRI 2 MR o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B ERERMNE (B)

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5. HM¥ERERE (H&)

5.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 51 BIEREZE (&)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) fERAREME (&)
(i) Impairment of financial assets (ii) ZEEERE (&)
(Continued)
Other financial assets at amortized cost AR AR ET E ) A
(Continued) fit % Bt & (4B)
As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the R 2024 F % 2023 F
gross carrying amount of other financial 12 A31 8 - LABEERAK
assets at amortized cost, and thus the AErEMAEMERE
maximum exposure to loss, is as follows: EMREATENU K&
ANELXRBRIT :

As at December 31,
M12831H

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRE ARETET

Stage 1 & B 41,391 27,894
Stage 3 FEEZ 3 4,347 4,318
Total gross other financial AR AT E /Y
assets at amortized cost HtemEE 45,738 32,212
Loss allowance BB (4,347) (4,318)
Other financial assets at MkrTEEREAEKRE N
amortized cost net of ECLs B AFTER
HEihomEE 41,391 27,894
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

St BN T (B

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
5.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(ii) Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

Other financial assets at amortized cost
(Continued)

Other receivables are written off where
there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery. Indicators that there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery
include, amongst others, the failure of a
debtor to engage in a repayment plan with
the Group.

Impairment losses on other receivables
are presented as net impairment losses
on financial assets in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited against
the same line item.

(c) Liquidity risk

Management aims to maintain sufficient cash
to meet funding requirement for operations and
monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s cash
on the basis of expected cash flow.

The Directors closely monitor the Group's cash
flow projections, which cover a period of not
less than twelve months from December 31,
2024, to enable it to meet its liabilities and
obligations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B SRR M5 (BB

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5. B¥RERERE R

5.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 5.1 BFEKRREZE (E&)

(¢) Liquidity risk (Continued) () REMEREBE (F)

()  the actual crude oil prices throughout
the forecast period being in line with the
projected levels included in the cashflow
projections; and

(i)  the Group's ability to generate operating
cashflows and to obtain additional
sources of financing, other than those
mentioned above, to finance the Group’s
oil exploration and production business,
including capital expenditure, as well as
other funding needs.

The table below analyses the Group’'s non-
derivative financial liabilities into relevant
maturity groupings based on the remaining
period from the balance sheet date to the
contractual maturity date. As disclosed in
Note 21, the repayment of the new secured
borrowings and the 2024 Senior Notes are
dependent on the available cash balances on
each settlement date in accordance with the
New Finance Documents. The table below
analyses the forecast by management about
the repayment amounts for the remaining
period from the balance sheet date to the
contractual maturity date based on the forecast
oil prices adopted in the valuation report for
the fair value assessment of the derivative
components of the new secured borrowings
and the 2024 Senior Notes.

() EEFEIHANER
RomERERERA
A FR B FEOBI 7K S AR 1
—H Rk

A B B A
ERERFERR L
i 6 A S B B SN
&R - AT R AR
6245 o 0 R R 2
EXBRENESE
HIARAMERETR -

(ii)

TRETASEMNIFETE
TR B ERREAREN 2 S
A RIERERHRES
& R 2 H B &R &R B fE &
7 #T o AN EE21 P B ER
¥ S UM 2024 8 %%
SENEREIRRIEE
XHRENESEEERN
ARAREHE - TRETR
T E I B 8 R AR AR R
2024 B REBITE T A
DRARBEMGBHERS
RER A RO TRORI R B A%
R BER - R
BEREHREEZARZH
B BRI ER EAFE B9 D AT ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B RER M (5B)

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5. M¥EEKRER(H)
5.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 51 BiEKREZE(H&)
(¢) Liquidity risk (Continued) () REMEREEE (F)
Total
contractual On demand
Carrying undiscounted or less Between 1 Between 2
amount cash flow than 1 year and 2 years and 5 years
BRKFE RES
REGE HERELE DPR—F —EWE —ZRE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AEETT ARETT AEEFTT ARETT
Aa at December 31,2024 2024512 8318
Borrowings L 2,917,129 4,148,303 143,768 222,840 3,781,695
Trade payables BRI 139,722 139,722 123,105 16,617 -
Provisions, accruals and EE - BIRE
other payables Hip R 376,423 473,553 93,749 - 379,804
Lease liabilities HERE 4747 5,440 3,347 2,093 -
3,438,021 4,767,018 363,969 241,550 4,161,499
Aa at December 31,2023 420235128318
Borrowings BN 2,735,940 4,274,015 233,729 212,481 3,827,805
Trade payables FERER K 266,186 266,186 228,294 37,892 =
Provisions, accruals and EE - BIRE
other payables H{th e 2% 323,999 143358 94,570 . 348788
Lease liabilities HERE 7,962 9,305 5,351 2,572 1,382
3,334,087 4,992,864 561,944 252,945 4,177,975
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B HIERERMNEE (B)

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5. M¥EKEEE (&)

5.2 Financial instruments by category 52 RERMNESEMIA
Other
financial
Financial assets at
assets amortized
at FVOCI cost Total
URnEE
sFTERH
SEEA

HitriRe AEERRA

KiEH FENHEM

THMEE SMEE At
RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTRE ARBTR AR®TR

As at December 31, 2024 72024128311
Financial assets SRMEE
Financial assets at FVOCI NAREBEFEEEES

(Note 13) FTAEMERE KED

SR EE (MEE13) 13,782 - 13,782

Trade and other receivables JFE 52 BR R R L A WK

excluding prepayment ENEECHEURE

(Notes 14 & 15) (KHIsE14 K2 15) - 109,614 109,614
Cash and cash equivalents RekREFEY

(Note 18) (Bzx18) - 71,883 71,883
Restricted cash (Note 17) R EIEE (BFE17) - 177,291 177,291

13,782 358,788 372,570
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
S IERRNE (B)

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5. B¥EKREE (&)
5.2 Financial instruments by category (Continued) 52 RERNESEIA (&)

Other
financial
Financial liabilities at
liabilities amortized
at FVTPL cost Total
LR REE
FFEEH
SEFTA R A
EHEEN STENHM
cHEE LRAeE et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTRT AR%®TR

As at December 31, 2024 12024512 H31H
Financial liabilities cEAE
Borrowings (Note 21) fe sk (fiFsE21)
— Secured borrowings — EHER 1,847 1,161,875 1,163,722
— Senior Notes —BERE 1,086 1,305,374 1,306,460
— Interest payable at coupon — AR (R
rates SEMNEZE) - 449,880 449,880
Trade and other payables JRE 1Y B R e EL A FE ST 5K
excluding non-financial liabilites TBIEFLFAE
(Notes 19 & 20) GEREY &) - 516,145 516,145

2,933 3,433,274 3,436,207
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B ERERMNE (B)

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5. HM¥ERERE (H&)

5.2 Financial instruments by category (Continued) 52 REHINEMIA (&)
Other
financial
Financial assets at
assets amortized
at FVOCI cost Total
UNAREE
FtEAH
SEH A

Hivfra  LAEERAAR

Wase) EHEMHEM

EHMEE SREE aEt
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTE ARBTT ARBTRL

As at December 31, 2023 7 2023F12831H
Financial assets cREE
Financial assets at FVOCI NAREBEFEAHEE

(Note 13) STAEMERS KA

T RVEE (M15213) 13,539 - 13,639

Trade and other receivables JFE 52 BR R R L A WK

excluding prepayment TNEEBRAR

(Notes 14 & 15) (KHIsE14 K2 15) - 113,478 113,478
Cash and cash equivalents RekREFEY

(Note 18) (Bzx18) - 62,905 62,905
Restricted cash (Note 17) R EIEE (BFE17) - 124,835 124,835

115,539 301,218 314,757
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RS R M et ()

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5.

5.2 Financial instruments by category (Continued)

MEEREE (&)

5.2

RERNESRMIA (&)

Other
financial

Financial liabilities at

liabilities amortized

at FVTPL cost Total
NAREE

SHEAK

.......

BEET A AR

EHBEN FrENHM

TRAR RAR st
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTL

As at December 31, 2023 7202312 831H
Financial liabilities THEE
Borrowings (Note 21) fe sk (fiFsE21)
— Secured borrowings — EHER
— Senior Notes — BERE
— Interest payable at coupon — ERANE(ZRER
rates MEZE)
Trade and other payables JRE 1Y B R e EL A FE ST 5K
excluding non-financial liabilites T E1EIEL R E &
(Notes 19 & 20) (B 19 % 20)

23,006 1,288,454 1,311,459

3,803 1,147,824 1,151,627

= 299,662 299,662

= 590,185 590,185

26,808 3,326,126 3,352,933

5.3 Capital management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain
an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost
of capital. The Group's overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt BN T (B

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
5.3 Capital management (Continued)

The Group monitors capital on the basis of Debt
over EBITDA. Debt is calculated as total borrowings
including “current and non-current borrowings” as
shown in the consolidated statement of financial
position. EBITDA is determined as loss before
income tax, before interest and other income,
finance cost and depreciation, depletion and
amortization.

The Debt over EBITDA ratios were as follows:

5. PHEEREER)
53 BEAXEE(H)

AEEAEBHERA S ER
M (AT 78 TEBITDA D) L X &
EEEMEER -EHERNE
KA (B OB AR R AT
SR RE B REER])
EBITDA 1 BR A B I H b IR
A HBER TE TREE
HATROBRFTS AT 1R -

B 154858 B EBITDA &I tr R 51 &
R

Year ended December 31,
HZ12A31BLLEE

2024 2023

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®FTRT AREFTT

Total borrowings EE L 2,920,062 2,762,748

Loss before income tax B TS A A ES 18 (270,828) (73,708)

Interest income B HA (3) (167)
Finance cost (Note 28) B8 A (M7 28) 394,785 383,667

Depreciation, depletion and E - FTREREE

amortization 362,682 367,758
EBITDA EBITDA 486,636 677,550
Debt over EBITDA ratio Ef54a%E EH EBITDA MYt &R 6.0 4.1

The Debt over EBITDA ratio has changed from 4.1 to
6.0 which was primarily due to the increase of loss
before income tax for the year 2024.

B 4AZE R EBITDAMI LL R 4.1
FHZE6.0 TERHMN2024F
Br PT/SRR AT 1B H3E DN AT EL -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ST HRRME (8)

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
5.4 Fair value estimation
(i) Fair value hierarchy

The table below analyses the Group's financial
instruments carried at fair value as at December
31, 2024, by level of the inputs to valuation
techniques used to measure fair value. Such
inputs are categorized into three levels within a
fair value hierarchy as follows:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or
liabilities.

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices
included within level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (that is, as prices)
or indirectly (that is, derived from
prices).

Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are
not based on observable market data
(that is, unobservable inputs).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

o B 75 R B ot

(%)

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5. BEREKREE (&)
5.4 Fair value estimation (Continued) 54 QX AEEMGE (&)
(i) Fair value hierarchy (Continued) (i) D2REEEHK(E)
The following table presents the Group's TREINAEB AR RE
financial assets and financial liabilities that are B ENEeREERE R
measured at fair value. BfE -
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
EF—ER FER FZER @ct
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR AR%Tn AR®Tn AR®Tx
As at December 31, 2024 R2024%12 8318
Financial assets CREE
Financial assets at FVOCI AR EEFEEE
BE AL MBES
WRemEE
— Equity investments —#EnkE (fF13)
(Note 13) - - 13,782 13,782
Financial liabilities SREE
Financial liabilities at FVTPL ~ AAAEETEAE
ST AL B
ERAE
— Derivative componentof ~— — EIREFH
secured borrowings PTHER D - - 1,847 1,847
— Derivative component of  — 2024 B %A ZEH)
the 2024 Senior Notes TEED - - 1,086 1,086
- - 2,933 2,033

MIEERIER AR AT / 2024 F 3K
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B RR M5 (BB

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5. HMBERER (H&)

5.4 Fair value estimation (Continued) 54 QA REEMGE (&)
(i)  Fair value hierarchy (Continued) (i) D2REBEEREHK(E)
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
EF—ER F_ER E=ER @t

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARETRL

As at December 31,2023  R2023%€12H31H

Financial assets SREE

Financial assets at FVOCI IR BEFEEE
BETAEMGRA

hamemEE
— Equity investments — EmRE (MeE13)
(Note 13) - - 13,539 13,539
Financial liabilities cREE

Financial liabilities at FVTPL ~ A AR EEFEEE
2EH AL AR

SRAaRE
— Derivative componentof ~ — EREFH
secured borrowings PTHEE D - - 23,005 23,005
— Derivative component of  — 2024 B %A ZEH
the 2024 Senior Notes TS = = 3,803 3,803
- - 26,808 26,808
There were no transfers between level 1, level FAEE—EH F=
2 and level 3 during the years. BARE=EREa e o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B SRR M5 (BB

5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

5.4 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(i)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments
traded in active markets is based on
quoted market prices at the end of
reporting period. A market is regarded
as active if quoted prices are readily and
regularly available from an exchange,
dealer, broker, industry group, pricing
service, or regulatory agency, and those
prices represent actual and regularly
occurring market transactions on an arm’s
length basis.

Financial instruments in level 2

The fair value of financial instruments that
are not traded in an active market (for
example, over-the-counter derivatives) is
determined by using valuation techniques.
These valuation techniques maximize the
use of observable market data where it is
available and rely as little as possible on
entity specific estimates. If all significant
inputs required to fair value an instrument
are observable, the instrument is included
in level 2. If one or more of the significant
inputs is not based on observable market
data, the instrument is included in level 3.

5.

MEEREE (&)

5.4

L
NI

(i)

MIEERIER AR AT / 2024 F 3K

BEE MG (F)

AREEER(HE)

(a)

(b)

EE—BRALZH
T A

EERMBETR K
TR TANBFEHR
MR BEERRT
BHRE - HmiH5RE
ZNERER S
R BREA 1T
Xhe  EERSHE
BREERBES
AIZBBRARRETS
REERZEENTS
X5 AZMEERG
BRI o

EE—EBRAL L
IA

RELERMSBER
WmEr T A (g
IMTETE) AR
BEMNABHERNE
Eeo@ERNZER
FARIER 22 T 3% B (1A
) RELKREE
B TEE - iEr
E-SRMIANAR
BEMRNMAEER
AR BREEE
BlazemIARBR
FER M —IHIK
ZIHE KN AW IR
B OB R T 5 8UE
BlzZesmTARBER
EZEMH o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
EHIERERNE (B)

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5. B¥RERERE(E)

N,

X RBEEME (8]

5.4 Fair value estimation (Continued) 5.4

(i) Fair value hierarchy (Continued) (i) D2REBEEREHK(E)

HEE=BRANZH

(c) Financial instruments in level 3 (c)

With respect to the level 3 fair value
measurement for the Group's financial
assets at fair value that are unlisted equity
investments with no active market exists,
the Group uses market approach as the
valuation technique and determines
the fair value based on the fair value of
underlying assets and liabilities of the
entities. As at December 31, 2024 and
2023, the Directors are of their opinion
that there is a wide range of possible fair
value measurements and the determined
carrying amount represents the best
estimate of fair value within that range.

With respect to the level 3 fair value
measurement for the Group's financial
liabilities at fair value, the Group measured
with discounted cash flow method by
significant unobservable inputs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B SRR M5 (BB

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

5.4 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(ii)

Valuation techniques used to determine fair
values

Specific valuation techniques used to value
financial instruments include:

o market approach is used to determine
the fair value of the equity investment
in common shares of unlisted company
accounted at FVOCI.

° discounted cash flow method is used to
determine the fair value of the financial
liabilities accounted at FVTPL.

Financial assets valuation process

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the
Group's unlisted equity investment is
categorized as level 3 financial instruments.
The fair value of unlisted equity investment
was determined by the adjusted net asset
approach and key unobservable input includes
net asset value and adjustments to book value
of underlying assets not measured at fair value.

5. MEBERREE(E)

5.4

L
NI

(ii)

BEE MG (F)

AU EQXREENMGE
E5 30

AUAEEem T ANETE
HERTRE :

o UNUWMIBERBANIR
ERAREEFER
HEBEHARMESE
Lt /N
EBRRREaRENR
SBE -

o BERIBEMIOR
ENRAREBENER
HBHAAZHESR
MEMBENATE

(=

EHEEMEBRE

M 2024 F K 2023F 12 A
31H - AEEMIFELTA
AIRERERGERE=R
ERMIAE-FLMAAR
BRENRFEDNIRER
BREEFHELIEETRETE
TABERGAMIBEBRIEE
EFERHTIEEAFE
AEMNHBEEERNKREE
EL R EE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ST HRRME (8)

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5. B¥RERERE(E)

5.4 Fair value estimation (Continued) 5.4

(ii)) Valuation techniques used to determine fair
values (Continued)

Financial liabilities valuation process

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the
Group adopted the valuations on the financial
liabilities at FVTPL accounted for as level 3 fair
values performed by an external independent
professional valuer for financial reporting
purposes.

The main level 3 inputs used by the Group are
derived and evaluated as follows:

L
YN

(ii)

BEEMAE (&)

RUFERABENMGE
Bl (%)

THEEMGERRE

72024 F K% 2023912 A
318 AEBEKRA TN
B EETEARITO S
ERBE-ERKANEBERZ
EMNRAABEFEAHR
SHFAEHEZN SR
B EMNFTE  AEF B R
HR® -

AEEEANIEE=FE
085 A B SRR 5P £
AR -

Range of inputs Range of inputs

Significant as at as at
unobservable December 31, December 31,
Derivative component Valuation techniques inputs* 2024 2023
FABEN 20245128318 2023%12A31H
TEDS HERM EZRAZH* 2YER 2YEH
2024 Senior Notes Discounted cash flow  Crude oil prices 71.0-74.0 70.0-77.0
method (US$/bbl)
2024BEFE Renfix ROmER (/1)
Discount rate 11.52% 14.86%
A%
Secured borrowings Discounted cash flow  Crude oil prices 71.0-74.0 70.0-77.0
method (US$/bbl)
BRER Renfix FROmER (Em,/1#)
Discount rate 10.52%-11.52%  13.86%-14.86%
i &
@ There were no significant inter-relationships between & FABR2HACETES

unobservable inputs that materially affect fair values.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B SRR M5 (BB

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

5.4 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(ii)

Valuation techniques used to determine fair
values (Continued)

Financial liabilities valuation process
(Continued)

The fair value of derivative components of the
2024 Senior Notes and the secured borrowings
is determined using discounted cash flow
method and the significant unobservable
inputs used in the fair value measurement
are crude oil prices and discount rates. As at
December 31, 2024, it is estimated that with
all other variables held constant, an increase/
decrease in crude oil prices by 5% would have
increased/decreased the Group’s changes in
fair value of the financial liabilities at FVTPL
which was included in other gains/(losses),
net by US$0.1 million/US$0.1 million (2023:
US$0.8 million/US$0.7 million) respectively. As
at December 31, 2024, it is estimated that with
all other variables held constant, the discount
rates increased/decreased by 1% would have
increased/decreased the Group's changes in
fair value of the financial liabilities at FVTPL
which was included in other gains/(losses) by
US$0.3 million/US$0.3 million (2023: US$0.7
million/US$0.7 million) respectively.

5. MEBERREE(E)

5.4

L
NI

(ii)

BEE MG (F)

AU EQXREENMGE
7 ()

THEEGERRE (&)

2024 BEEZBEMEHRERK
MITEL PN AR EETD
FRBESRITBEEIET
AREBEFEMERNE
ATABRGALE AR
B S A AT IR K o 72024
F£12H8318 WA E
fin B 2 T - R
BREATEKS% &
SEAF AEAMFEF (18
K) FEANUQAAEE
AFERHZH A BB
ENERHBENAAEE
B {h T8 5 B R
LONTEBETL/018E
F L (20234 : 088
ETL/07EEET) o K
2024412 A31 8 » WA
EHMBEEHFTIE
P EEMED1%
REBEFAEMFE (B
K) FHENONULAAEE
SFERHZFHT AL B
ENERBENAREE
S B HET 5D B8
LO3EBETL03BE
EL (2023 : 0.7 B =
TT/07TEEET) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
EHIERERNE (B)

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5. B¥RERERE(E)

5.4 Fair value estimation (Continued) 54 QA REEMGE (&)
(ii) Valuation techniques used to determine fair (i) AAFE2AEBENGE
values (Continued) o flT (48)
Financial liabilities valuation process TREEGEAE (&)
(Continued)
The movement on the balance of financial TRHEBEAREBEREN
liabilities fair value measurements is as follows: FEIT -
Derivative
component of
TTESRD
2024 secured
Senior Notes borrowings
2024

BRARE IR ER
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT AREBTET

As at January 1, 2023 M2023F1H1H
7,069 36,808
Changes in fair value recognized AFERIERZERH
in profit or loss during the year “AEBEE (3,374) (14,372)
Exchange differences EH =X 108 569
As at December 31, 2023 R2023512H31H 3,803 23,005
Changes in fair value recognized ~ANFERIERZERH
in profit or loss during the year NREEE (2,747) (21,286)
Exchange differences EH Z=&a 30 128
As at December 31, 2024 7"2024F12H831H 1,086 1,847
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B SRR M5 (BB

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

5.4 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(ii)

Valuation techniques used to determine fair
values (Continued)

Financial liabilities valuation process
(Continued)

The change in the fair value resulting from the
measurements of the derivative components
of the 2024 Senior Notes and the secured
borrowings are recognized in other gains/
(losses), net in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial
instruments measured at amortized costs
were not materially different from their fair
values as at December 31, 2024, except for
the 2024 Senior Notes and secured borrowings
mentioned above.

6. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of financial statements requires the use
of accounting estimates which, by definition, will seldom
equal the actual results. Management also needs to
exercise judgement in applying the Group’s accounting

policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed

to be reasonable under the circumstances.

5.

6.

MHRREE (&)
54 D AREBEEME (&)

(i) AUFEAABENMGE
7 ()

THEEGERRE (&)

FTE2024 B AEBHITA
B I 1 S SRR 0T A 5D
DHELENAREBEED
REHEAEKRERMEM
M (BXR)  FERE

27
Ao ©

Br bl 202418 % Z & R IK
G RN NEE R 2024
F12 A31 B LA &R A5
EMNeRTEMNEEDSE
HARBEIEERE

Z
o

e

\
/l

BA g2 & ot {4 =t K I

REMBRENBRT EEHHE:
ik RSO OLES  RD
FEAERERIAR - EEAREE
IR  ERERE (LA -

SRHE RAE DERESL KR KRB
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GRS R BT EE (48)

6. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

6.1 Critical accounting estimates

(a)

Oil and gas reserves

Estimates of oil and gas reserves are important
in the Group's investment decision-making
process. They are key elements in determining
the depreciation, depletion and amortization
and testing for impairment of oil and gas
properties and mineral interests. Proved
and probable developed producing reserves
estimates are subject to revision, either upward
or downward, based on new information from
development of drilling and production activities
or from changes in economic factors, including
oil prices, production volume, contract terms,
development plans, etc.

The Group's oil and gas properties and mineral
interests are depreciated on a unit-of-production
basis using the estimated reserves (Note (b)
below). A reduction in the estimated reserves
will increase depreciation, depletion and
amortization charges of oil and gas properties
and mineral interests.

Oil and gas reserves are also used in assessing
oil and gas properties and mineral interests
for impairment (Note (c) below). Proved and
probable developed producing reserves are
used to estimate future production volumes
in the cash flow model for the purpose
of assessing the recoverable amounts. A
significant reduction in the estimated reserves
would be considered as a possible impairment
which may further require an
impairment assessment.

indicator,
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B ERERMNE (B)

6. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

6.1 Critical accounting estimates (Continued)

(b)

Depreciation, depletion and amortization
of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets

In addition to the depreciation, depletion and
amortization of oil and gas properties and
mineral interests using the unit of production
method based on the estimated reserves as
disclosed in Notes 4.4 and 4.6, management
of the Group determines the estimated useful
lives and related depreciation, depletion and
amortization charges for other property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets. This
estimate is based on the historical experience
of the actual useful lives of property, plant and
equipment of similar nature and functions, and
the period throughout which the Group intends
to derive future economic benefits from the use
of intangible assets. Management will adjust
the estimated useful lives where useful lives
vary from previously estimated useful lives.

6. BRETHEE R E (F)

6.1

(b)

et ()

TBHE - IBRRKRBEAR
BREENFE R
- § 7]

BrRERIENFA4.4H4.6F7
Mt REERENLE
EXFEHMREEREE
BT E MEREH
LAGN - RE B E B E &
HBNTEE  THREK
EUAREREEEHEBETE
ETAEAER - W E AR
BMITE - WHEREE-Z
ZMEDEREIEE R
NEMTEE - TH&EH
EHERAFERAFERAR
AEEBBHEERAEREE
ERETESKEREN
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GRS R BT EE (48)

6. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

6.1 Critical accounting estimates (Continued)

(c)

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment, including oil
and gas properties, and intangible assets
are reviewed for possible impairments
when events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable. The recoverable amount of a
cash generating unit (“CGU") is determined
based on the higher of value-in-use (“VIU") and
fair value less cost of disposal (“FVLCOD"),
calculations of both require the use of
significant assumptions. Determination as to
whether and how much an asset is impaired
involve management estimates and judgements
such as forecast crude oil prices, forecast
production volumes, forecast operating costs
and capital expenditures and discount rates.
The Group uses all readily available information
in determining an amount that is a reasonable
approximation of recoverable amount,
including estimates based on reasonable and
supportable assumptions of forecast crude oil
prices, forecast production volumes, forecast
operating costs and capital expenditures and
discount rates. As at December 31, 2024, the
carrying amounts of oil and gas properties and
mineral interests are RMB928.6 million (2023:
RMB1,321.5 million) and RMB22.3 million
(2023: RMB33.1 million), respectively.

210 MIEHOLDINGS CORPORATION / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

6. BRETHEE R E (B)

6.1 BAEEEHAE ()

(c)

TBHE - IBRRKRBEUAR
BREENRE

EEHRBEEFHBERE(L
7 B R (B B AJ BE SR
EBRERT SHEEHE
HREEEANTBE
IRk REMETLEEE
TRENG - REEHLE
JCH) A & B R (B
BEANEEREREE
AHNEBRIHENREE
—ENFGEFEMNAERXR
BR-HRN-—BEERESD
BE MR ES RO ER Y
&EW\EFV BRI E

CTRABREERREAR
ﬁi%&%ﬁ?:éﬁ%
5T R A - N B & A
2 HEAERIAFEK AT I

CleBEONEBMET B
REEBARENRMH

ERTEAEENMHET T8
AEE BAREEAR
BRI ARITEE - H
£2024%F 128318 ' BR
BENEEEZNERES
BHRABARKI2L6EE
7T (2023 F : AR¥1,3215
BET) RAR®K2388
7L (202345 : AR¥E33.18

4 —

&IT) °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
FET RS R MY 7T (8

6. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

6.1 Critical accounting estimates (Continued)

(d)

Asset retirement obligations

Provision is recognized for the future
decommissioning and restoration of oil
and gas properties. The amounts of the
provision recognized are the present values
of the estimated future expenditures. The
ultimate cost of environmental disturbances,
asset retirement and similar obligation are
uncertain. Management uses its judgement
and experience to provide for these costs
over the life of operations. Cost estimates
vary in response to many factors including
changes to the relevant legal requirements,
the Group’s related policies, the emergence of
new restoration technigues and the effects of
inflation.

Cost estimates are updated throughout the
life of the operation. The expected timing of
expenditure included in cost estimates can also
change, for example in response to changes in
reserves, or production volumes or economic
conditions. Expenditure may occur before and
after closure and can continue for an extended
period of time depending on the specific site
requirements. Cash flows must be discounted
if this has a material effect. The selection
of appropriate sources on which to base
calculation of the risk-free discount rate used
for this purpose also requires judgement. As
a result of all of the above factors there could
be significant adjustments to the provision for
close down, restoration and clean-up costs
which would affect future financial results.

6. BRETHEE R E (F)

6.1 BAREHfAE ()

(d)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B RER M (5B)

6. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

6.1 Critical accounting estimates (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Asset retirement obligations (Continued)

The Group currently operates mainly in the
PRC. The outcome of environmental and other
similar obligations under proposed or future
environmental legislation cannot reasonably be
estimated at present, which could be material.
Under existing legislation, however, the
Directors of the Company are in their opinion
that there are no probable liabilities that are
in addition to amounts which have already
been reflected in the consolidated financial
statements that will have a material adverse
effect on the financial position of the Group.
As at December 31, 2024, the carrying amount
of provision for asset retirement obligations is
RMB153.6 million (2023: RMB136.1 million).

Impairment of financial assets

The loss allowances for financial assets are
based on assumptions about risk of default
and ECLs rates. The Group uses judgement in
making these assumptions and selecting the
inputs to the impairment calculation, based
on the Group's past history, existing market
conditions as well as forward-looking estimates
at the end of each reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B SRR M5 (BB

6. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

6.1 Critical accounting estimates (Continued)

(f)

Fair values

In determining the fair value of the new
secured borrowings and the 2024 Senior Notes,
the Group uses estimation methodologies to
interpret market data, such as crude oil prices
and discount rates, in the valuation techniques.

6.2 Critical accounting judgements

(a)

Going concern consideration

In the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies, apart from those involving
estimates, management has prepared the
consolidated financial statements on the
assumption that the Group will be able to
operate as a going concern in the coming year,
which is a critical judgement that has the most
significant effect on the amounts recognized
in the financial statements. The assessment of
the going concern assumption involves making
a judgement by the Directors, at a particular
point of time, about the future outcome of
events or conditions which are inherently
uncertain. The Directors consider that the
Group has the capability to continue as a going
concern and the major events or conditions,
which may give rise to business risks, that
individually or collectively may cast significant
doubt upon the going concern assumption are
set out in Note 3.3 to the consolidated financial
statements.

6. BRETHEE R E (F)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ST HRRME (8)

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION

(a)

(b)

Description of segment

The chief operating decision-maker (the “CODM")
has been identified as the executive directors
and chief executive of the Company who review
the Group's internal reporting in order to assess
performance and allocate resources. The CODM has
determined the operating segments based on these
reports.

The CODM considers the business performance of
the Group from a geographic perspective. There is
only one segment which is principally engaged in
exploration, development, production and sale of oil
under PSCs in the PRC.

=B
2 EB At

FTEZERKE(TCODM]) &
RRABHMBITEEREE  BE
HRAEBEMHRBIHRE AFTEHER
WS AER - CODME RIEZ

CODMtH M AEZE B T A
SENFRERR - AEEER—
BEEf - EXEEHBEZRREM
DRERNEEER A% L£E
KSEERM

Revenue from contracts with customers (b) EFERWA
Year ended December 31,
HZ12A31BLEE
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETIT
Entity-wide information tEEBERRFER
Analysis of revenue by category U A3z 58 R 5 AT
Timing of revenue recognition N AR
At a point in time X
— Sale of crude oil and gas — HERBRKRAR 897,264 1,034,885
Transferred over time RE—FER
— Provision of services — RRERE 273 1,098
897,537 1,035,983
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
FET RS R MY 7T (8

7.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023,
total revenue from crude oil and gas sales in the PRC
are derived solely from PetroChina. Crude oil and
gas sales revenues from PetroChina accounted for
99.9% of the Group’s total revenue (2023: 99.9%).

For the contracts from consultation services that
have an original expected duration of one year or
less, as permitted under IFRS 15, the transaction
price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not
disclosed.

Geographical information

All of the Group's revenue is derived in the PRC
during the years ended December 31, 2024, and
2023. As at December 31, 2024, and 2023, the non-
current assets of the Group, excluding financial
assets at FVOCI, are mainly located in the PRC.

7.

1_;41_4\ (IIE)

(b) BEF&RWA ()

(c)

B = 2024 F K% 2023F 12 A 31
HIEFE  ANEBEEFBEAHET
HEWAY REEGPAER
MEFHA - KEEFERFP AH
B 10 BR 13 B9 08 =8 B WA G AR
EEE IR AR99.9% (20234 :
99.9%) °

R IR B PR B 5 ¥k 5 2B 15904 7E -
%TEN?%EE@WE?‘%—E%EEE‘J
BHRARBEER - DELAELERE
TERMNXSERTTERE -

i & &

B E£2024F % 2023F 12 H 31
HIEFE  NEBMREWRAHR
B o 722024 F K 2023F 12
A31 8 AEERFERBEE -
BRUAREBETEBEEZEHFTA
HiraammemEE 2
R E -

185RIERER AR / 2024 F 5,
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
S IERRNE (B)

8. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 8 ATHE IBEKRZHE
Vehicles,
office and
Oil and gas Leasehold ~ production ~ Construction
properties Buildings improvements  equipment i progress Total
B HLE
HE HER
BREE BEN MExE FERE ERIE it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARET ARETR ARETT AR%ETR ARETR
As at January 1, 2023 R2023E151R
Cost KA 8,091,634 10,374 - 06,285 6,363 8,175,156
Accumulated depreciation and 2 HERRE
impairment (6,535,800) (7,106) - (56,734) - (6,599,640)
Net carrying amount RRFE 1,555,834 3,268 = 9,551 6,863 1575516
Year ended December 31,2023  EZ2023%12831H
LEE
Opening net carrying amount BOERFE 1,555,834 3,268 - 9,551 6,863 1,575,516
Additions b=l 429 - - 2,032 121,617 124,078
Transferred k3 123770 - - - (123770) -
Depreciation WEER (358,545) (101) - (2,049) - (360,695)
Exchange differences ELES - - - 15 = 15
Closing net carrying amount HREEFE 1321488 3,167 = 9,549 4710 1338914
As at December 31, 2023 R2023F12A31H
Cost A 8,215,833 10374 - 68,362 4710 8299279
Accumulated depreciation and ZIHERAE
impairment (6,894,345) (7,207) = (58,813) - (6,960,365)
Net carrying amount REFE 1321488 3,167 - 9,549 4710 1338914
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B HIERERMNEE (B)

8.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 8. THE IKEXEGE
(Continued)
Vehicles,
office and
Oil and gas Leasehold  production Construction
properties Buildings improvements  equipment  in progress Total
REBAE
g RER
BREE BEY NE%EE  LERE  ERIE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®Tn  ARETR ARETR AR%Tr ARETR ARETxR
Year ended December 31,2024 HZ 2024512 A31H
LEE
Opening net carrying amount BREFE 1,321,488 3,167 - 9,549 4710 1338914
Additions )l - - 1,234 2,612 47,651 51,497
Impairment, net (Note (c) BB FE ) (91,163) - - - - (91,163)
Transferred e 43,586 - - - (43,586) -
Depreciation HEER (345,278) (101) (176) (1,760) - (347,315)
Exchange differences ERESE - - - 10 - 10
Closing net carrying amount HRERFE 928,633 3,066 1,058 10411 8,775 951,943
As at December 31, 2024 ®2024%12831R
Cost KA 8,259,419 10,374 1,234 017 8,775 8,350,819
Accumulated depreciationand ~ ZHTE RHE
impairment (7,330,786) (7,308) (176) (60,606) - (7,398,876)
Net carrying amount REHE 928,633 3,066 1,058 10,411 8,775 951,943

No construction in progress was written off in both 2023

and 2024.

2024 F N 2023 FHEAZSHERETIE ©

MIBERIZR B RR A 7 / 2024 F 3R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ST HRRME (8)

8. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

(a) Depreciation charge

8 AIEE IMKZEE)

(a) HEEM

Year ended December 31,
HZ12A31BLEE
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARETRE

Charge to the statement of FFAGRE K EmE
comprehensive income 347,315 360,695
Released from/(capitalized in) FE#EL (BAM)
inventories 1,999 (6,311)
349,314 354,384
(b) Assets deployed under the PSC (b) RERSEEREANEE
As at December 31,
Mm12831H8
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR AREBTT
Assets directly deployed in and AEEEPHHSEFT A

operated under the Group's PSCs B

RERTEFHEER

with CNPC, in the PRC TAFERRRIENEE
— Cost — B 8,335,263 8,285,417
— Accumulated depreciation and — BEERRE

impairment

(7,388,512)  (6,950,529)

946,751 1,334,888
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A
= 7

BT sk I e (A8

8. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

(c)

Impairment losses

As at 31 December 2024, management has
performed an assessment of the CGU. The
carrying value of the CGU is compared against the
recoverable amount, which is the higher of VIU and
FVLCOD. Based on the assessment, recoverable
amounts is determined as the VIU.

In performing the impairment assessment, the
key assumptions and input data adopted by the
management include forecast crude oil prices,
forecast production volumes, forecast operating
costs and capital expenditures and discount rates.
Management adopted (1) the forecast crude oil
prices based on the approved financial budgets
and also bench-marked against a range of price
forecasts published by various banks and industry
organizations; (2) the forecast production volumes
based on management’s production plan for the
remaining concession periods, which is below the
estimated reserve volume as set out in the reserve
report; (3) the forecast operating costs and capital
expenditures based on the Group’s financial budget
and business plan; and (4) the pre-tax discount
rate reflected specific risks relating to the relevant
business. The pre-tax discount rate used in the
calculations of recoverable amount was 22.12%
(2023: 23.17%).

8. FBE- - IWMKRZE (&)

(c)

HAERP(

R2024F 12 A31H ERE &t
HIRNGELBILET T - 1§
ReERETHRAEEERTK
Bl SEEETHE  ARAREE
HNBREERAENSEEERE
BERL fREEAERSE ' B
ATk e S BERIRIETEAEEE
TT1dET ©

EETRET LR BRBAK
B ERBRRNBEERRE
BIER - BAEE - BAIRESE
AFEET HARFTIRE - B
BEHEEATERGN  (1)RIE
EHOER B I TEE A R T ERIT
MITHAB MO — R ERS
TERI R FE ORI R EHE : QT
BETF#ERBANEETE
RERNEIES  ZBHUES
BERFEEREFR2HFEE : Q)
BEANEEM KBS NERE
HIETRAREBRAMEESZH
LA K2 (4) BT AR B9 37 3R R B FL Al
PrERE - I B B AT IR R A Ak
1T AR AR E B b o FE ¥ AT
WEleENGTEBRERERAON
AIHTIR R 522.12% (20234 :
23.17%) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
EHIERERNE (B)

8.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 8.
(Continued)

(c)

Impairment losses (Continued)

The key assumptions used in determining the
recoverable amount are as follows:

TEE ITHRRR#E(E)

(c)

B R G ()

FE e A MK B BB 4 R 0 B R
2T

Assessment performed
on December 31

R12 A 31 B#{TAVREAL

2024 2023
Period of projection TEORI EA 2025-2028  2024-2028
Crude oil prices (US$/bbl) FomER (ET/18) 71.0-74.0 70.0-77.0
Production volumes for the TR T AN E S
remaining concession period (Mbbl)  (F#&) 8,889 13,217
Inflation rate (p.a.) BERERE (8F) 2.18% 2.20%
Exchange rate (US$/RMB) X (ET/ ARE) 7.2000 7.0997
Pre-tax discount rate (p.a.) AR X (54F) 22.12% 23.17%

Based on the assessment, the Group recognized
net impairment charges on property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets of RMB91.2 million
(Note 8) and RMB2.2 million (Note 9) respectively
for the year. For the year ended December 31, 2023,
the recoverable amount of the CGU approximates
to its carrying value. The Group did not recognize or
reverse any impairment loss on property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets (Note 9).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
FET RS R MY 7T (8

8. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

(c)

Impairment losses (Continued)

If the forecast crude oil prices had been 5% lower
than management’s estimates, the Group would
have had to recognize an impairment loss against
property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets of RMB147.2 million and RMB3.6 million,
respectively.

If the production volume had been 5% lower than
management’s estimates, the Group would have had
to recognize an impairment loss against property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets of
RMB162.5 million and RMB4.0 million, respectively.

If the pre-tax discount rate had been 1% higher than
management'’s estimates, the Group would have had
to recognize an impairment loss against property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets of
RMB105.4 million and RMB2.6 million, respectively.

(c)

(B R G ()

TR R M ERRE R E M
KETRES% I EEHAEE
BHETHE  BWFERBHEAR
BREEDHBRASEAARE
14728 E8TTMARKI6EET
BUREE X ©

@i&%%@%ﬁ@ﬁ*ﬁkﬂ?Tﬁé
5% ' Bl @ B AKE AT EHT
EJJE BEREZEAREREE

DREREEAARK 16258
ETMARKAIOEE TR E
B

BRED AR EZRE R E MK
FER1%  AeEHAEEEA
HETBE - BB REHEARE
FEEDHBERCEAARK
105488 LMARK26EETT
R BB K »
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
S IERRNE (B)

9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 9. EBREE
Mineral  Computer

interests software Total

BEEZ  BREH @t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETE ARETR

As at January 1, 2023 R2023E181H
Cost AR 123,210 29,206 152,416
Accumulated amortization and impairment ~ 2&HE 85 R RIE (80,751) (29,206) (109,957)
Net carrying amount RESE 42,459 = 42,459
Year ended December 31, 2023 BZE2023F12831HLLEE
Opening net carrying amount HAREFE 42,459 - 42,459
Amortization charge #HER (9,402) - (9,402)
Closing net carrying amount BRREFE 33,057 = 33,057
As at December 31, 2023 R2023F12A31H
Cost %N 123,210 29,206 152,416
Accumulated amortization and impairment ~ 2:H# 8 RRE (90,153) (29.208)  (119,359)
Net carrying amount FHFE 33,057 = 33,057
Year ended December 31, 2024 BZ224512A3MBLLEE
Opening net carrying amount HAARE S E 33,057 - 33,057
Amortization charge HiHER (8,561) - (8,561)
Impairment charge (Note 8(c)) REER (FEs(c) (2,239) - (2,239)
Closing net carrying amount BRREFE 22,257 - 22,257
As at December 31, 2024 R2024F12831H
Cost %N 123,210 29,206 152,416
Accumulated amortization and impairment 25t 5 K RE (100,953) (29,206) (130,159
Net carrying amount FEFE 22,257 - 22,257
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B SRR M5 (BB

10. LEASES 10. HE
Leases where the Group is a lessee AEBEARBEANEE
The Group leases various office premises and staff AEBHEEZERASAREIRES °
quarters. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed HEARBEERI123F (2023 F :
periods of 1 to 3 years (2023: 1 to 3 years). Lease 1E23F)MEFHR - HEKRRKEE
terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain BiHmEe - B8 SEN R )RR G
a wide range of different terms and conditions. The o MEHRTEMEMEZL - B
lease agreements do not impose any covenants, but EEETSRERRER -
leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing
purposes.
(a) Right-of-use assets (“ROU Assets”) (a) FEHAEEE
The analysis of the net carrying amount of leased BRAREAEEENHEMEYN
properties recognized as ROU Assets is as follows: REEESTET :
Buildings
EE
RMB'000
AR®TTT
As at January 1,2023 7 2023F1 A1 H 5,599
Lease modification THEE®R 6,608
Early termination IRHIAR IE (605)
Depreciation charge HEER (3,972)
Exchange differences MEHZERE 24
As at December 31, 2023 7202312 A31 H 7,654
Lease modification HE BN 1,648
Depreciation charge nEER (4,807)
Exchange differences MEHZR 26
As at December 31, 2024 12024412 H31H 4,521

MIGSRZERERAT /202458 223



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B RER M (5B)

10. LEASES (Continued) 10. HE (&)
Leases where the Group is a lessee (Continued) AEBEAERBEANEE (B)
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEA®E
As at December 31,
M®12A831H
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT ARETET

Minimum lease payment due N IR & REE
— Within 1 year —1FR 3,347 5,351
— Between 1 to 2 years — 1 ZE 2% 2,093 2,572
— Between 2 to 5 years —2FEHF - 1,382
5,440 9,305
Less: future finance charge B RIS E R (693) (1,343)
Present value of lease liabilities HEBEMIRE 4,747 7,962
Less: Amount due for settlement B mBAEREE TETY
with 12 months shown 2@ ARBPEE SRR
under current liabilities (2,786) (4,564)
Amount due for settlement after ERBEEBE TETN
12 months shown under N2EARENEE SR
non-current liabilities 1,961 3,398
As at December 31,
R12A31H
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TRT ARBTET
Depreciation charge on ROU Assets {FREZENTEEH 4,807 3,972
Interest expense on lease liabilites & & ENF 2 & A 890 668
Expenses relating to short-term HEHHERMENER
leases 2,405 2,237
Total cash outflows for leases HER &R B 8,187 7,392
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B SRR M5 (BB

11. JOINT ARRANGEMENTS 11. 88 %H
Joint operations HEARE
During the year, the Group had certain PSC interests, REE AEEBRBUATERDKE
which are accounted for as joint operation in accordance E#Ez - HRBEBR B REERSE

with IFRS 11 “Joint arrangements”. These PSCs establish
joint control over the development and production
activities of underlying oilfields. The assets are not owned
by a separate legal entity but are controlled by individual
participants in the PSCs. Each participant of the PSC is
entitled to a pre-determined share of the related output
and bears an agreed share of the costs. The Group acts as
foreign contractor in these PSCs, which is responsible for
the development and production activities in accordance
with the approved production plans.

(a) Daan PSC

The Group holds 100% foreign contractor’s interest
in the Daan PSC, with CNPC as the Chinese PSC
party. In accordance with the PSC, the Daan oilfield
has commenced commercial production on January
1, 2005, for a period of 20 years, and hence the
commercial production period expires on December
31, 2024.

On June 4, 2020, the Group signed a supplemental
agreement of the petroleum development and
production contract for Daan oilfield (“Supplemental
PSC"), conditionally extending the production period
to February 29, 2028.

During 2023, the Group successfully obtained an
approval from CNPC to extend the expiry date of the
commercial production period from December 31,
2024 to February 29, 2028.

NEaLL I BEE/RARKE -
A fn oy XA (R 5B £ i M &Y B 3 A
EEARDETHARES - ELEET
BREBWEIZER MoBREmM
DRAERNEASEEZT - BEE
[F] 2 82 & 42 40 7€ ) %8 & BX AR B 2= K
A WAEXE R KA - NEE
R EREMDKERNNING AR
E AERROCEMNAEESIET
FBEMEELRS -

(a) RZERARER

RNEBEFHFH 100% KL EmD K
ERMIINFEREREZ  RAMH
SEAETPHFREE -BREE®R
DA R - K& M ER 200541
A1BE#EAEELEES AH20
F-AEELEEBHHR2024
F12 A31HEIH -

2020F6 A48 AEBEZET
A% om A B3 A A B AR B R
MExmx (BBl &
HEHEIKEG TR ZE2028F2
A29H -

2023F - AE BRI F A A
SEESHE  BEFXLEESHN
FIHIH #2024 12 A31BE K
£2028%2H29H -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ST HRRME (8)

11. JOINT ARRANGEMENTS (Continued)
Joint operations (Continued)
(a) Daan PSC (Continued)

Pursuant to the respective PSCs with CNPC, the
annual gross production of the crude oil shall, after
payment for value added tax and royalty, be firstly
deemed as the cost recovery oil and shall be used
for cost recovery in the following sequence:

()  Payment in kind for the operating costs incurred
by foreign contractors and CNPC.

(i) The remainder of the cost recovery oil shall,
after payment for the operating costs, be
deemed as investment recovery oil. Such
investment recovery oil shall be used for the
simultaneous recovery of the pilot test costs
and the development costs incurred by foreign
contractors and pre-development costs spent
by CNPC in proportion of 20% by CNPC and
80% by foreign contractors. The unrecovered
costs of the parties shall be carried forward to
and recovered from the investment recovery
oil in succeeding calendar years until being fully
recovered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B ERERMNE (B)

11. JOINT ARRANGEMENTS (Continued)

Joint operations (Continued)

(a)

Daan PSC (Continued)

(ii)

(iv)

After all pilot test costs and development costs
incurred up to that time have been recovered,
the remainder of the gross production of crude
oil for that period is referred to as profit oil and
shall be allocated in proportion of 52% to 48%
between CNPC and the foreign contractors.

The operating costs incurred after the
commencement of commercial production shall
be paid by CNPC and the foreign contractors in
accordance with the proportion of oil allocated
to each party, respectively.

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023 , the Group's
interest under the PSCs in Daan oilfield were
pledged against its borrowings (Note 21).

11.

REZEmDRER ()

(i) EEHEEABHANERR
FMEEAEKE &
RBBEENFBRIBIE
YER A E 2 BB B
EHEBMINGEREZ
[l 4% BB 52 % = 48% K kL 5l
EITOR ©

(v, FRERXEERMESLN
BRIEEH D BB AHE
B NINTERERARD
FC 89 o ) BA ST At ©

B = 2024 F K% 2023F 12 A 31
B AEEEARHENERD
AR THEZCEABBER
BIFELR (F15E21) ©

227

MIEERIER AR AT / 2024 F 3K



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ST HRRME (8)

12. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

12. 7 2FANRE

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: FTEMBARGFBEOT
Place of Percentage
incorporation/ held by
establishment/  Type of legal Issued and fully paid share  the Company
Name of subsidiary operation entity capital/registered capital directly Principal activities
i/ &/ BROANBHERE/ RAFEE
FARER BEY HRERER EfER BENEAL  FEEER
Gobi Energy Limited (“Gobi”) ~ Cayman Islands/  Limited liability 150,000 ordinary shares 100%  Production and sale of
the PRC company of US$1 each oilin the PRC
REERAA REHS/ T8 AREELH 150,000 5 & B 1% 100% EREEERLERM
(AT XE])
MIE International Resources ~ Cayman Islands/  Limited liability 100 ordinary shares 100%  Production and sale of
Limited (“MIE ") the PRC company of US$1 each oil in the PRC
MIEEIRR &R A &) REHS/ME ARELAT 100 %@ - BR1ET 100% EHREEERLERMR
(ATERIMEL)
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company ERINNESREBHIREEELESE
which, in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected EBFEXENARAINBAR - &
the results or assets of the Group. To give details of other RE RBREEMFARNFEEEE
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors, result BEEBRE -
in particulars of excessive length.
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at HEFE SHWBARHREITEM
the end of the year. BEREES o

228 MIEHOLDINGS CORPORATION / ANNUAL REPORT 2024



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B HIERERMNEE (B)

13. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 13. UDAAEBESEEHESHTAH
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME S amEmEE
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FR  ARBTT

As at January 1 ®m1A1H8 13,539 8,183
Fair value gains recognized in OCI S AE AR S Was e FI15

(Note 25) (Bt3E25) a1 5,197
Exchange differences ME W = %E 202 159
As at December 31 Mm12A318 13,782 13,539
The Group's financial assets at FVOCI represented equity AEBENURAABEFEAEEZEHTA
investments in an unlisted company, which are not held Hitira ammmemEEREKRLE —
for trading, and the Group has irrevocably elected at KIELTRAIHRERE  ZIRED
initial recognition to recognize in this category. These ERIRGMFEN - AEEES
are strategic investments and the Group considers this BREE T RBEHERELS R
classification to be more relevant. TUBRBHIIEZ G ERTS - BL

THEEBRBRIERE YAAXE
BERRE—DRERE -

On disposal of these equity investments, any related BEELEESIRER  UAREAER

balance within the FVOCI reserve will be reclassified to = EEHT AHMEGS BWEREEN

accumulated losses. W B EAMRBEERESRERE
B

Information about the methods and assumptions used in EHBEEARBENG EAMBRENE

determining fair value is set out in Note 5.4. BEHRHIFES.4 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ST HRRME (8)

14. TRADE RECEIVABLES

14. FEUWREBRTX

As at December 31,

Mm12HB31H
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T ARETT

Trade receivables from: FEURBR X

— PSC partner — EmDKEREERH 68,223 85,329
— Third parties —%®=H - 255
68,223 85,584
Less: loss allowance (Note 5.1(b)) B BB (BIEES.1(b) - =
68,223 85,584

As at January 1, 2023, the Group’s trade receivables from
contracts with customers amounted to approximately
RMB111.9 million.

The following is an aging analysis of trade receivables net
of loss allowance based on invoice date at the end of the
reporting period.

MR2023F 1 A1H  AEEBBREFL %
SARMEWEROEARE1119
BB

AT ARERRENEZBHNEH
BRI AR R A R AR SR AR B D AT

As at December 31,

R12831H
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARE®TTT
Within 1 month TBiE1 @A 68,223 85,584
68,223 85,584

The Group has a policy granting its customers credit
periods normally ranging from 1 month to 6 months. The
maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is
the carrying value of each class of receivables. The Group
does not hold any collateral as security.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B HIERERMNEE (B)

14. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 14. EWERR (&)

The carrying amount of trade receivables approximates to FEWBERMREeBEE QA EEE
their fair value. i o

The Group measures the loss allowance for all trade REERMERKERBEREFSE
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. Note HAWTEEAfE 18K - RIERE MBI
5.1(b) sets out the details about the calculation of the BRRUREELXEHNTEHNESRER
allowance. No impairment loss on trade receivables is BREPBMERTIEKR  F2HEM=E
recognized as the ECLs assessed is not material to the 5.1(b) °

financial statements.

Trade receivables under the Daan PSC held by Gobi are BAXBERENALZEMOPKERT
pledged as a security for secured borrowings (Note 21(b)). A 8 U BR SRR A 4 1R 18 SR e 2 AR (B
#£21(b)) °
15. PREPAYMENT, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 15. AR - REERHEMEKRR
RECEIVABLES
As at December 31,
R12831H
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARETRE

Deposits and other receivables REE R H AW
Other receivables H & W SRIR
— Related parties — A 209 206
— Others — Hth 45,529 32,006
45,738 32,212
Less: loss allowance (Note 5.1(b)) B BB (FE5.1(0) (4,347) (4,318)
41,391 27,894
Prepayments T RIE
Prepaid expenses FEER 126 322
Advances to suppliers TETER 3,243 1,183
44,760 29,399
Current mE 44,634 29,077
Non-current JEME 126 322
44,760 29,399
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ST HRRME (8)

15. PREPAYMENT, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The carrying amounts of receivables approximates to their
fair value.

Note 5.1(b) set out details about the impairment of other
receivables and the Group's exposure to credit risk. The
maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date
is the carrying value of each class of other receivables
mentioned above.

16. INVENTORIES

The inventories of the Group primarily represented crude
oil, consumables and spare parts.

232 MIEHOLDINGS CORPORATION / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

15.

16.

AR RESTRAEMBERK

(&)

& Wi 35K TR 1) B T 2 RE B EL R ST (B E AR
;& o

B B L At FE SRR (B B 7N 5% (8] T i Y
ERRARFE  F2HMEL1(b) -
RB|ER - ZANERRRBO RN
EREMEBEMESEROEREEE -

rE

AREOHTEEB AR HRESR
TRl -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A M
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BT sk I e (A8

17. RESTRICTED CASH 17. ZRFRE
As at December 31,
M12A31H

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR TR AREBTT

Non-current (Note (a)) FERB (M3t (a) 176,149 123,406
Current (Note (b)) e (Fi3E (b)) 1,142 1,429
177,291 124,835

(@) Since the effectiveness of the Supplemental PSC, @) BfxHEBXZABRE AEE
the Group is required to make deposit into a special SERBEPAREEELY - T8
bank account at pre-determined monthly amounts EHNENAREGERESETH R —
as approved by CNPC. The fund is set aside for ERNHRRITEPEAER - %%
future settlement of asset retirement obligations. B REERREEZBELEM
The usage of the fund in that bank account requires R o EHiFHRIRTTIRFHRE S
approval of foreign contractors and CNPC. WERAFEBIINTERERTA

A BB ©
(b) As at December 31, 2024, three bank accounts of (b) H2024F 128318 REEH
the Group with bank balances of totaling RMB1.1 S48 (FE21b) A&
million (2023: RMB1.4 million) were pledged as BREBTAREK 1.1 88T (2023
security for the new secured borrowings of the F:ARK1488T) (9 =1AR
Group pursuant to the Debt Restructuring Plans (Note TERPERFMBIRERNER -
21(b)).
18. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 18. HERIKRELEEY

As at December 31,

R12A31H
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFTT ARETT
Cash at bank RITIER 71,883 62,905

As at December 31, 2024, and 2023, the weighted
average effective interest rates per annum on cash at

HE2024FEM2023FE12 8318+ R
1T 5B DA - 15 B U 7 R AL BR IR
ITEHBR P FEFREE -

bank are determined in accordance with the interest rate
per annum of bank current account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
S IERRNE (B)

19. TRADE PAYABLES 19. BAERM

As at December 31,
M12A31H8

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRE ARETET

Trade payables FERTBR 3K 139,722 266,186
Less: non-current portion B IEmENES D (16,617) (37,892)
Current portion mENEE D 123,105 228,294
The carrying amounts of trade payables approximates to ENERNEEEHEE QA EEME
their fair value. T o
Aging analysis of trade payables based on invoice date is BRI B H BN BRRERE 947 40
as follows: T

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT ARETET

Within 6 months A6 [EA 101,428 100,686
6 months—1 year GIEIAZE14 17,587 49,745
1-2 years 1Z2 24 7.866 92,067
2-3 years 2534 1,241 18,594
Over 3 years Z R 3F 11,600 5,094

139,722 266,186
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B HIERERMNEE (B)

20. PROVISIONS, ACCRUALS AND OTHER 20. EfF  FERRHEMEMSR
PAYABLES

As at December 31,
M12831H
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETE

Asset retirement obligations (Note (a) ZBEZE S (i) 153,637 136,056
Salary and welfare payable A E < kEF 33,566 36,650
Other tax payable H BB 6,308 19,064
Other payables H b 3R 222,786 187,943
416,297 379,713
Less: non-current portion of W IEMBED 2
— Asset retirement obligations — BEEERB (153,637) (136,056)
— Other payables — HAMFERFRIE (129,037) (93,373)
(282,674) (229,429)
Current portion mENEE D 133,623 150,284
The carrying amounts of provisions, accruals and other £ BREHEMENKOERSRE
payables approximate their fair values. EHENABERL -
(a) Asset retirement obligations (a) EEEXEE=K
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE ARETT

As at January 1 M1A1H 136,056 120,099
Provision for the year (Note 8) EFRE (MsEs) - 429
Accretion expenses (Note 28) #EE A (FE28) 17,581 15,528
As at December 31 Mm12A31H 153,637 136,056
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ST HRRME (8)

21. BORROWINGS 21. AR
As at December 31,
M12A31H8
2024 2023
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
BT AR¥Tr AR®TIT
Liability component EEHS
— Secured borrowings — ERER (a), (b) 1,161,875 1,288,454
— Senior Notes — BEER (a), (c) 1,305,374 1,147,824

— Interest payable at coupon rates — &S FI &
(RREmMAXZH)

449,880 299,662

2,917,129 2,735,940

Derivative component THEES D

— Secured borrowings (Note 5.4(ii) — 38 & 7k (B & 5.4(ii)) (b) 1,847 23,005

— Senior Notes (Note 5.4(ii) — BRI (M3 5.4(0) () 1,086 3,803
2,933 26,808

Less: current portion B mEE D (133,217) (211,795)

Non-current portion JERENE D 2,786,845 2,550,953

(a) Default, cross-default and the Debt
Restructuring Plans in 2022

The senior notes listed on the Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited, with a contractual due
date of April 12, 2022 (the “2022 Senior Notes”)
were cancelled and the new notes with a contractual
due date on December 31, 2024 (the “2024 Senior
Notes”), extendable to February 29, 2028 upon
fulfilment of extension conditions, were issued and
listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading
Limited on March 31, 2022. The revised terms under
the Debt Restructuring Plans are set out below:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B SRR M5 (BB

21. BORROWINGS (Continued) 21. & (&)
(a) Default, cross-default and the Debt (a) EHN RXENFM2022FEHK
Restructuring Plans in 2022 (Continued) BHHTHE (&)

Capitalization of the unpaid accrued interest on
all the cross-defaulted secured borrowings of
the Group (the “Cross-Defaulted Borrowings”)
and the 2022 Senior Notes as at June 30,
2020, into the respective principal amounts
outstanding;

Waiver of all accrued default interest and
the unpaid interest on the Cross-Defaulted
Borrowings and the 2022 Senior Notes from
July 1, 2020, to the effective date of the Debt
Restructuring Plans;

Interest rates on the new secured borrowings
have been revised to either 5% or 11% per
annum, depending on the agreement with the
respective lender, while the 2024 Senior Notes
bear no interest for the remaining term. The
interests on the new secured borrowings will
start to be paid once the respective principal
amounts have been fully repaid;

Repayments of principal amounts and then
interest due, where applicable, on the new
secured borrowings and the 2024 Senior Notes
are revised to semi-annually. The minimum
amounts settled semi-annually depend on
the average crude oil price. Other than the
minimum amounts, the Group is also required
to apply all of its available cash balances as
defined in the relevant agreements revising
the terms of the Cross-Defaulted Borrowings
and the 2022 Senior Notes (the “New Finance
Documents”) towards the repayment of
principal and interest at each settlement date
(early repayment feature); and

158 = 202056 A30H &
KEBRARXENER
B (R XELHER]) M
2022BEEBMRFTRA
M EE AL - EAHEE R
BEBAE

% X X B 4918 5 A 2022
BEZENRFIENE
20207 H1BREEEKE
HETEIEMBBRMAFE

MEREROENEEE
51 A5%811% @ AEEUR
REZBERANBE
20248 £ ZIE T FIsR 2
FKEIBR AT EE B o ST
BT EESEBR
cEHEERABIMNT

#THE S KA 20248 £ R
EHASMB B EEE
(Em) BRI RE+F—
R-BXFHEENKEE
B BEORN T R h B
% BRRREESBEIIN
AEBEEFEBEGEER
RERT R XENRERK
2022 B R BB IR (T3
BMEXHD RERNME
ARRSHRE AR
& M B (B2 A& 5K
B AR

MIEERIER AR AT / 2024 F 3K



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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21. BORROWINGS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Default, cross-default and the Debt
Restructuring Plans in 2022 (Continued)

o All principal amounts and interest of the new
secured borrowings and the 2024 Senior
Notes outstanding as at December 31, 2024
(the “Repayment Date"”) will become due
immediately, unless the Group is able to
successfully extend the termination date of
the Daan PSC with CNPC to February 29,
2028. If the term of the Daan PSC is extended
beyond March 1, 2028, the Repayment Date
will be further extended to the last day of the
extended term of the Daan PSC provided no
event of default has occurred and is continuing
on February 29, 2028.

On February 24, 2023, the Group obtained approval
from CNPC on the extension of the expiry date of
the Daan PSC with CNPC from December 31, 2024
to February 29, 2028.

Secured borrowings

The new secured borrowings have been accounted
for as a hybrid financial instrument containing a
derivative component and a host liability component.
The host liability component was initially recognized
at its fair value of RMB1,836.2 million and are
accounted on amortized cost subsequently.
The derivative component represents the early
prepayment feature and the extension feature,
which were not closely related to the host liability
component. The derivative component was initially
recognized at its fair value of RMB15.8 million and
subsequently measured at FVTPL.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt BN T (B

21.

(b)

BORROWINGS (Continued)

Secured borrowings (Continued)

As at December 31, 2024, the fair value of
the derivative component of the new secured
borrowings was RMB1.8 million (2023: RMB23.0
million) (Note 5.4(ii)).

The fair value of the new secured borrowings as at
December 31, 2024 and 2023, were valued by the
Directors with the reference to a valuation report
issued by an external valuer based on the discounted
cash flow method.

The securities for the secured borrowings were set
out below:

° Pledge over the Group's interest under the
Daan PSC held by Gobi and MIEI;

° Pledge over the Group’'s account receivable
under the Daan PSC held by Gobi (Note 14);

o Share charge over the entire issued share
capital of Gobi, MIEI and certain other
subsidiaries of the Group;

° Account charge over three bank accounts of
the Group (Note 17); and

° Personal guarantees provided by Mr. Zhang
Ruilin, being the non-executive director of the
Company, Ms. Zhao Jiangbo, being the spouse
of Mr. Zhang and Mr. Zhao Jiangwei, being the
executive director of the Company.

21. ER ()

(b)

R ER (8

N2024F12 A31 8 @ FEMAE
ROTEB O ARBEAAR
W18BE BT (20235F : AR

+ —

23.0 A & 7t) (M FE5.4(i) °

2024 F Kk 2023F 12 A 31
B SERER AR EETA
EE2RINBEEMENE R
FREZEH 2 HERSRAER
@ oo

HARERIFE T HIEA

o AEBIEBXEFNMIE |5
BHALEMDKAERT
MBS IERTEIR

s AEBEBRBXERANAK
REmMmD KA R T 8 ER
BRIERTER (HFE14)

s AKEHBEHXE - MIEI
KBy Bt F AR E
[N

o AEEMN=EERES (K
F17) s &

s ARBIFMITEFKRIH
TE CREEZEBHEIT
BEERRRBDATES
T BT AR EAYELR
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FEF ISR M5 (8

21.

BORROWINGS (Continued)

(c)

Senior Notes

= (%)

(c)

BERE

As at December 31,

®12831H
2024 2023
Due date RMB’000 RMB'000
B = AR®ET T ARBF T
2024 Senior Notes  2024185E &% February 29, 2028 1,306,460 1,151,627

202842 A29H

As at March 30, 2022, the Group issued the 2024
Senior Notes with a principal amount of US$272.9
million (approximately RMB1,734.5 million). The
2024 Senior Notes has been listed on the Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading Limited since March 31,
2022.

The 2024 Senior Notes has been accounted for as
a hybrid financial instrument containing a derivative
component and a host liability component. The host
liability component was initially recognized at its
fair value of RMB855.1 million and are accounted
on amortized cost subsequently. The derivative
component represents the early prepayment feature
and the extension feature, which were not closely
related to the host liability component. The derivative
component was initially recognized at its fair value
of RMB4.1 million and subsequently measured at
FVTPL.

As at December 31, 2024, the fair value of the
derivative component of the 2024 Senior Notes was
RMB1.1 million (2023: RMB3.8 million) (Note 5.4(ii)).

The fair value of the 2024 Senior Notes was valued
by the Directors with the reference to a valuation
report issued by an external valuer based on the
discounted cash flow method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B HIERERMNEE (B)

21. BORROWINGS (Continued) 21. B (&)
(d) Effective interest rate (d) EBEFZE
As at December 31,
Mm12H31H
2024 2023
Secured borrowings EIRE K 10.52%-11.52% 13.86%-14.86%
Senior Notes BEER 11.52% 14.86%
22. DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS AND 22. EEFBHREENERE
LIABILITIES
As at December 31,
M12831H
2024 2023
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT
Deferred income tax liabilities, net EZLEFFEHRAE  FE (128,309) (175,933)
The net movement on the deferred income tax account is FAEFTERFESHUT ¢
as follows:
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ETRT ARET
As at January 1 WM1A1H (175,933) (215,267)
Tax credited to profit or loss (Note 31) FiIEPIBz5HER (Mi£31) 47,624 39,334
As at December 31 M12A31H (128,309) (175,933)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B RER M (5B)

22. DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS AND 22. EEMBHEENER (&)
LIABILITIES (Continued)

The movements in deferred income tax assets and REHBEELEBENES (RES
liabilities (without taking into consideration the offsetting RAESER AR — BT = WK i)

of balances within the same tax jurisdiction)

Provision for

impairment
WER X
RMB’'000
ARETT
Deferred tax assets EEFRESHEE

As at January 1, 2023 "2023F1H1H 108,055
Charged to profit or loss Wz 1A 18 25 TE 7R (11,066)
As at December 31, 2023 and 2024 72024 F % 2023512H831H 96,989

Fair value

Accelerated gains of

tax mineral
depreciations interests Total

IR WEER
mEFE AABERE At

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTTE ARBTIT ARETRE

Deferred tax liabilities ELEFEHEE

As at January 1, 2023 R2023F1H1H (312,641) (10,681) (323,322)
Credited to profit or loss W zs 1A 18 25 T 7R 47,983 2,417 50,400
As at December 31, 2023 7 2023%F12H31H (264,658) (8,264) (272,922)
Credited to profit or loss W R B ER 45,484 2,140 47,624
As at December 31, 2024 M2024%12H831H (219,174) (6,124) (225,298)

242 MIEHOLDINGS CORPORATION / ANNUAL REPORT 2024



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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22. DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS AND 22. BEEFMBHEENERG (&)

LIABILITIES (Continued)

Deferred income tax assets not recognized:

AERBELEMSREE -

As at December 31,

M12HB31H
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARETTT
Tax losses and temporary differences A IEIEEBMERE=R 691,584 587,261
Deferred income tax assets not RAERHBRLEFTSHEE
recognized 160,474 134,054

Deferred income tax assets are recognized for tax loss
carry-forwards and deductible temporary differences to
the extent that the realization of the related tax benefit
through future taxable profits is probable.

Tax losses without recognition of deferred income tax
assets can be carried forward against future taxable
income. These losses amounting to RMBO0.6 million (2023:
RMBO0.6 million) will expire in 2025, RMB9.5 million (2023:
RMB9.5 million) will expire in 2026, RMB10.9 million
(2023: RMB10.9 million) will expire in 2027 and RMB11.2
million (2023: RMB11.2 million) will expire in 2028 and
RMB15.3 million will expire in 2029. The remaining
unrecognized tax losses amounting to RMB146.1
million (2023: RMB150.1 million) can be carried forward
indefinitely.

As at December 31, 2024, other temporary differences
of unrecognized deferred tax assets included excess of
depreciation over tax allowance amounting to RMB498.0
million (2023: RMB404.9 million).

HAERAEBERELAENEREERE
RRBELERBHEENIE  ZIRE
RAJBEE LM RIRE R E M EIR
E AR AR A5 A s AR o

RERELEMSHEENRFIBRA
AR R EATIFTSEE - AR EE
SEARKOGEETL(2023F : AR
¥ 0.6 EET) 15112025 FH| 5 - BB
SEARKISHEEIL(2023F : AR
ko5 BET) 52026 F 2|5 - BB
SEAR®K1098 8T (20234 : A
R®¥1098 &7T) #5742027 F 2 H
EiEemARE 112587 (20234 ¢
AR®11.2887T) #%52028 5 2| &
FEESEARKISIFETHER
2029 F H| B - FISARERN T E B
AR®1461 BB (2023F : AR
150.1 BB L) Al PR A4 82 -

202412 A318 - Htb R ERIE
EHEEENERUEZEAFEINER
BRHE ARK498.08 &t (2023
F: ANRE4049BETT) °

MIEERIER AR AT / 2024 F 3K

243



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ST HRRME (8)

23. SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM 23. RERKRAFEE

As at December 31,
M®12A31H
2024 2023
US$'000 US$'000
EnFr ErxFT

Authorized: ERE ¢
100,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 100,000,000,000 R El &
US$0.001 each 0.001 ETHE B 100,000 100,000
Number of
ordinary Share Share
shares capital premium Total
RE BRE  RARE @t
Thousand RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
T ARETT AR®TT AR%TR
Issued and fully paid: BETRYR
As at January 1, 2023, R2023F1A18 -
December 31, 2023 and 2024 2023F 2202412 A31H 3,386,526 22,555 1,085,620 1,108,175
24. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 24, B At
(a) Share option scheme under Chapter 17 of the (a) ERLELTRAUETLENER
Listing Rules RESHE

The 2021 share option scheme (the “2021
Scheme"”) adopted by the Company was approved
by shareholders on June 25, 2021, in accordance
with Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. The purpose of
the 2021 Scheme is to enable the Company to grant
options to selected participants as incentives or
rewards for their contributions to the Group.

Participants of the 2021 Scheme include any
executive director, non-executive director, full-
time employee or advisers and consultants of the
Group as invited by the Board. The 2021 Scheme
shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years
commencing from the approval of the 2021 Scheme.

No share option was granted under 2021 Scheme

during the years ended December 31, 2024 and
2023.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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24. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

(a)

24. RO (&)

Share option scheme under Chapter 17 of the (a) ERLETRAVETLENER
Listing Rules (Continued) FESTE ()
Movements of share options under 2021 Scheme 2021 FREREETEI BT ¢
during the year were as follows:
2024 2024
Number of share options
As at Granted Exercise Lapse  Cancelled As at
Exercise  January 1, during during during during December 31,
Date of grant  Exercisable period price 2024  theyear  theyear  theyear theyear 2024
R2024 20045
Sl AR T8  1B1B  EmRT  ERf FR%M  FAEE  12831H
June 30,2021 June 30, 2021, to June 29, 2031 HK$0.044 20,958,653 - - (1414723 - 19,543,930
01%E6A308 202145673082 203156 7298
2023 2023
Number of share options
hEHEYE
As at Granted Exercise Lapse  Cancelled As at
Exercise  January 1, during during during during  December 31,
Date of grant Exercisable period price 2023 the year the year the year the year 2023
1202345 R2023F
il BEn TEE  1A1B EART  EMAE FRER ERRE 12A38
June 30,2021 June 30, 2021, to June 29, 2031 HK$0.044 20,958,653 - - - - 20,958,653
NNE6A308 202156 A30RF2031F6A29A
MIERERERAR /202458 24D



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
EHIERERNE (B)

24. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 24. BB (&)
(a) Share option scheme under Chapter 17 of the (a) ERLTRAEZETLENBR
Listing Rules (Continued) FESTE ()
Details and movement of share options are as BREFBERESHOT
follows:
Weighted
average
exercise
price  Number of
per share options
Y
THEESR HEHE
As at January 1, 2023 and R2023F1H1B K
December 31, 2023 2023412 A31H HK$0.044 20,958,653
Lapsed B A HK$0.044 (1,414,723)
As at December 31, 2024 72024412 A31 H HK$0.044 19,543,930
The weighted average exercise price of options HEFE  RITEHERINETF
outstanding at the end of the year is HK$0.044 (2023: BT EER A0.0447%5 7T (2023
HK$0.044) and their weighted average remaining F:0.044%7T) - HNEFEHFE
contractual life was 6.5 years (2023: 7.5 years). The %A B FR A6.55 (20234 :
weighted average closing price immediately before 75%F) c HE 2022912 A31 H
the dates of exercise of New Options during the year IEFEFERETE B HRTA 0
ended December 31, 2022, was HK$0.081. REFHWHER0.081BTT -
Of the total number of options outstanding at the EFE - FTAERTENRESE
end of the year, all were vested immediately at their HERTFHIBSHEWL AT o
respective date of grant and exercisable at the end
of the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B HIERERMNEE (B)

25. OTHER RESERVES 25. Hibf#kdE
Foreign
currency Share Safety
translation option fund FvOCl Other
reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve Total
NAREE
FTEEHEH
HERE RHE Z2E¢ GtAH#GE
1 e #E  hENEE Hivfite @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETR ARETr AREFT AREFr ARETR
(Note (a)) (Note (b))
(Wi (a) (M (o))
As at January 1, 2023 R2023181H 47,053 118,390 187,356 (50,044) (64,937) 237,818
Change in the fair value of equity AR BEREREEEHHA
instruments at FVOC Hihir e lamER AR
NrfEEE - - - 5,197 - 5,197
Foreign currency translation differences SN HTE =% (29,942) - - - - (29.942)
As at December 31, 2023 R2023512A31H 17,111 118,390 187,356 (44,847) (64,937) 213,073
Change in the fair value of equity AR BEHEEHZEHA
instruments at FVOCI Ehir G ERNESRTAR
NABES - - - 4 - 41
Foreign currency translation differences ~ SNEHTEZE (38,407) - - - - (38,407)
Employees share option scheme BB
— Lapsed of share option — XMEERERE - (789) - - - (789)
As at December 31, 2024 R2024512A31H (21,296) 117,601 187,356 (44,806) (64,937) 173918
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B RER M (5B)

25. OTHER RESERVES (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Safety fund reserve

Pursuant to certain relevant PRC laws and
regulations, the Group is required to set aside
a certain amount in proportion to its production
income for the relevant year as safety fund reserve.
As the Group has no legal or constructive obligation
to pay out these amounts at point of recognition,
the amount has been treated as an appropriation of
reserves in the equity account. The fund can be used
for improvements of safety at the oil exploration
and development projects, and is not available
for distribution to shareholders. Upon incurring
qualifying safety expenditure, an equivalent amount
is transferred from the safety fund reserve to
accumulated losses.

FVOCI reserve

The Group has elected to recognize changes in
the fair value of certain investments in equity
investments in other comprehensive income (Note
13). These changes are accumulated within the
FVOCI reserve within equity. The Group transfers
amounts from this reserve to accumulated
losses when the relevant equity investments are
derecognized.
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25. Hftf#E (&)

(a)

(b)

R2EEHB

RIFEE THBEARZERESR K
SEAREABFELEERAN
LHIEE —EBRIERLTEES
s - AN ANEER A ARSI
EHRBGERRE X ELHIE -
DR bt o BB AR AR A P BR P AP e
BENER - ZESTARKE
ARBERMAZEBRENZEME
NETARDEAAIR - AN
BHRENZETHE L2 E
SRHREPEASEBEUGFAR
AR -

URAREBEEFEEESEHFA
HittiR S R R E

AEEERKERRENANE
ERBEREE AR E Wam (K
F13) AR BEFAEREREE
Bt AREMGEERENAREE
MEEERET RS RE -
EHEERESRER LBRE - K
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i e



SRR e

2 (8

Ne=

26. OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES), NET

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

26. HAMFE (BX)  FHE

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31BLEE

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARBTT
Net change in fair value of the derivative 20248 5 2% Kk K £ 5%

components of the 2024 Senior Notes ~ TS DM AR BEEHHN

and the new secured borrowings JF &8 (P 5E5.4(0)

(Note 5.4(ii)) 24,033 17,746
Write-off of other payables b B ;A AR 8B 5,826 3,547
Management fee income as the EREMDKEREEED

PSC operator EBRBEKA 3,008 3,069
Government grants (Note) B8 Bh (B 3E) 68 82
Gains on disposal of 40% equity interest Bz & PBV 40% B A% & N 7 T

and certain receivables in PBV 18 8 B W SR A W e

(Note 39(a)) (Bt7E39(a)) - 340
Loss on disposal of 10% foreign BREERESTEMPKERTF

contractor’s interest in the Moliging FEMN10% N EREER

PSC (Note 39 (b)) B R 25 (F9 35 39(b)) - (23,348)
Others Ht - 394

32,935 1,830

Note: The government grants of approximately RMB68,000 (2023:
RMB82,000) for the year ended December 31, 2024 are subsidies
received from PRC Government. The Group does not have other

unfulfilled obligations relating to this program.

MizE: 8 E2024F 12 A31 B IEFENRFH
BN AR 6.88 T (20234 : AR 8.2
B0 RREPEBFRME - AEEE

B EMEARG BB REITRL
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
S IERRNE (B)

27. TAXES OTHER THAN INCOME TAXES 27. BE(FrEHERIM)

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31ALFE
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT ARBTET

PRC: A
Special oil gain levy (Note) AaERIkEe (M) 40,633 45,171
Urban construction tax and education 3 &% & 20 & & M0
surcharge 2,838 3,370
Others HAfth 44 44
43,515 48,585
Note: According to the relevant tax rules and regulations, the proceeds Mk - RIBAEBAF YRR  EHEEKSN65
from sale of crude oil in the PRC derived by the Group is subject to FEor/ e AL EE A B S RmAT
special oil gain levy when the selling price is above US$65/barrel. B ARSI EA BB s & o
28. FINANCE COSTS 28. BiEHRH
Year ended December 31,
HZ12A31BLEE
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥BT ARETT
Interest expense FMEER 355,551 344,338
Asset retirement obligations BEZEEE® (M5E20()
(Note 20(a)) 17,581 15,528
Finance charges for lease liabilities HEBERBNEER
(Note 10) (KE10) 890 668
Bank charge RITFEE 321 186
374,343 360,720
Exchange losses, net EHIEX 58 20,442 22,947
394,785 383,667
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B HIERERMNEE (B)

29. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 29. BRATEHATEE
Loss before income tax is arrived at after charging the BR PT1S B A ES 18 T0 &S 0Bk TR 51 & I8 1R
following: BT

Year ended December 31,
BEZ12ANABLEE
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T AR®TT

Auditor’s remuneration 1% 4 Bl 2 A
— audit and other assurance services — Bt M E b EE R 3,500 9,500
Expenses relating to short-term lease ~ TEEEHLE & & A EE H
payments not included in lease HENREBENER
liabilities 2,405 2,237
30. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 30. ETHMEA
Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31MALFE
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥Tr ARBTT
Salaries, wages and allowances e TE KRR 72,674 74,799
Pension costs — defined contribution  BARE KA — R EIRFTE
plans (Note (a)) (5% (a) 10,003 10,411
Housing allowance and other welfare {5 % B & £ {th 48 7 10,702 9,734

93,379 94,944
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ST HRRME (8)

30. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued)
(a) Pension costs — defined contribution plans

The Group is required to make contributions for
its employees in the PRC to the state-sponsored
retirement plan at a rate of 16% (2023: 16%) based
on the qualified salaries of the individual employees.
The PRC government is responsible for the pension
liability of the retired employees.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, no
forfeited contributions were utilized by the Group to
reduce its contributions for the current year (2023:
Nil).

(b) Five highest paid individuals of the Group

30. ETHMAA (&)

(a)

(b)

BRAERE — RERFE

AEBEZZRTREEEFREIE
#116% (20234 : 16% ) K 3K IE
SR TFTRERRENREERKSE
g -hERNEBEZSRIKESR
mEESEME-

HE2024F12 A31BIEFE -
AN B W AR AE IR U IR T DR
DARFEE IR (20234F : £) -

AEERERSHFAL
Year ended December 31,

BEZE12831HLEFE
Number of individuals

A
2024 2023
Director ==t 2 2
Non-director individual FEFAL 3 3
5 5
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SO HmR M T (8)

30. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued)

(b)

Five highest paid individuals of the Group
(Continued)

The five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest in the Group for the year include directors
whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis
shown in Note 37. The emoluments payable to the
remaining non-director individuals during the year are
as follows:

30. ETHBMAAE (&)

(b) AEEEEESHAL (B

AEAEERERZSHFAL  H
TEFABNFHE WERHE
37 EBRFEEABAFRMND
FMaT

Year ended December 31,
BZ12831ALFE
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BT ARBTT

Salaries and allowances e MoERL 5,789 5,741
Discretionary bonuses HiERE 6,547 6,491
Pension costs — defined BREHRA — RERFTE
contribution plans 83 80
Housing allowance and 13 5 i AL &2 EL At 43 A
other welfare 3,653 3,181
15,972 15,493
MIgEREZERER AR / 2024 F 57
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ST HRRME (8)

30. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued)

30 5T

(b) Five highest paid individuals of the Group (b)

(Continued)

The emoluments of the afore-mentioned individuals

fell within the following bands:

Fro R A (5])
AEBRERSH AL (E)
A A A BEBNE T8 E & E
A

Year ended December 31,

BZ12A31BLEE

Number of individuals

AE
2024 2023
Emolument bands 5 BN &5
HK$4,500,001-HK$5,000,000 4,500,001 /& 75.-5,000,000 /& T 1 1
HK$5,500,001-HK$6,000,000 5,500,001 7 7t —6,000,000 /& JT 1 1
HK$6,500,001-HK$7,000,000 6,500,001 /& 757,000,000 7 7T 1 1
3 3

(c) No emoluments was paid by the Group to any (c)
director or the five highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as

compensation for loss of office during the years
ended December 31, 2024, and 2023.

None of the directors or the five highest paid
individuals has waived or agreed to waive any

emoluments during the years ended December 31,

2024, and 20283.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B SRR M5 (BB

31.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

31. FiB

P& A

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31BLEE

2024 2023

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®TRT ARET

Current income tax & HFTISFR 105,756 123,156
Deferred income tax (Note 22) EIEFTSH (FTsE22) (47,624) (39,334)
58,132 83,822

(a)

Current income tax

The Company and its subsidiaries incorporated in
the Cayman Islands and the British Virgin Islands are
exempted from payment of local income tax.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been
provided as the Group did not derive any assessable
profits in Hong Kong during the year.

According to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law
promulgated by the PRC government, the tax rate
applicable to the Group's subsidiaries established
in the PRC and the PRC branches of the Group’s
subsidiaries is 25%. Enterprise income tax (“EIT"”) in
the PRC is calculated based on the taxable profit of
the companies or branches established in the PRC.

Taxation has been calculated on the estimated
assessable profit for the year at the rates of taxation
prevailing in the countries in which the Group
operates.

(a)

18

ARAMEERSHEMRBH
I Eaa iy AvAE ol ) PN
RHEWFH

HRASERAFEELREHER
RS ERERTEAE - 8L &
AHREBNEH -

R BB AR A 0 R B 4 S P
BBOE - NEBEET BRI
BRARAEENBRANDE
DRAMBERKEH25% ° F
Bl XA F 5 TR BN B
Y PNEIRIBNCIE) e S b Fy

B o
A

aRAR IR IR AN R 2 (A SR A E
AECEERDASERLER
BREBERNRITHE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ST HRRME (8)

31. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 31. T8

(b) The tax on the Group's loss before tax differs from (b)
the theoretical amount that would arise using the
weighted average tax rate applicable to losses of the
consolidated entities as follows:

HER (&)

AEBE LR A B IR IR - &
RAAMHEZEBRERNMEF
R R EE LR IR TR R ) =
B

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31BLLEE
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTRT AREFTT

Loss before income tax BR TS50 RIS 1B (270,828) (73,708)
Taxation calculated at domestic tax ZE&EBBERAOFBEIZERN
rates applicable to profits in the EMBERFENTIIE
respective countries (42,320) 23,931
Income tax effect of: MIARZ :
— Expenses not deductible for — PRI B
tax purposes 78,291 73,792
— Income not taxable for — TEBWA
tax purposes (7,325) (33,304)
— Usage or reversal of previously — — {# sk Bl LART FE
unrecognized temporary RERNEREE=R
differences 23,246 10,961
— Unrecognized tax losses — RERHTIFIER 6,240 8,442
Income tax expenses FrisHi& A 58,132 83,822
32. DIVIDENDS 32. RE
The Board of Directors did not recommend the payment EESVEREMEZR2024F K
of final dividend for the years ended December 31, 2024 202312 A31 8 It F R R HR%
and 2023. B o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2 (R

Ne=

& Ot SRR M

33. LOSS PER SHARE

(a) Basic (a)
Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the
loss attributable to owners of the Company by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue

during the year.

33. BREE

R

EXBREBEEREREARRMA
ENEIEEE  BRARFARAS
TTEBBRRNEF BB E

Year ended December 31,

BZ12B31BLEE

2024 2023
Loss for the year attributable to EEBRARRMEER
owners of the Company (RMB'000) ZANEE#E (AR T 1) (328,960) (157,530)
Weighted average number of ordinary 2 %77 & @& MNEFHE R
shares in issue (in thousands) (FA) 3,386,526 3,386,526
Basic loss per share (RMB) EXRGREE(ARE) (0.10) (0.05)

(b) Diluted (b)
Diluted loss per share is calculated by adjusting
the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares. The Company has share
options outstanding which are potentially dilutive. A
calculation is performed to determine the number of
ordinary shares that could have been acquired at fair
value (determined as the average market share price
of the Company’s shares for the year) based on the
monetary value of the subscription rights attached to
the weighted average number of outstanding share
options. The number of ordinary shares calculated
above for basic loss per share is increased by the
number of ordinary shares that would have been
issued assuming the exercise of the share options at
the date later of beginning of the relevant period or
the date of issue.

e

BEHBERIIBRRAEHEE
EEBERELRE  KHEDHE
TEBBRMMNEFHHEE - K
RERARTTE 2 BREAGELE
MREEME - ENBARE - RIER
17 {65 P8 SO ARE B0 DN S 35 BRI 320
BRENEREE Bkt
RAEE (BIRFARR AR H
FHME)BANTBREA -
WA EEAREREEN AFER
EEBEA - T RRERE
REASEBNRERETER
FEZHEEE A BT ERT
BITNEBREE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ST HRRME (8)

33. LOSS PER SHARE (Continued)

(b) Diluted (Continued)

33. BREE (&)
(b) ¥ (&)

Year ended December 31,
HZ12A31BLEE

2024 2023
Loss for the year attributable to BERARRIMAENEE
owners of the Company (RMB'000) (AR Tt) (328,960) (157,530)

Weighted average number of ordinary = 317 & @ I iNkE F 52 B

shares in issue (in thousands) (F5%) 3,386,526 3,386,526
Adjustment for potential dilutive FECBRITREENET
effect in respect of outstanding BEME (FR%)

share options (in thousands)

Weighted average number of diluted A&t EWEZRE BB ER
potential ordinary shares for diluted 238 A% Nt F 39 & (FA%)

loss per share (in thousands)

3,386,526 3,386,526

Diluted loss per share (RMB) WESREE(ARK) (0.10) (0.05)

The Group incurred a loss for the year ended
December 31, 2024. The effect of share options was
anti-dilutive and is excluded from the calculation of
the diluted loss per share. The diluted loss per share
is calculated in the same way with the basic loss per
share.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B SRR M5 (BB

34. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 34. S RERERMEE
OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Reconciliation of loss for the year to cash (a) AEBREKETHELENE
generated from operations &

Year ended December 31,

BZ12R3NALFE
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFR ARETT

Loss before income tax BRETETAIER (270,828) (73,708)
Adjustments for; RE
Depreciation, depletion and amortization e mHEREH 362,682 367,758
Interest and other income FEWA (3) (167)
Interest expense (Note 28) 832 i (Pt % 28) 374,343 360,720
Net impairment losses on financial assets SREERBERX - 348
Provision for impairment losses on assets BEMERX 93,402 -
Gains on disposal of 40% equity interestand & & PBV 40% KR 4E & & T 27
certain related receivables in PBV (Note 26)  FEURFRIE R Yuzs (P 3£ 26) - (340)
Losses on disposal of 10% foreign REREEEMAKERTRE
contractors Interest in the Moliging PSC B10% I ERERRRNEX
(Note 26) (Pt5E26) - 23,348

Net change in fair value of the derivative 024 BARERIERERITE
components of the 2024 Senior Notesand S EI AR BEZEHFE

the new secured borrowings (Note 26) (3% 26) (24,033) (17,746)
Write-off of other payables (Note 26) H At e A Az 8 (B % 26) (5,826) (3,547)
Exchange differences fE X ZRE 20,442 22,947

Changes in working capital: EEEeE
Inventories FE 907 (7,743)
Trade and other receivables U B R e b FE KR 2,068 10,968
Trade and other payables FE 111 B 50 I Lt FE A+ 3K 39,678 (12,403)
Cash generated from operations RETHELENES 592,832 670,435
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GRS R BT EE (48)

34. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

34. EHEESRERKE (F)

(b) EHBMETHELNER

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

financing activities

Lease
Borrowings liabilities Total
B HEEE et
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AREFT ARBF T ARBF T
(Note 21) (Note 10)
(BFzE21) (Fzx10)
As at January 1, 2023 R2023F1H1H (3,054,231) (6,352) (3,060,583)
Cash flows BEMm
— Repayment of lease —EEMHERRE
liabilities - 5,155 5,155
— Repayment of secured — BEERET
borrowings 265,055 - 265,055
— Repayment of 2024 1%‘;3 2024%5‘&
Senior Notes = 12,086 - 12,086
Other non-cash movements: ﬁﬁﬁ;‘ﬁﬁ%“ ;
— Additions — i - (6,552) (6,552)
— Early termination — BRI - 544 544
— Interest expenses —BER (339,051) (668) (339,719)
— Net change in fair value of — 2024 BEREZE R
the derivative components B ERITER D
of the 2024 Senior Notes HARBEZIHMN
and the new secured HEE
borrowings 17,746 = 17,746
— Disposal consideration — REHE ()
(Note (c)) 394,785 - 394,785
— Foreign exchange — INEFEE R
adjustments (59,138) (89) (59,227)
As at December 31, 2023 R2023%F12831H (2,762,748) (7,962) (2,770,710)
Cash flows BEMm
— Repayment of lease liabilities —EEHREEAE - 5,782 5,782
— Repayment of secured — EEEABR
borrowings 203,992 - 203,992
— Repayment of 2024 Senior ~ — (Bi& 20248 %
Notes Z& 10,736 - 10,736
Other non-cash movements: Hih IR &
— Additions — Fhit - (1,648) (1,648)
— Interest expenses —U%ER (349,318) (890) (350,208)
— Net change in fair value of — 2024 BEZHE R
the derivative components EHREROTEL S
of the 2024 Senior Notes WAL EEZEN
and the new secured FEE
borrowings 24,033 - 24,033
— Foreign exchange — INEFE =R
adjustments (46,757) (29) (46,786)
As at December 31, 2024 R2024%12831H (2,920,062) (4,747) (2,924,809)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SO HmR M T (8)

34. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 34. EHFREMERM T (&)

OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
(c) Significant non-cash transactions (c)

Save as disclosed in Note 39(a), during the year
ended December 31, 2023, the Group disposed the
40% equity interest and certain related receivables in
PBV with consideration of US$55.0 million (equivalent
to approximately RMB394.8 million), which had been
netted off against part of the secured borrowings on
a dollar-to-dollar basis.

(a) Commitments (a)

(i) Capital commitments for the purchase of
property, plant and equipment

EXRFRERB

BRI sE39(a) AT BB AN - B E
2023F 12 A31BIEEE > A&
B LA E55008 % T (HE R
HARE3948EET) HEPBV
B 40% A% # [ & T 4 B8 FE W
B ZEEERETHETNA
I SH I IR o

35. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 3. RmBERNEEE

S

i) BEFDHE IRBKRR®E
ZEFXMEESE

As at December 31,
M12A31H

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRE ARETE

Authorized by Board of Directors ZE& 2 RIEEBKREL
but not yet contracted for

55,309 131,842

MIEERIER AR AT / 2024 F 3K
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ST HRRME (8)

35. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Commitments (Continued)

(ii) Operating lease commitments

The Group has operating lease commitments
related to its non-cancellable operating
leases for car parks and vehicles with a
lease period within 12 months, which are
qualified to be accounted for under short-term
lease exemption under IFRS 16. The future
aggregate minimum lease payments under
these operating leases not recognized in lease
liabilities are as follows:

(a)

35. AmBERIBEE (B)

A% ()

(i) KEREHRH

AEERAEEHEFES
MEHNEERE121EA
A A B B B RS
May & ELEENA
RIRIFRS 16 192 A & %4
1T ET B IR AR AT
EREMEETABEE
HEBENARKERE
NECEH R

As at December 31,

M12A31H
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETRT AR®EFTTT
Less than 1 year DR—F 4 4
(b) HEAE

Contingencies

The PRC has enacted comprehensive environmental
laws and regulations that affect the operation of the
oil and gas industry. Management believes that there
are no probable liabilities under existing legislation,
except for the amounts which have already been
reflected in the consolidated financial statements,
which may have a material adverse effect on the
financial position of the Group.

As at December 31, 2024, the amounts of asset
retirement obligations which have already been
reflected in the consolidated financial statements
relating to environmental liability were RMB153.6
million (2023: RMB136.1 million) (Note 20).
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Bt BN T (B

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the financial
statements, the Group incurred significant transactions
and balances with related parties in the ordinary course of
its business.

Other than the transactions described in Note (a)
purchase for oilfield services and rental of vehicles,
which constituted connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions (with rental of vehicles exempted
from the reporting and announcement requirements due
to de minimis) under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules,
all other related party transactions of the Group did not
constitute connected transactions of the Group under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Group confirms that
the continuing connected transactions as described below
have complied with the requirements under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.

(a) Significant transactions with related parties
are set out below:

36.

RBL RS

BT MBRREM T REIN - £
EEEXBREAN  NEEEERTE
BEBARGRERGBHE -

BRIEE@BERAREEAERE
B ETARRE14AATE T 2 FRE
RN (HPAERERENE &KIE
HeKPmMERRBTEREREA
EZRE) BB AK LR A
FUABZFBERABR 5 - AEHE
UTHERBISTAE ETARR
FVABEHRTE -

= ,
At

(a) EEREEE SR ZHIRMT :

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31BLLEE

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’'000
Nature of transactions RE1ER AR®Tr ARBETT
Transactions with controlling BAZR D B R R IR A |
shareholder of the Company’s PERBEHEDTELR
ultimate holding company and/ BERATEREENY
ora compa|_1y/person related to BEAT ALHRS (%)
the controlling shareholder of
the Company’s ultimate holding
company (*)
— Purchase for oilfield services — BE B M MA ARTS (79,581) (56,874)
— Rental of vehicles — TENES (199) (197)
@ The purchases of oilfield services and rental of vehicles 3 BEHHRBRAEHERRA

represented gross amount transacted between the Group
and Mrs. Zhang or entities controlled by Mrs. Zhang.

£ B 82 9k R A SRR OR K AR i HO
BERETIHNERE -
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

36. AL XS (&)

(b) Year-end balances with related parties are (b) BBARZFRBEITRUOT:

summarized as follows:

As at December 31,

M12A31H
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
Nature of balances BREME AR®TR ARBTT
Included in “trade and other [ e UK BRI HL At PE LR | B3
receivables”:
Other receivables from companies ~ H BT KA 7 & 4K
controlled by the controlling 7= (% 75 48 A A% BR A A
shareholder of the Company’s #) A A FRIE
ultimate holding company 209 206
Included in “trade and other [ FE{TBRFA R HLA B Rk | B3
payables”:
Trade payables to a company FER A D A R R TS
controlled by the controlling 7 A% A% SR ) A — ]
shareholder of the Company's NEME HREIE
ultimate holding company 16,033 9,814
Other payables to Mrs. Zhang H b fE ok R A FIE 529 529
16,562 10,343

Trade payables to a company controlled by the
controlling shareholder of the Company’s ultimate
holding company represent payables for oilfield
related services from Jilin Guotai Petroleum
Development Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 36.

(c)

Key management compensation:

Key management includes directors and members of
senior management. Bonuses fall due wholly within
twelve months after the end of the reporting period
in which management rendered the related services.

LR 5 (&)
(c) FEEBEAEME

TEEHAERREENSRE
EEAE REKEEEEET
BB e AR5 12 1218 B R B AR

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A3MALEE
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT ARBTT

Basic salaries and allowances BEARF e RERL 11,647 11,422
Discretionary bonuses HiERE 10,236 10,162
Other benefits including pension HEEd (BERKE) 5,082 5,004

26,965 26,588
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37. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 37. EENABZNER (BEEFB(R
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF FERBI) (£622 %) 5383 % »
THE HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (RRI(BEESFZER) RO
(CAP. 622), COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE (%$622GE) R(LMRAN A
OF INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF HE i E)

DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP. 622G) AND
LISTING RULES)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EEREFEHAITEMS
Employer's
Salaries contribution
and Discretionary Housing  to pension Other
Fees allowances bonuses  allowance scheme benefits Total
RIKEHE

e HFEREE  BERE  EERE OEIMZ A4EN @it
RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETRL ARETR ARRTR ARBTR ARETR AR%TR ARETR

For the year ended HZ2045128NALEE
December 31, 2024

Executive directors HTES

Zhao Jiangwei HI% - 1,508 854 254 36 385 3,037

Lam Wai Tong WER 285 - - - - - 285

Non-executive directors FHTES

Zhang Ruilin R - 2,604 2,135 1,87 16 477 7,103

GaO Yan(u) %% (i - - - - - - -

Guan Hongjun” BaEo - - - - - - -

Han Ye! el - - - - _ _ _

Yan Ruibing Bk - - - - _ - _

Independent non-executive ~ BUFHTES

directors

Liu Ying Shun B#IE 285 - - - - - 285

Aj Min IR 285 - - - - - 285

Guo Yanjun®® PREO 231 - - - - - 231

Mei Jianping Y 285 - - - - - 285

peng Ping‘”‘] 4l 54 - - - - - 54

Yeung Yat Chuen BAER 285 - - - - - 285

Chief executive officer BERYIE

Mei Liming FE L - 2,41 2,847 903 67 209 6,173
1,710 6,259 5,836 3,028 119 1,07 18,023
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B HIERERMNEE (B)

37. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 37. EEMNRABNER (REFB(D
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF TR BI) (622 %) 55383 1% »
THE HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (RRI(BEESFZER) RO
(CAP. 622), COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE (622G E) R(LMRAN A
OF INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF HEEE) (&)

DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP. 622G) AND
LISTING RULES) (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EEREEHITEMS (F)
(Continued)
Employer's
Salaries contribution
and Discretionary Housing  to pension Other

Fees  allowances bonuses allowance scheme benefits Total
RN EIN

#e EHeREM  BERE RBERE B HtEA &5t

RMB000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000
ARBTL ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETZ ARETT ARETE

For the year ended HZ2028F12A31ALEE
December 31, 2023

Executive directors HITES

Zhang Ruilin® RERY = 402 328 286 3 74 1,093

Zhao Jiangwei WK - 1,608 847 255 35 383 3,028

Lam Wai Tong WER 282 - - - - - 282

Non-executive directors ForES

Zhang Ruilin™ R - 2,195 1,789 1,566 13 403 5,966

(Gao Yan B = = = = = = =

Guan Hongjun BaE - - - - - - -

Independent non-executive ~ BUFHTES

directors

Liu Ying Shun BH#IE 282 - - - - = 28

Aj Min IR 282 - - - - - 282

Guo Yanjun IRE 282 - - - - - 282

Mei Jianping BRY 282 - - - - - 282

Yeung Yat Chuen BARR 282 - - - - - 282

Chief executive officer BRHGE

Mei Liming 15385 - 2,130 2,822 891 64 201 6,108
1,692 6,235 5,786 2,99 115 1,061 17,887
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37. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF
THE HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE
(CAP. 622), COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE
OF INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF
DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP. 622G) AND
LISTING RULES) (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

Notes:

(i) Mr. Guan Hongjun resigned as a non-executive director with
effect from August 14, 2024. Mr. Han Ye was appointed as
a non-executive director with effect from August 14, 2024.

(ii) Ms. Gao Yan resigned as a non-executive director with
effect from October 23, 2024. Mr. Yan Ruibing was
appointed as a non-executive director with effect from
October 23, 2024.

(iii) Mr. Guo Yanjun resigned as an independent non-executive
director with effect from October 23, 2024. Ms. Peng Ping
was appointed as an independent non-executive director
with effect from October 23, 2024.

(iv) Mr. Zhang Ruilin has been redesignated from an executive
director to a non-executive director with effect from
February 25, 2023.

There was no arrangement under which a director or
the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were mainly paid for their services in connection with
the management of the affairs of the Company and
the Group. The independent non-executive directors’
emoluments shown above were mainly paid for their
services as directors of the Company.

Directors’ retirement benefits

Employer’s contribution to pension scheme of Mr.
Zhang Ruilin during the year in respect of Mr. Zhang
Ruilin’s services as a director of the Company is
RMB16,420 (2023: RMB16,220).

Employer’s contribution to pension scheme of Mr.
Zhao Jiangwei during the year in respect of Mr. Zhao
Jiangwei’s services as a director of the Company is
RMB35,620 (2023: RMB35,420).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B HIERERMNEE (B)

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

38. AARMHBERARRZEES

(a) Statement of financial position of the Company (a) AATHWHBARRFK
As at December 31,
MW12A31H
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®EFTRT AR®EFTT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets REBEE
Property, plant and equipment TEE - THREE 655 793
Interests in subsidiaries BRVNGIL £ 969,007 1,535,990
Right-of-use assets FREEE 686 3,880
Prepayments, deposits and other B RES K
receivables F b FE WK 126 322
970,474 1,540,985
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments, deposits and other B RES R
receivables H b FE WK 4,586 4,562
Restricted cash PR #1382 1,141 1,429
Cash and cash equivalents ReERREEEY 27 33
5,754 6,024
Total assets EEH#AK 976,228 1,547,009
EQUITY =
Share capital and share premium AR A R B A 5 (B 1,108,175 1,108,175
Reserves f# % (5,165,387)  (4,224,143)
Total shareholders’ deficit B R#AEE (4,057,212)  (3,115,968)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
EHIERERNE (B)

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 38. ARENHBRRRRFBESE
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (#&)
(Continued)

(a) Statement of financial position of the Company (a) AATWEBEMRR T (F)
(Continued)

As at December 31,
M12831H8

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR¥TRT

LIABILITIES =R
Non-current liabilities FkREBEE
Borrowings B 2,027,182 1,795,467
Lease liabilities HEEE - 850
Provisions, accruals and Al BIR R EMEN R
other payables 31,396 25,631
2,058,578 1,821,848
Current liabilities RBAE
Provisions, accruals and Al TR R E MR AR
other payables 92,687 101,719
Lease liabilities HEEAE 900 3,464
Borrowings ERN 33,802 53,747
Amounts due to subsidiaries JE T AR FIAE 2,847,473 2,682,199
2,974,862 2,841,129
Total liabilities =R g% 5,033,440 4,662,977
Total equity and liabilities EEzkEEEE 976,228 1,647,009
Net current liabilities FRBEE 2,969,108 2,835,105
Total assets less current liabilities EEZAZFBERBER (1,998,634)  (1,294,120)
The statement of financial position of the Company XA A B A AR O R B 7R 2025
was approved by the Board of Directors on March SA2Z1HEESEEIE  TRE
21, 2025 and was signed on its behalf. EFEE@HREo
Zhao Jiangwei Mei Liming
ji-pAR < | HgZ 8
Director Chief Executive Officer
- BEHTE

270 MIEHOLDINGS CORPORATION / ANNUAL REPORT 2024



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

& Ot SRR M

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

AY

A

RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)

(b)

Reserve movement of the Company

38. AARMHBERARRZEES

(&)

(b) AAFWEEEE

Foreign
currency Share
Capital translation option FVOCI Accumulated
reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total
RAf
EEFER
HEEHTA
S RE HitimE
BARRE RHEGEE HERE WENREE ZitER @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARETR ARETR ARETT AR%T:n
As at January 1, 2023 R2023F151H 1,366,956 (4,728) 105,207 206 (6,712,912)  (4,245,271)
Profit for the year REFH - - - - 74,042 74,042
Foreign currency translation SNEREET

differences - (62,914) - - - (52,914)
As at December 31, 2023 R2023F12831H 1,366,956 (57,642) 105,207 206 (5,638,870)  (4,224,143)
Employee share option scheme: {8 8 EEiHE:1 2 -

— Lapsed share option — RUEEERE - - (432) - 432 -
Loss for the year KEFHE - - - - (891,703)  (891,703)
Foreign currency translation HNEEER

differences - (49,541) - - - (49,541)
As at December 31, 2024 R2024%12831H 1,366,956 (107,183) 104,775 206 (6,530,141)  (5,165,387)
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39. DISPOSAL OF INVESTMENTS

(a)

Disposal of 40% equity interest and certain
related receivables in Palaeontol B.V. (“PBV")

On January 20, 2022, the Group entered into the
Disposal Agreement with the Purchaser, Hammer
Capital Asia Limited (an independent party and also
one of the lenders to the Group), for the sale of the
Group’s 40% equity interest in PBV which owns the
entire equity interest in Emir-Oil LLP, a company
registered in Kazakhstan and primarily engaged
in the exploration, development, production and
sale of petroleum and other petroleum products
in Kazakhstan, and certain related receivables (the
“Disposal Assets Group”). The Disposal Assets
Group had been pledged as collateral for the
borrowing due to the Purchaser by the Group. The
consideration of US$55.0 million for the Disposal
will be netted off against portion of the outstanding
principal amount. The disposal was completed on
October 11, 2023.

The net carrying amount of assets and liabilities

39. EERE

(a)

i & Palaeontol B.V. ([PBV )
40% Ky iR R 2 & T 5 B8 FE WL =K
15

202281 H208 "NEH R
BRFESEAGMNERAR (B
N7 NBRBREENERAZ
)V EEHE PEIEE]
AN B A PBV I 40% A% - PBV
#48 Emir-Oil LLP (—RRMBER
AR AR  EBHER
ERATEEMR AE - £E
REERBMEMEHER) B
2 AR #E & 5 T AE B FE MR IE
((REEEHA]) - BEEEEHAD
WEKIFIEARNEERE HERA
IR G 25,5008 XK B ¥
BREREERS TR - ZE
EDMN2023F 10811 BHERK °

REEEMABMNEERAER

related to the Disposal Assets Group at the date of HEBMEREFEDT ¢
disposal were as follows:
October 11,
2023
20234
108118
RMB'000
AR®T T
Investment in associate HEEPERNIRE -
Amount due from an associate JE U Bt 2 1 3 5K T8 991,390
Less: loss allowance of amount due TR UG b S FIE R B R
from an associate (596,952)
Net assets disposed of BREFEE 394,438
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39. DISPOSAL OF INVESTMENTS (Continued)

(a)

Disposal of 40% equity interest and certain
related receivables in Palaeontol B.V. (“PBV")
(Continued)

The gain arising from the disposal recognized in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income is calculated as follows:

39. RERE (&)

(a)

i & Palaeontol B.V. ([PBV )
40% Ky iR R &2 & T 45 B8 FE WL =K
15 (48)

ABHE SR T A A s
B EEEE M B R
T

October 11,

2023

2023 4

10H11H

RMB’000

AR®TTT

Total consideration HRE B 394,785
Less: Net assets disposed of B RBEFEE (394,438)
Less: Exchange differences B N ERE (7)

Gain on disposal of 40% equity interest and & & PBV 40% HY A% 1 &

certain related receivables in PBV A T8 B e SR A e s 340

The consideration of US$55.0 million has been
netted off against part of the secured borrowings on
a dollar-to-dollar basis in accordance with the Debt
Restructuring Plans. No cash inflow/(outflow) arose
on the disposal.

BRIBEEBEATE - HRAHER
HE55008 XL RETLHE
TEE R A SH AR 2 ARG K - B2
ERTERSRAORH) -
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39. DISPOSAL OF INVESTMENTS (Continued)

(b) Disposal of 10% foreign contractors’ interest in
the Moliging PSC

On November 18, 2022, the Group entered into an
agreement with Reliant Honor International Holdings
Corporation, an independent third party, for the sale
of the Group’s 10% foreign contractors’ interest in
Moliging PSC at a consideration of US$5.0 million.
The disposal was completed on December 21, 2023.

The net assets relating to the 10% of foreign
contractors’ interest in the Moliging PSC at the date
of disposal were as follows:

39. RERE (&)

(b)

EEEESEMOBRARM
10% I HEEREEDR

R2022F11 A18H ' XK H
HEEBRERERER AR (B
F=F)FMNE LEHER
SO0EETHASEEREEETE
mAKERPRHAENI0%ING
cREEZ - ZEkEEDMN2023
F12821 BEK °

REER EREEFEMOKA
R FARI10%IN T & R E#
SEBNFEEMT

December 21,

2023

2023 F

12H21H

RMB'000

AREET T

Property, plant and equipment TEE THREE 88,679

Intangible assets mEEE 291

Deferred income tax assets BEEMSHEE 24

Other receivables b FE UK 13,322

Asset retirement obligations BERZERD (854)
Less: loss allowance made on B 2022 F R BHEMBREE

disposal group in 2022 (44,260)

Net assets disposed of BEFEE 57,202
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39. DISPOSAL OF INVESTMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Disposal of 10% foreign contractors’ interest in
the Moliging PSC (Continued)

The loss arising from the disposal recognized in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

39. RERE (&)

b) EEEEFEROKEGEN
10% 5757 & B & i (4K)

BHBERRMEMES W
ROREELNBRITEIEN

comprehensive income was calculated as follows: T~
December 21,
2023
2023 F
12A821H
RMB'000
ARBTT
Total consideration BB 35,506
Less: Net assets disposed of B RBEFEE (57,202)
Less: Related costs B MBI E R (1,652)
Loss on disposal of Moliging PSC REBEMOINEREERRX (23,348)

Net cash inflow arising on disposal:

HEFHEEENRESRAFR

December 21,

2023
2023 4F
12H21H
RMB'000
ARETIT

10% deposit received in 2022 recorded 2022 FRofE H A B RIA T
under other payables WEIA10% E & 3,551
90% balance received at Completion Date ~ #£22 2| B Ug 2|9 90% &4 58 31,955
Total cash consideration e BB 35,506
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40. LITIGATIONS

The Group had certain disputes with an electric power
supplier for its overcharging on electric supply and other
related services amounting to RMB15.8 million, of which
RMB12.5 million have been recorded as trade payables
in the consolidated statement of financial position at
December 31, 2024 and RMB3.3 million was recorded in
January 2025. The electricity supplier, as a claimant, filed
two separate lawsuits to the PRC Court against the Group
with a claimed amount of approximately RMB20.5 million
in total. As at the reporting date, the two lawsuits are still
in progress.

The management is of view that it was not probable that
an outflow of material economic benefits will be required
relating to the above two lawsuits.
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